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About Our Company

Headquartered in Columbus, Ohio, Big Lots

(NYSE: BIG} is a Fortune 500 company with

over 1,350 stores nationwide. For more than
Z
three decades, we've delighted our customers
i with a vibrant mix of exciting brands, unique
/ ' products, and closeout prices. Big Lots offers new
merchandise every week at substantial savings over
N

traditional discount retailers, on average 20 to 40
percent less. Shoppers love our unexpected deals.

We also carry attractive, affordable furniture, home
furnishings, seasonal merchandise, and hundreds of
everyday items consumers want and need. Through
excellent relationships with manufacturers, high-
volume purchases, and strict expense control, we pass

Steven S. Fishman .
Chairman, CEQ, and President tremendous savings on to our customers.




IFi nanCia“ H ig h I ig hts {Unaudited Results)

Fiscal Year

] F2006) 2005 2004

($ in thousands, except per share amounts and sales
per selling square foot)
Earnings Data (2
Net sales AFEEI | $4.429905 §4,149,252
Net sales increase §751,55) 6.8% 5.2%
Income from cantinuing operations g 1@ s 15725 0§ 31,432
tncome from continuing operations increase (decrease) {50.0)% (61.2)%
Income from continuing operations per share - diluted | § | s 014 $ 0.27
Income from continuing operations per share

- diluted increase (decrease} (48.1)% (60.3}%
Average diluted common shares outstanding 111,11930] 113,677 114,801
Gross margin - % of net sales 39.1% 40.7%
Selling and administrative expenses - % of net sales 13442 %) 36.0% 36.6%
Depreciation expense - % of net sales 211,058 2.5% 2.4%
Operating profit - % of net sales 1315 0/ 0.6% 1.7%
Net interest expense {income) - % of net sales [(0X1)%) 0.1% 0.6%
Income from continuing operations - % of net sales 2749 0.4% 0.8%
Balance Sheet Data
and Financial Ratios )
Cash equivalents and short-term investments B ATYED| $ - $
Inventories 7581 85 836,092 895,016
Property and equipment - net 15057647 584,083 648,741
Tota! assets 114720526 1,625,497 1,733,584
Long-term cbligations ° 5,500 159,200
Shareholders' equity 181254703 1,078,724 1,075,490
Working capital 8 G| $ S57.231 % 622,269
Current ratio an 23 25
Inventory turnover {a) 374) 3.0 28
Long-term obligations to total capitalization 0.5% 12.9%
Return on assets - continuing operations (a) (6579 0.9% 1.8%
Return on shareholders’ equity

- continuing operations (a) 110727, 1.5% 2.9%
Cash Flow Data(a)
Cash provided by operating activities {b) § ENmw| 8 212965 0§ 71,261
Cash used in investing activities (c) (307421} (66,702) (127,756)

" Cash flow (o) g IBYER| $ 146263 $ (56,495

Store Data
Stores open at end of the fiscal year 18375} 1,401 1,502
Gross square footage {000's) '40¥770)] 11,413 42,975
Selting square footage (000's) 1291376 29,856 30,943
Increase {decrease) in selling square footage [(.176) 2% (3.5)% 6.6%
Average selling square footage per store 218364) 21,310 20,601
Other Sales Data
Comparable store sales growth 1.8% 0.0%
Average sales per store (a) S 8w s 3028 § 2,951
Sales per selling square foot (a) g8 153] I 196§ 144

[ - .
Income from continuing operations

per share - diluteid {a)
|
4.0% ¥
| 3.5
3.0% i
2.0%- o

Inventory turnover (a)

$400,000+
. 351,056

$300,000

$200,000-
146,263

$100,000+

50

{56,495}
04 05 06

Cash flow (a)(d)

(i 100,000)

{a) The resuits for fiscal year 2006 include 53 weeks, while the results for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 include 52 weeks,
(b} includes depreciation and amortization of $95,613, $114,617, and $101,917, respectively for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004.

{d) Cash flow is calculated as cash provided by operating activities Jess cash used in investing activities.

&
(c) includes capital expenditures of $35,878, $68,503, and $135,291, respectively for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, {
|
1
i
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company history.

Our success is more than coincidence. These
achievements are the early results of a strategy

[ outlined in my last letter called WIN, or What's
Important Now. WIN is focused on three key areas of
the business: merchandising, operating expenses, and
real estate. The strategy has involved three phases:
discovery, testing, and execution. We completed
discovery in 2005, and at that time we made some
difficult decisions in rightsizing our company and
lowering our inventory levels. We said 2006 would be
about testing and learning. And [ firmly believe our
learnings from the year will help fuel our growth well

into the future. Let me give you a brief progress report:

We learned that the majority of our
customers are treasure hunters who are looking

Quartéerby quarter, we improved
69r execution and surpassed our
financial goals. We increased

/
comp store sales, strengthened
our balance sheet, and reinvested
in our business. The bottom line:
We made more money in 2006
than we have in any single year
since 1997 and generated more
cash than any single year in

S o

Steven S. Fishman ¢

for great value, and we have a tremendous cpportunity
to capture more of their wallet or weekly spend.

We learned that if we deliver a great
assortment of branded closeout products,
our customers are not inhibited by price.

We learned we can drive business during
the back-to-school period. Typically this time

is reserved for retailers that are heavy in apparel. We
enjoyed success in several back-to-school related
categories such as stationery, basic denim, furniture,
and domestics.

We learned how to execute better on
big deals. Cur major-drugstore liquidation

Big LotsNing 2006 Annual Report




contributed significant valume to the compény due
to better deal acquisition, product allocation, and
inventory management.

We learned we could restore growth in our
seasonal business. After making some merchandise
assortment changes and adding some resources and
talent in this area, our seasonal business finished the
year on a positive trend.

We learned how to leverage the power

of in-store presentation and multimedia
marketing. Better displays, a new clearance area
presentation, redesigned print circulars, targeted
marketing and television ad ¢campaigns, and the
relaunch of a more consumer-focused Web site made
our merchandise more interesting and helped turn
the goods.

Overall we made incredible progress on our WIN
strateqy. The Big Lots team, working together with
the support of our Board of Directors, is executing a
dramatic repositioning of our business. But as proud
as we are of our accomplishments, we know that the
path to success is marked by continuous improvement
and learning.

In this context, a significant CEO lesson was reinforced
for me last year: the importance of driving change.

As a student of retail, which | guess | could call myself
with 30 years of experience under my belt, | can tell
you that it's not remotely the same business today as it
was a decade ago. Big Lots must fook different . . .
think different . . . buy different . . . to continue to
excel in the years ahead. Focusing on our key priorities,
| want to describe a few of the changes we are driving
to build a company that continues to WIN in the future.

Merchants first

Deep in the heart of Big Lots is the simple idea that
our associates are merchants first — loyal customer
advocates, savvy buyers, efficient administrators, and
skilled shopkeepers who take pride in our business.
Since joining the company, I've challenged everyone,
na matter who they are or what they do, to think
creatively about how they can impact our merchani-
centered culture,

| go to the cafeteria in the morning to get a cup of
coffee. | don’t need to — | could stay in my office

and do that. But in the cafeteria, ! can run into 25 or
30 pecple who are getting breakfast and talk: about
what they're doing. Our associates know that when

| see them at a Town Hall meeting or during a store
visit, | want to hear about what’s going on in the|r
corner of the business. We are creating a culture of
accountability. And everybody feels like they’ fe a part
of what's going on — whether they source pr‘oducts,
process orders, ship goods, run a register, recruit talent,

or design ads.

Together we're aggressively pursuing new ide'as

and business relationships that will help us delliver
the brand-name deals our customers know and love.
For example, we know that many manufactu}ers
have the ability to engineer closeouts just for

Big Lots. That's why we're focused on turﬂingI our

_ transactions with vendors into relationships. éfter a

very successful Vendor Summit in January 2006 at
our Columbus headquarters, we turned our sights
to the world. In October, we hosted our first B:g Lots
Global Sourcing Summit in Hong Kong with nearly
200 business professionals to explore unique options
for working together. In addition, we established an
exclusive relationship with a sourcing office in China

to strengthen ocur import business from Asia.

We also added fabulous items to our merchandise
mix through our captive label brands — prOdl!JCtS
exclusive to Big Lots such as Rival® dog food and
Dakin® plush toys. We source the product, nelgotiate
the deal, develop packaging, set the quality standards
and price — then we offer a tremendous value to

our customers. We're also collaborating with :severa|
of the nation’s leading brands to develop exciting
engineered closeouts. By working closely with vendors
toward well-defined goals, captive labels and
engineered closeouts are a great complement to

our merchandise selection.

Discipline |
Discipline is integral to our continued growth Fin
earnings and the creation of shareholder value
Discipline plays a key role in our ability to control
expenses and offer incredible deals to our cusltomers.
It means that every facet of our organization is
focused on becoming a seffing organization. Even

as a closeout retailer, it's not enough to focus'only
on the buy-side of our business. Pricing strategies,
pre-ticketing, pallet quantities, packaging, ease of

!
|
i
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executing the deal in the store — all these factors must
come into play in determining if a buy is right for us
from the very beginning. Qur Raise the Ring strategy

is a perfect example of how our buying and selling
processes are working hand in hand. Raise the Ring is a
merchandising strategy that generally results in slightly
higher average item retail. Higher average item retail
not only impacts the top line, but also leads to fewer
cartons of merchandise to process and handle in order
to achieve sales dollars. The end result: record inventory
turns, more efficient stores, cleaner back rooms, easier
to navigate selling floors, and the lowest level of
expenses as a percent of sales in the last eight years!

Improved operating performance, coupled with
greater accountability and discipline around expenses,

- has resulted in a strong balance sheet and cash
position. This financial strength gives us the ability to
capitalize on oppertunities as they present themselves.
for instance, in 2006 we executed a $150 million
share repurchase program at an average price of
$15.90 — not bad considering where our stock price
finished the year. At the same timeL we were investing
in our business and maintaining our assets. We began
to invest in a new store register system that was piloted
in a group of stores. We also made capital investments
in several locations to test new store layouts, marketing
ideas, and visual merchandising concepts.

Leadership

We never lose sight of the fact that our success
depends on the investments we make in our people.
With the right combination of human resources and
sound fiscal management, we have the ability to do
almost anything we can imagine.

New talent and key organizational changes are creating
an environment in which the proven expertise of our
veteran executives is complemented by fresh ideas from
newly hired leaders. In turn, our new team members
learn from our seascned veterans. We are already
seeing the results of these relationships in the form of
closer collaboration, innovative approaches, and more
effective business strategies.

As we grow, we will continue to cultivate our unique
culture and entrepreneurial spirit. We promote an
environment where all our associates can use their
ingenuity and creativity 1o take their work to the

Big Lots, Inc. 2006 Annual Report

highest level. Great growth companies have great
people. They attraci talent, they retain talent, and they
give talented people the opportunity to excel.

Profitable growth

Aside from inventory, real estate is the biggest capital
decision we make, We have implemented a new
market-focused strategy, opening new stores maore
selectively, primarily in our most successful areas of
the country.

At Big Lots, we source our real estate like we source
our merchandise — always looking for value. It's

our opinion that right now real estate is not a value.
Landlords are looking for retailers to pay a premium.
With our cash position, we could open a significant
number of stores. But | absolutely will not overpay for
real estate. When the market softens and our offers
begin to look more appealing to landlords, we will be
ready. But for now, we are focused on improving the
performance in our existing fleet of stores. After talking
with hundreds of store managers, associates, and
company leaders, I'm convinced we have the resources
and talent to grow sales from existing stores across
the chain.

Execution

Our organization has worked extremely hard over the
last 12 months, and I'm very pleased with what we've
been able to accomplish in a short period of time. |
firmly befieve the WIN strategy is working, and we're
seeing the benefits of our efforts in our results.

But we are still early in the game and eager to take
our business to the next level. We worked diligently
during 2006 to test and learn, and our executive team
has reviewed every aspect of our business in order to
develop a long-range outlook for what the aperating
profit potential of this business could be over the next
three years. We believe that Big Lots is an operating
profit growth story, creating core growth from within.
Our strategy will not hinge on a large number of store
openings. In fact, our store count will likely contract.
We recagnize at the outset that there will be some
camps that do not like this approach. However, we
believe this is a much more risk-averse way to develop
strategy and stretch the business.




Our future growth will be driven by: and earnings, our management team believes the best

© Comp sales — we see a clear path to increase is yet to come. Our optimism is built on the dedication
our sales per square foot while steadily improving and commitment of cur nearly 40,000 associates. |
inventary turnover. am grateful for their hard work and tireless spirit. Each

© Gross margin dollars growing at a rate similar day, in thousands of ways large and small, they're
to sales. transforming our company across every dimension,

o Continued SGRA leverage — we've identified all focused on creating a powerful merchant-driven
several new initiatives through process changes culture, After all, that's what we're about: finding great
or investments in technology that should allow us treasures and doing great deals af the time.
to continue to generate SG&A leverage well into
the future. : Thank you for your ongoing investment and confidence

© Ongoing programs to improve store performance, in Big Lots.
targeted marketing, and continued emphasis on
merchandising (brand-name closeouts, engineered Sincerely,

closeouts, captive brands, and global sourcing).

Spec'al thanks ) Steven S. Fishman

The accomplishments |'ve described for you here Chairman, CEQ,.and President
merely scratch the surface of what is happening at
Big Lots today. But | hope they give you a flavor of
just how ingrained the spirit of change is and how the
drive for innovation and learning has permeated
our organization,

Perhaps most relevant to you, our shareholders,
is that even with our solid trends in-sales

Big LotsNinc*2006°Annual Repart
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Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohic 43228

April 12, 2007
" Dear Shareholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Mecting of Sharcholders of Big Lots, Inc., which will be held at
our corporate offices located at 300 Phitlipi Road, Columbus, Ohio, on May 31, 2007, beginning at 9:00 a.m.
EDT. .

The following pages contain the formal Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Proxy Statement.
You should review this material for information concerning the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting
of Shareholders,

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you are urged
to complete, date and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it in the enclosed envelope or vote online as soon
as possible. If you attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you may revoke your proxy and vote in person if
you wish, even if you have previously returned your proxy card or voted online.

On behaif of the Board of Directors, we would like to express our appreciation for your continued interest in the
affairs of Big Lots, Inc.

.STEVEN 8. FISHMAN
Chairman, .
Chief Executive Officer and President
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Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohio 43228

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD MAY 31, 2007

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Big Lots, Inc. will be held at our corporate
offices located at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio, on May 31, 2007, beginning at 9:00 a.m. EDT. At the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the holders of outstanding Big Lots, Inc. common shares will act on the
following matters:

1. The election of nine directors of Big Lots, Inc;

2. The ratification of the appointmeht of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent auditor for the
fiscal year ending February 2, 2008; and

3. The transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on April 2, 2007 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders and any postponement or adjournment thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

CHARLES W, HAUBIEL 11
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

April 12, 2007

Columbus, Ohio

Your vote is important. Shareholders are urged to vote online or complete, date and sign the enclosed
proxy card and return it in the enclosed envelope to which no postage need be affixed if mailed in the
United States. If you attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, you may revoke your proxy and vote in
person if you wish, even if you have previously returned your proxy or voted online.
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Big Lots, Inc.
300 Phillipi Road |
Columbus, Ohio 43228

PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is furnlshed in connection w1th the sohcnanon of proxies by the Board of Directors
(“Board”) of Big Lots, Inc., an Ohio corporation (“we,” “us,” “our” and “Big Lots™), for use at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 31, 2007 (“Annual Meeting™), at our corporate offices located at 300
Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio. The Notice of Annual Meeting of Sharcholders, this Proxy Statement and the
accompanying proxy card, together with our Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended February
3, 2007 (“fiscal 2006™), are first being mailed to sharcholders on or'about April 12, 2007, :

ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING
Purpose of the Annual Meeting ' ' '

At the Annual Meeting, shareholders will act upon the matters outlined in the Notice of Annual Meeting
included with this Proxy Statement. Specifically, the shareholders will be asked to elect our directors, ratify
the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent reg1stered public accountmg firm (“independent
auditor”) for the fiscal year ending February 2,2008 (“flscal 2007"), and transact such other business as may
properly come before the Annual Meeting.

 Shareholder Yoting nghts

Only those shareholders of record at the close of business on April 2, 2007 the record date for the Annual
Meeting, are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. At the record date, we had
outstandmg 112,659,836 common shares, $0.01 par value per share. Each of the outstanding common shares
entitles the holder to one vote on each matter to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting, or any postponement
or adjournment thereof. The holders of common shares have no cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors. All voting shall be governed by our Code of Regulatlons and the General Corporallon Law of the
State of Ohio.

Registered Shareholders and Beneficial Shareholders

If your common shares are reglstered in your name dlrectly w1th our: transfer agent Nauonal City Bank, you are
considered, with respect to those common shares, a registered sharcholder. We have sent directly to registered -

- shareholders the Notice of Annual Méeting of Shareholders, this Proxy Statement, the accompanying proxy card
and our Annual Report to Shareholders for fiscal 2006.

If our common shares are held for you in a brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record, you are
considered the beneficial shareholder of the common shares held in street name. The Notice of Annual Meeting
of Shareholders, this Proxy Statement, the accompanying proxy card, and our Annual Report to Shareholders
for fiscal 2006 have been forwarded to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record who is considered,
with respect to those common‘shares, the registered shareholder. As the beneficial sharcholder, you have the
right to direct your broker, bank or other holder of record on how to vote your common shares by using the
voting instruction card included in the mailing, or by followmg the instructions for voting electronically, you -
received from your broker, bank or other holder of record.




Attendance at the Annua} Meeting

All of our shareholders as of the record date, or their duly appointed proxies, may attend the Annual Meeting.
Registration and seating will begin at 8:30 a.m. EDT, and the Annual Meeting will begin at 9:00 a.m. EDT. If
you attend, please note that you may be asked to present valid picture identification, such as a driver’s license or
passport. Cameras, recording devices and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the Annual Meeting,
Please also note that if you hold your common shares as a beneficial shareholder, you will need to bring to the
Annual Meeting a copy of a brokerage statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the record date and to
check in at the registration desk.

How to Vote

If you are a registered shareholder, you may vote your shares by completing, dating and signing the
accompanying proxy card and returning it in the enclosed envelope. You may also vote online at
www.proxyvote.com until May 30, 2007 at 11:59 p.m. EDT. If you wish to vote online, you will need your proxy
card and you must follow the instructions posted on the website. If you complete, date, sign and return your
proxy card or you properly complete your proxy online, your shares will be voted as you direct. [fyouarca
registered shareholder and attend the Annual Meeting, you may deliver your completed proxy card in person.

Beneficial shareholders who wish to vote at the Annual Meeting will need to obtain a completed proxy

form from the broker, bank or other holder of record who is the registered holder of the common shares.
Additionally, beneficial shareholdérs may be able to instruct the broker, bank or other holder of record how to
vote by telephone or electronically, so please contact your broker, bank or other holder of record to determme
availability and applicable deadlines. :

A proxy may be revoked at any time before it is exercised by filing with our Corporate Secretary a notice of
revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date. A proxy may also be revoked by attending the Annual
Meeting and giving notice of revocation to the secretary of the meeting, either in writing or in open meetmg
Attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke a previously granted proxy.

Householding

The rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) allow multiple shareholders residing at the same
address the convenience of receiving a single copy of annual reports, proxy statements, notices of shareholder
meetings, and other documents if they consent to do so (“householding”). Householding is permitted only in
certain circumstances, including when you have the same last name and address as another shareholder. If the
required conditions are met, and SEC regulations allow, your household may receive a single copy of annua]
reports, proxy statements, notices of shareholder meetings, and other documents,

You may revoke your consent for householding at any time by contacting Automatic Data Processing, Inc.
(“ADP”), either by calling 1-800-542-1061, or by writing to: ADP, Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way,
Edgewood, New York 11717. You will be removed from the householding program within 30 days of receipt of
your instructions, at which time you will receive a separate copy of our disclosure documents.

Beneficial shareholders can request more information about householding from their brokers, banks or other
holders of record.

Electronic Delivery of Proxy Materials and Annual Report

In lieu of receiving paper copies of next year’s proxy materials and annual report in the mail, shareholders may '
elect to receive these documents electronically via e-mail or the Internet. By opting to access these documents
electronically, you will save us the cost of producing and mailing documents, reduce the amount of mail you
receive, and help preserve environmental resources. To enroll in the electronic delivery service for future
annual meetings of shareholders, use your proxy card information to register online at www.proxyvote.com by
indicating that you agree to receive or access sharcholder communications electronically in future years.




Tabulation of the Votes

Tabulation of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be performed by ADP, as inspected by our duly
appointed inspectors of election.

Board’s Recommendation

Unless you give other instructions on your proxy card (excluding broker non-votes), the persons named as proxy
holders on the proxy card will vote the commeon shares in accordance with the recommendations of the Board.
The Board’s recommendation is set forth together with the description of each proposal in this Proxy Statement.
In summary, the Board recommends a vote FOR election of the nominated slate of directors (see Proposal One)
and FOR the ratification of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent auditor for fiscal 2007 (see Proposal
Two). If any other matter properly comes before the Annual Meeting, or if a director nominee named in the
Proxy Statement is unable to serve or for good cause will not serve, the proxy holders will vote on such matter
or for a substitute nominee as recommended by the Board.

Vote Required to Approve a-Proposal

Proposal One

For purposes of Proposal One; the nine director nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast shall be
elected as directors. A properly executed proxy marked “withhold authority™ with respect to the election of one
or more nominees for director will not be voted with respect to the nominee or nominees for director indicated,
although it will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. If you are a beneficial
shareholder, your broker, bank or other holder of record who is the registered holder of your common shares is
permitted to vote your shares for the election of directors even if the broker, bank or other holder of record does
not receive voting instructions from you.

Other Matters

For purposes of Proposal Two and any other matters that may properly come before the Annual Meeting, the
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the common shares represented in person or by proxy and
entitled to vote on each such matter will be required for approval. A properly executed proxy marked “abstain”
with respect to any such matter will not be voted with respect to such matter, although it will be counted for
purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. Accordingly, an abstention will have the effect of a negative
vote. If no voting instructions are given {(excluding broker non-votes), the persons named as proxy holders on the
proxy card will vote the common shares in accordance with the recommendation of the Board.

If you are a beneficial shareholder, your broker, bank or other holder of record may not be permitted to exercise
discretionary voting power with respect to some of the matters to be acted upon. Thus, if you do not give your
broker, bank or other holder of record specific voting instructions, your common shares may not be voted on
those matters and will not be counted in determining the number of common shares necessary for approval.
Common shares represented by such “broker non-votes” will, however, be counied in determining whether there
is a quorum. ‘

Quorum

The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the outstanding common shares entitled to
be voted at the Annual Meeting will conslitute a quorum, permitting us to conduct our business at the Annual
Meeting. Proxies received but marked as abstentions and broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of
the number of common shares considered to be represented at the Annual Meeting for purposes of establishing
a quoTum.




PROPOSAL ONE: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the Annual Meeting, the common shares of Big Lots represented by proxies will be voted, unless otherwise
specified, for the election of the nine director notinees named below. All nine nominees are currently directors
of Big Lots. Proxies cannot be voted at the Annual Meeting for more than nine persons.

Set forth below is certain information relating to the director nominees. Directors are elected to serve until the
next annual meeting of shareholders and until their respective successors are ¢lected and qualified, or until their
earlier death, resignation, or removal.

Name Age

Principal Oceupation
for the Past Five or More Years

Director
Since

ieffrey P. Berger 57

i

Executive Vice President, Global Foodservice, and President
and Chief Executive Officer, Heinz North America Foodservice
(manufacturer and marketer of processed food products).

2006

Sheldon M. Berman 66

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, Xtreem
Creative, Inc. (business planning, marketing planning, and
advertising scrvices).

1994

%teven S. Fishiman 56

T

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Big

Lots; former President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Restructuring Officer, Rhodes, Inc. (furniture retailer) — Rhodes,
Inc. filed for bankruptcy on November 4, 2004; former Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, Inc. (lawn
and garden specialty retailer) — Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, [nc.
filed for bankruptcy on September 8, 2004; former President and
Founder, SSF Resources, Inc. (investment and consulting).

2005

David T. Kollat 68

President and Founder, 22, Inc. (research and management
consulting).

1990

{
Brenda J. Lauderback 56

Former President — Wholesale Group, Nine West Group, Inc.
{retail and wholesale footwear); former President - Footwear
Wholesale, U.S. Shoe Corporation (retail and wholesale footwear);
former Vice President, General Merchandise Manager, Dayton
Hudson Corporation (retail stores).

1997

Philip E. Mallott 49

[ndependent financial consultant; retail stock analyst, Coker &
Palmer (securities brokerage services); former Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer, Intimate Brands, Inc. (retail stores). -

2003

Russell Solt 59

.

Former Director of Investor Relations, West Marine, Inc.
(specialty retailer and catalog company); former Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer, West Marine, Inc.

2003

James R. Tener 57

Former President and Chief Operating Officer, Brook Mays Music
Company (retail and wholesale music) — Brook Mays Music
Company filed for bankruptey on July 11, 2006; former Chief
Operating Officer, The Sports Authority (sporting goods retailer).

2005

l._
Dennis B. Tishkoff 63

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Drew Shoe Corporation
(footwear manufacturer, importer, exporter, retailer and
wholesaler); President, Tishkoff and Associates, Inc. (retail
consultant); former President and Chief Executive Officer, Shoe
Corporation of America (footwear retailer).

1991

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF EACH OF THE
NOMINEES LISTED ABOVE.




GOVERNANCE OF BIG LOTS

Current Members of the Board of Directors

The members of the Board as of the date of this Proxy Statement, and the committees of the Board on which
they serve, are identified below. The Board has standing Audit, Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committees. Each committee reports on its activities to the Board.

Audit Compensation Nominating/Corporate
Director Committce Committee Governance Committee
h_é’ffrey P. Berger t
Sheldon M. Berman *
| -
Steven S. Fishman _I
David T. Kollat * wox
Brenda J. Lauderback * B |
Philip E. Mallott ok
IRus_;;,el_]'S'olt * * |
James R. Tener *
Dennis B, Tishkoff et |

*  Commilttee Member
*  Committee Chair

Board Meetings in Fiscal 2006

Five meetings of the Board were held during fiscal 2006. During the period for which he or she was a director
in fiscal 2006, each director attended at least 75% of all meetings of the Board and the committees on which he
or she served. It is our policy that each director nominece standing for election be present at the annual meeting
of shareholders. Each director listed above attended the most recent annual meeting of shareholders held in May
2006, except for Mr. Berger, who did not become a director until August 15, 2006 when he was appointed to fill
the vacancy created by Ned Mansour’s health-related resignation. Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines,
each director is expected to dedicate sufficient time and attention to ensure the diligent performance of his or
her duties, including attending meetings of the shareholders, the Board, and the committees of which he or she
is a member.

Role of the Board’s Committees

Audit Commitiee

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility

with respect to: (1) the integrity of the financial reports and other financial information provided by us to

our shareholders and others; (2) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (3) the engagement

of our independent auditor and the evaluation of the independent auditor’s qualifications, independence and
performance; (4) the performance of our system of internal controls; and (5) our audit, accounting and financial
reporting processes generally. All members of the Audit Committee are independent as required by the Audit
Committee’s charter and by the applicable New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and SEC rules. The Board

has determined that Mr. Mallott and Mr. Solt each satisfies the standards for an “audit committee financial
expert,” as required by the SEC under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Each member of the Audit Committee is
“financially literate,” as required by NYSE rules. ’

The functions of the Audit Committee are further described in its charter, which is available in the Investors
section of our website (www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance” caption. A copy may also be
obtained, without charge, upon written request to our Corporate Secretary. The Audit Committee met 11 times
during fiscal 2006.




Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee discharges the responsibilities of the Board relating to the administration of our
compensation programs. The Compensation Committee is invoived in establishing our general compensation
philosophy, reviewing and implementing executive compensation and overseeing the development of our
compensation programs. All members of the Compensation Committee are independent as required by the
Committee’s charter and NYSE rules.

The functions of the Compensation Committee are further described in its charter, which is available in
the Investors section of our website (www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance” caption. A copy
may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request to our Corporate Secretary. The Compensation
Committee met two times during fiscal 2006.

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for recommending individuals to the
Board for nomination as members of the Board and its committees and taking a leadership role in shaping our
corporate governance policies and practices, including recommending to the Board changes to our Corporate
Governance Guidelines and monitoring compliance with such guidelines. All members of the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee are independent as required by the Committee’s charter and NYSE rules.

The functions of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are further described in its charter, which
is available in the Investors section of our website (www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance”
caption. A copy may alse be obtained, without charge, upon written request to our Corporate Secretary. The
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee met three times during fiscal 2006.

Presiding Member of the Board

The Board has a presiding director whose primary responsibility is to preside over executive sessions of the - [
Board in which management directors and other members of management are not present. The role of presiding

director is rotated among the non-management directors (“outside directors™). The presiding director is

responsible for establishing an agenda for the session over which he or she presides and, upon the conclusion of

an executive session of the Board, meeting with our chief executive officer (“CEQ”) to address any issues raised

during the executive session.

Determination of Director Independence

The Corporate Governance Guidelines were initially adopted by the Board in August 2003 and were amended
in November 2005 and November 2006. The Corporate Governance Guidelines comply with NYSE rules. The
Corporate Governance Guidelines can be found in the Investors section of our website (www.biglots.com) under
the “Corporate Governance” caption, A copy may also be obtained, without charge, upon written request to our
Corporate Secretary. ‘

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board undertook its most recent annuai review of
director independence in March 2007. During this annual review, the Board considered transactions and
relationships between each director, his or her affiliates, and any member of his or her immediate family and
Big Lots, its subsidiaries and members of senior management. The purpose of this review was to determine
whether any such transactions or relationships were inconsistent with a determination that the director is
independent in accordance with NYSE rules.

As a result of this review, the Board affirmatively determined that all of the directors nominated for election at
the Annual Meeting, with the exception of Mr. Fishman, are independent of Big Lots and its management under
the standards set forth by NYSE rules and no director nominee has a material relationship with Big Lots or its
management aside from his or her service as a director: Mr. Fishman is not an independent director due to his
employment with Big Lots.




In determining that each of the directors other than Mr. Fishman is independent, the Board considered that, in
the ordinary course of business, transactions may occur between Big Lots or its subsidiaries and companies at
which some of our directors are’ or have been executive officers. In each such case, the amount of transactions
with these companies in each of the last three years did not approach the disqualifying thresholds set forth in
the NYSE rules. The Board also considered charitable contributions to not-for-profit organizations of which
our diréctors or immediate family members are executive officers or directors, none of which approached the
thresholds set forth in the NYSE rules. The Board determined that each of the relationships it considered was
immaterial and did not impair the independence of any of the directors.

Selection of Nominees by the Board

r

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has oversight over a broad range of issues surrounding the
composition and operation of the Board, The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for
recommending to the Board the appropriate skills and qualifications required of Board members, based on our
needs from time Lo time. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also evaluates prospective director
nominees against the standards and qualifications set forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines. Although
the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has not approved any specific minimum qualifications that
must be met by a nominee for director recommended by the Committee, the Committee does consider factors
such as the prospective nominee’s relevant experience, character, intelligence, independence, commitment,
judgment, prominence, diversity, age, and compatibility with our CEO and other members of the Board.

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Commiitee also considers such other relevant factors as it deems
appropriate, including the current composition of thie Board, the balance of management and independent
directors, and the need for committee expertise. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee confers
with the Board as to the criteria it intends to apply before the search for a new director nominee is commenced.

In identifying potential candidates for Board membership, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
considers recommendations from the Board, shareholders and management. A shareholder who wishes to
recommend a prospective director nominee to the Board must send written notice to: Chair of the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Cominittee, 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228. The written notice must include
the prospective nominee’s name, age, business address, principal occupation, beneficial ownership of Big Lots’
common shares, information that would be required under the rules of the SEC in a proxy statement soliciting
proxies for the election of such prospective nominee as a director, and any other information that is deemed
relevant by the recommending shareholder. Shareholder recommendations that comply with these procedures
and that meet the factors outlined above will receive the same consideration that the recommendations of the
Board and management receive.

Pursuant to its written charter, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also has the authority to
retain consultants and search firms to assist in the process of identifying and evaluating director candidates and
to approve the fees and other retention terms for any such consultant or search firm, In fiscal 2006, an outside
search firm was retained to assist in identifying and evaluating prospective Board members.

After completing the evaluation of a prospective nominee, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
may make a recommendation to the Board that the targeted individual be nominated by the Board, and the
Board would then decide whether 1o approve a nominee after considering the recommendation and report of the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. Any invitation to join the Board is extended to a prospective
nominee through the chair of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee and our CEO, after approval
by the Board.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal 2006, Mr. Kollat, Ms. Lauderback and Mr. Tishkoff served on our Compensation Committee. No
member of our Compensation Committee serves or has served at any time as one of our officers or employees

or is a party to any related party transaction. None of our executive officers serve as a member of the board of
directors or compensation committee of any other company that has an executive officer serving as a member of
our Board or Compensation Committee.




Other Directorships

Mr. Kollat is a director of Limited Brands, Inc., Select Comfort Corporation, and Wolverine World Wide, Inc.
M. Kollat serves on the finance committee at Limited Brands, Inc., the corporate governance and nominating
committee and the audit committee at Select Comfort Corporation, and the compensation committee and the
audit committee at Wolverine World Wide, Inc., where he is the chair of the audit committee. Ms. Lauderback
is a director of Select Comfort Corporation, [rwin Financial Corporation, Wolverine World Wide, Inc. and
Denny’s Corporation, Ms, Lauderback is a member of the audit committee at Wolverine World Wide, Inc., and
serves on both the audit and compensation committees at Irwin Financial Corporation. Mr, Mallott is a director
of Tween Brands, Inc., where he also serves on the nominating and governance committee and as the chair of
the audit committee. Mr. Tishkoff is a director of Drew Shoe Corporation.

Code of Business Conduct and Et'hics & Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to all of our directors and employees,
including the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, and the principal accounting officer.
We also have a separate Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals which is applicable to our CEQ and all

other senior financial officers (as that term is defined therein). Both the Code of Business Conduct and

Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals are available in the Investors section of our website
(www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance” caption. A copy may also be obtained, without charge,
upon written request to our Corporate Secretary. We intend to post amendments to or waivers from the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics (to the extent applicable to our directors and executive officers) and to the Code of
Ethics for Financial Professionals, if any, at this location on our website.

Related Person Transactions

The Board and the Noniinating/Corporate Governance Committee have the responsibility for monitoring
compliance with our corporate governance policies, practices and guidelines applicable to our directors,
nominees for director, officers and employees. The Board and the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee have also enlisted the assistance of our General Counsel and human resources management to fulfill
this duty.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Ethics for Financial
Professionals, and various human resources policies prohibit, without the consent of the Board or the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee, directors, officers and employees from engaging in transactions
that conflict with the interests of Big Lots or that otherwise usurp corporate opportunities.

On an annual basis, each director, nominee for director and executive officer is obligated to complete a
questionnaire which requires disclosure of any transaction in which Big Lots was or is to be a participant in
which the director, nominee or executive officer, or any member of his or her immediate family, has a direct

or indirect material interest. These questionnaires are reviewed by the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee and our General Counsel to identify any potential conflicts of interest or other transactions that

the Board should review in light of the SEC rules regarding the disclosure of transactions with related persons. |
Based on our most recent review in the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we believe that no such disclosure is
required.

As necessary, the Board also reviews proposed transactions in which Big Lots and any other relatéd person

. {e.g., a holder of more than five percent of our common shares) are participants. In the first quarter of fiscal

2007, the Board reviewed and approved a structured share repurchase transaction with Goldman Sachs &

Co. (“G8&Co.”), an affiliate of Goldman Sachs Asset Management, L.P., whose beneficial ownership of our
common shares is described in the “Stock Ownership” section of this Proxy Statement. In connection with this
transaction, which is part of a $600 million publicly-announced common share repurchase program, we paid
$100 million to GS&Co. in exchange for our common shares. We may also, from time to time, engage GS&Co.
as a broker to repurchase our commeon shares in connection with the $600 million program.




Communications with the Board

Shareholders and other parties interested in communicating directly with the Board, with specified individual
directors or with the outside directors as a group, may do so by choosing one of the following options: -

Call the Board at:  (866) 834-7325
Write to the Board at:  Big Lots Board of Directors, 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228-5311
E-mail the Board at: v_vww.ci—wackenhut.comf'getreal.htm '

Under a process approved by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee for handling correspondence
received by Big Lots and addressed to outside directors, our General Counsel reviews all such correspondence
_ and forwards to the Board or appropriate members of the Board a summary and/or copies of any such
correspondence that deals with the functions of the Board, members or committees thereof or otherwise
requires their attention. Directors may at any time review a log of all correspondence received by Big Lots

and directed to members of the Board and may request copies of any such correspondence. Concerns relating
to our accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters witl be referred to members of the Audit
Committee. Concerns relating to the Board or members of senior management will be referred to the members
of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. Parties submitting communications to the Board

may choose to do so anonymously or confidentially. Except when communications are sent anonymously or
confidentially, parties sending written communications to the Board will receive a written acknowledgement '
upon our receipt of the communication. - '

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Retainers and Fees '

Under the Big Lots, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Package, each outside director is compensated
for Board and committee participation, Prior to August 15, 2006, the retainers and fees for outside directors in
fiscal 2006 consisted of: (1) an annual retainer of $36,000; (2) an additional annual retainer of 34,000 for the
chair of the Audit Committee; (3) an additional annual retainer of $2,000 for the chair of each of the Board’s
other committees; (4) $1,500 for each Board meeting attended in person; (5) $1,000 for each committee meeting
attended in person; (6) $500 for each Board or committee meeting attended telephonically; and (7) the ability
to nominate a charity to receive a donation of up to $10,000 from Big Lots. Effective August 15, 2006, the
annual retainer for each outside director increased to $45,000, the annual retainer for the chair of the Audit
Committee increased to $10,000, and the annual retainer for the chairs of the Compensation Committee and
the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee increased to $5,000. During fiscal 2006, Messrs. Berger
(beginning on August 15, 2006), Berman, Kollat, Mallott, Mansour (until August 15, 2006), Solt, Tener and
Tishkoff, and Ms. Lauderback qualified as outside directors and, thus, received compensation for their Board
service. Due to his employment with Big Lots, Mr, Fishman did not qualify as an outside director and did not
receive compensation for his service as a director. The compensation received by Mr. Fishman as an employee
is shown in the Summary Compensation Table included in this Proxy Statement.

Stock Options -

In addition to the retainers and fees, outside directors receive an annual stock option grant under the Big Lots,
Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan (“Director Stock Option Plan™). During fiscal 2006,
each of the outside directors received an option to acquire 10,000 common shares of Big Lots pursuant to the
Director Stock Option Plan. The number of common shares available under the Director Stock Option Plan
initially consisted of the original allocation of 500,000 common shares (781,250 shares as adjusted to account
for the five-for-four stock splits which occurred in December 1996 and June 1997).

The Director Stock Option Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. Neither the Board nor the
Compensation Committee exercises any discretion in administering the Director Stock Option Plan, and the
administration performed by the Compensation Committee is ministerial in nature. The formula which governs
the grant of stock options to eligible participants may be amended by the Board, but not more frequently than




o

once in any six-month period. Under the current formula, each outside director is granted annuatly an option to
acquire 10,000 Big Lots common shares at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common shares on
the NYSE on the grant date.

Except as discussed below, stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan become exercisable
over three years beginning upon the first anniversary of the grant date, whereby the stock option becomes
exercisable for 20% of the shares on the first anniversary, 60% on the second anniversary, and 100% on the
third anniversary. Stock options automatically terminate 10 years and one month following the grant date. A
director may dispose of the common shares underlying a stock option only during defined quarterly trading
periods. Stock options granted under the Director Steck Option Plan are not transferable other than by will or
the laws of descent and distribution.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)™), which requires an entity to measure the
cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of
the award. On November 21, 2005, we announced that the Compensation Committee, after discussion with the
Board, approved accelerating the vesting of stock options awarded on or before February 21, 2005 under the
Director Stock Option Plan and the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan (1996 Incentive Plan”).
The Compensation Committee did not, however, accelerate the vesting of stock options granted after February
21, 2005. Additionally, the Compensation Committee imposed a holding period that requires all directors to
refrain from selling net shares acquired upon any exercise of these accelerated options until the date on which
the exercise would have been permitted under the options’ original vesting terms or, if earlier, the director’s
death, disability or termination. In addition to the perceived positive effect on morale and retention, the decision
to accelerate vesting of stock options was made primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense that would
have been recorded following the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) in fiscal 2006.

Director Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation earned by each outside director for his or her Board service
in fiscal 2006, :

i Change in
Pension
! Value and
Fees Earned . Nonqualified
or Non-Equity Deferred All
Paid in Stock Option  Incentive Plan Compensation Other
: Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation  Total
Name (1) 8] - ® L)1) 6] )] 3 ) )]

®» ___© © 0! ®

231250)
49,250

({} Mr. Berger joined the Board on August 15, 2006, and Mr. Mansour resigned from the Board on August 15,
2006 for health-related reasons.

(2) Amounts in this column reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes
for fiscal 2006 in accordance with SFAS 123(R), excluding any estimate of forfeitures related to service-
based vesting conditions, and thus may include amounts from awards granted in and prior to fiscal 2006.

-10-




[The'full grant date fair value-of the fiscal 2006 stock option award made to each nominee for director,-
computed in accordancé with SFAS 123(R), was $79,900. See Note 7 (Stock Plans) to the consolidated
financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Stock-Based Compensation. .
section of Managemient’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results'of Operations'.
(“MD&A”) in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for flscal 2006 (“Form 10- K”) regardmg the assumptlons
underlying the valuation of equity awards.".. = - oo : . e PRI

(3) As of February 3, 2007, each director had the followmg nimber of Cofiiimon shares underlymg outstandmg
- stock options: Mr. Berger: 10,000; Mr. Berman: 75,000; Mr. Kollat: 75,000; Ms. Lauderback: 75, 000; Mr.
Mallott: 40,000; Mr. Mansour: 0; Mr. Solt: 40,000; Mr. Tener: 20,000; and Mr. Tishkoff: 60,000. -~ -

(¢) Amounts in this column reflect paymehts made by us during fiscal 2006 to charitable” organizations:-
" ‘nominated by the specrﬁed directors pursuant to the Big Lots Ine Non-Emiployee- Dlrector Compensatlon
Package e h :

. a . . .t [} - - . -
t oo . e .

H Yoo L. . + e oy R ;

STOCK OWNERSHIP Co

Ownership of Our Common Shares'by'Certain Beneficial Owners and Management'

The following table sets forth certain information with regard to the benef1c1al ownershlp of ¢ our common shares
by each holder of more than 5% of such common shares each director, each of the'executive ofﬁcers naed in
the Summary Compensatlon Table and all our executwe officers and directors as a group. The assessment ‘of
holders of more than 5% of Blg Lots’ common shares is based on a review of and rehance upon f1lmgs w1th the
SEC. Except as otherwnse mdlcated all 1nformatlon s as of Aprll 2, 2007

' [ e
' .o e

! . R I T oo .o ,, Amount and R .

. .. . o . . ., Nature of Beneflclat Percent of
Name of Beneficial - _ o Ownershlp' s Outstanding
Owner or [déntity of Group * : b - . ’ CoMe o (I ' ' Common Shares
4Lisa M. Bachmann o AT G ‘ 121,701 * J
Jeffrey P. Berger - : ’ o L S
Sheldon M. Berman (3) . ' R i , 71,749 *
Joe R. Cooper s ' : o St 81,324 *
Steven S. Fishman . Ll o ' 325,000 * |
David T. Kollat , ¢ ‘ e T T 96065 T T T
Brenda J. Lauderback - S e 57,300 * |
Philip E. Mallott =~ L T .. 124500 T
John C. Martin I ] 128,226 x|
Russell Solt ‘ o . L .. 710,000 *
James R. Tener Lo 7,000 ]
Dennis B. Tishkoff | - L . o . - X 1 e T
Brad A. Waite ‘ : i . 117,668 * ]
State Street Bank and Trust Company (4) " . : P 12,834,558 - 11.70%
Goldman Sachs Asset Management, LP. (5) -0 0. - 10,129,049 9.30% |
Barclays Global Investors; NA. (6) : _ . L 751,604 .., 6.54%
Cooke & Bieler, L.P. (7) el 6,535,360 : 6.00% |
Westport Asset Management, Inc. (&) . . .. 6,112,757 ..., . 5.58%
American Century Companies, Inc. (9) .~~~ - = .. 5,915,460 5.40% |
AMVESCAPPLC (10) Lo . .o . 5758131 . . 526%
Putnam, LLC. (11) IR 5,511,531 5.00% |

All directors and executive officers as a group (20 persons) tooce 1635866 . . L 1.45%

AR - . H e . .
v v . PRI . .. H N

*  Represents less than 1.0% of the outstanding common shares. -
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Each person named in the table has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to all Big
Lots common shares shown as beneficially owned by such person, except as otherwise stated in the
footnotes to this table. The amounts set forth in the table include common shares that may be acquired
within 60 days of the record date under stock options exercisable within that period. The number of
commen shares that may be acquired within 60 days of the record date under stock options exercisable
within that period are as follows: Ms, Bachman: 86,000; Mr. Berger: 0; Mr. Berman: 57,000, Mr. Cooper:
42,000; Mr. Fishman: 0; Mr. Kollat: 57,000; Ms. Lauderback: 57,000; Mr. Mallott: 22,000; Mr. Martin:
65,375; Mr. Solt: 8,000; Mr. Tener: 2,000; Mr. Tishkoff; 42,000, Mr. Waite: 70,000; and all directors and
executive officers as a group: 927,475, -

The amounts reported in the table above include Big Lots common shares that we hold in connection with
our obligation to match a portion of the named executive officers’ respective contributions to the Big Lots
Supplemental Savings Plan. The number of common shares held by us in connection with this obligation
is as follows: Ms. Bachmann: 579; Mr. Cooper: 2,082; Mr. Fishman: 0; Mr. Martin: 887; and Mr. Waite: 0.
The named executive officers do not have voting or dispositive power with respect to the common shares
that we hold in connection with the Big Lots Supplemental Savings Plan.

Includes 5,468 common shares owned by Xtreem Creative, Inc., of which Mr. Berman serves as Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and President.

In its Schedule 13G filed on February 12, 2007, State Street Bank and Trust Company, Trustee, 225
Franklin Street, Boston, MA 02110, stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares
reported in the table as of December 31, 2006, had sole voting power and shared dispositive power over all
of the shares, and had no shared voting power or sole dispositive power over the shares.

In its Schedule 13G filed on February 12, 2007, Goldman Sachs Asset Management, L.P., 32 Old Ship,
New York, NY 10005, stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table
as of December 31, 2006, had sole voting power over 8,547,353 of the shares, had sole dispositive power
over all of the shares, and had no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares

In its joint statement on Schedule 13G filed on January 23, 2007, Barclays Global Investors, NA., 45
Fremont Street, San Francisco, CA 94103, stated that it-and the other reporting persons named therem
collectively beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31,
2006, had sole voting power over 6,460,305 of the shares, had sole dispositive power over all of the shares,
and had no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares. Of the aggregate amounts
reported, the following beneficial ownership was reported by the various reporting persons named in the
Schedule 13G: (i) Barclays Global Investors, NA. stated that it beneficially owned 4,938,022 of the shares,
had sole voting power over 4,246,723 of the shares, had sole dispositive power over 4,938,022 of the
shares, and had no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares; (ii) Barclays Global
Fund Advisors, 45 Fremont Street, San Francisco, CA 94105, stated that it beneficially owned 2,096,955
of the shares, had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 2,096,955 of the shares, and had

no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares; and (iii) Barclays Global Investors,
Ltd., Murray House, 1 Royal Mint Court, London EC3N 4HH, England, stated that it beneficially owned
116,627 of the shares, had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 116,627 of the shares, and had
no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares. ‘

In its Schedule 13G/A filed on February 13, 2007, Cooke & Bieler, L.P., 1700 Market Street, Philadelphia,
PA 19103, stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of
December 31, 2006, had no sole voting power or sole dispositive power over the shares, had shared voting
poWer over 3,756,120 of the shares, and had shared dispositive power over 5,983,360 of the shares,

In its Schedule 13G/A-filed on February 14, 2007, Westport Asset Management, Inc., 23 Riverside Avenue,
Westport, CT 06880, stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table
as-of December 31, 2006, had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 1,313,056 of the shares,
had shared voting power over 4,534,164 of the shares, and had shared dispositive power over 4,799,701 of
the shares. Westport Asset Management, Inc. owns 50% of Westport Advisors LLC, an investment advisor
with whom it shares voting power over 4,534,164 of the shares.
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(9) Inits joint statement on Schedule 13G filed on February 13, 2007, American Century Companies, Inc. and
its wholly-owned subsidiary, American Century Investment Management, Inc., 4500 Main Street, 9th Floor,
Kansas City, MO 64111, stated that they collectively beneficially owned the number of common shares reported
in the table as of December 31, 2006, had sole voting power over 5,521,026 of the shares, had sole dispositive
power over all of the shares, and had no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares.

(J0) In its joint statement on Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2007, AMVESCAP PLC, 30 Finsbury Square,
London EC2A 1AG, England, stated that it and the other reporting persons named therein cotlectively
beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31, 2006, had sole
voting power and sole dispositive power over all of the shares, and had no shared voting power or shared
dispositive power over the shares. Of the aggregate amounts reported, the following beneficial ownership
was reported by the reporting persons named in the Schedule 13G: (i) INVESCO Institutional (N.A.), Inc.
stated that it had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 5,231,346 of the shares; (ii) PowerShares
Capital Management LLC stated that it had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 176,360 of the
shares; (iii) INVESCO Asset Management Deutschland GmbH stated that it had sole voting power and sole
dispositive power over 204,225 of the shares; (iv) INVESCO Asset Management Limited stated that it had
sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 66,400 of the shares; and (v) INVESCO Management S.A.
stated that it had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over 79,800 of the shares.

(/N Inits joint statement on Schedule 13G filed on February 13, 2007, Putnam, LLC. d/b/a Putnam
Investments, One Post Office Square, Boston, MA 02109, stated that it and the other reporting persons
named therein collectively beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as
of December 31, 2006, had no sole voting power ar sole dispositive power over the shares, had shared

| voting power over 170,318 of the shares, and had shared dispositive power over all of the shares. Of the -

aggregate amounts reported, the following beneficial ownership was reported by the reporting persons
named in the Schedule 13G: (i) Putnam Investment Management, LLC. stated that it beneficially owned
4,349,620 of the shares, had no sole voting power or sole dispositive power over the shares, and had shared
dispositive power over 4,349,620 of the shares; and (ii) The Putnam Advisory Company, LLC. stated that
it beneficially owned 1,161,911 of the shares, had no sole voting power or sole dispositive power over the
shares, had shared voting power over 90,198 of the shares, and had shared dispositive power over 1,161,911
of the shares. Putnam Investment Management, LLC. and The Putnam Advisory Company, LLC. are
subsidiaries, and share the address, of Putnam, LLC. !

Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance . |

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”) requires our directors and
executive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding commeon shares, to file
with the SEC and the NYSE initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common
shares. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% shareholders are required by the regulations of the
SEC to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. Based upon a review of filings with the SEC
and written representations that no other reports were required, we believe that all of our directors and executive
officers and greater than 10% shareholders complied during fiscal 2006 with the reporting requirements of
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the following Compensation Discussion and
Analysis (*CD&A™) with management and, based on such review and discussions, the Compensation
Committee recommended to the Board that the CD&A be included in this Proxy Statement.

Members of the Compensation Committee

Dennis B. Tishkoff, Chair
Brenda J. Lauderback
David T. Kollat
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Compensation Commitiee

The membership of the Compensation Committee of the Board (which we refer to as the “Committee”
throughout this CD&A) is determined by the Board. In order to be eligible for membership, a prospective
Committee member must, in the judgment of the Board, be: (1) a “non-employee director” for purposes of Rule
16b-3 under the Exchange Act; (2) an “outside director” for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (“IRC™); and (3) “independent™ in accordance with NYSE listing standards. Each
of the Committee members meets these requirements. The Committee is currently composed of three outside
directors — Mr. Tishkoff, Ms. Lauderback'and Mr. Kollat. Mr. Tishkoff serves as the Committee’s chair and
establishes the Committee’s meeting agendas.

The purpose of the Committee is to discharge the responsibilities of the Board relating to the administration

of our compensation prograr_ns', including establishing and implementing the philosophy, practices and

policies applicable to the executive compensation program for the members of our executive management
committee (“EMC™). The EMC is currently comprised of 10 employees — the five executives named in the
Summary Compensation Table (“named executive officers™) and all other executive vice presidents and senior
vice presidents. Specific Committee responsibilities include reviewing and recommending to the Board the
compensation for the EMC members, administering our equity-based compensation plans, and reporting on the
entirety of the executive compensation program to the Board.,

The Committee’s scope of authority is dictated by its charter. The charter, which was adopted by the Board
and may be revised only by the Board, is reviewed by the Committee annually and by the Board as it deems
necessary.

The Committee has the authority to retain counsel and other experts. The Committee also possesses the sole
authority to select, retain and terminate a compensation consultant, including the sole authority to approve the
consultant’s fees and other retention terms. In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee has full access

to all relevant records and may also request that any officer, employee or consultant of Big Lots, including our
human resources executives and our outside counsel, meet with any member of, or consultant to, the Committee.

The Committee may, in its discretion, delegate all or a portion of its duties and responsibilities to a
subcommittee of the Committee. Qur human resources department and a management working group support
the Committee’s efforts and, in some cases, act pursuant to delegated authority to fulfill various functions in
administering our employee benefit and compensation plans. Such delegation is permitted by the Committee’s
charter and each such plan. Those groups to whom the Committee has delegated certain responsibilities are
each required to periodically report their activities to the Committee. '

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our general compensation philosophy is that total compensation should vary based on our achievement

of financial and non-financial objectives, and any incentive compensation should be closely aligned with
shareholder interests. This philosophy applies to all of our full-time, salaried employees, with a more significant
level of variability and compensation at risk as an employee’s level of responsibility increases.

Our goal is to develop compensation programs that have an appropriate mix of fixed and variable, short-term
and long-term, and cash and equity compensation linked to individual and our corporate performance to
align executive compensation with the interests of shareholders and to attract, retain and motivate highly-
qualified employees. We feel that incentive-based compensation should be implemented with a high degree
of responsiveness to our performance. To achieve this responsiveness, executive compensation in the form of
equity incentives and bonus opportunities is based upon our performance.

The Committee annually reviews the total compensation paid to or earned by all EMC members. Total
compensation is evaluated in light of our performance, the performance of areas of the business for which the
executive is responsible, our projected future performance, the projected future performance of the areas of the
business for which the executive is responsible, and the relationship between total compensation and shareholder
return.
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In fiscal 2004, the Committee engaged in a review of our exccutive compensation program and the philosophy
driving the program. The Committee has continued this review, with the goal of refining, if warranted, the
appropriate mix of compensation linked to individual and corporate performance. In the course of this review,
the Committee has sought the advice of management and outside compensation consultants. The Committee
also identified several key strategic compensation design priorities: (1) align executive compensation with
shareholder interests; (2) inspire and reward superior performance by executives and us; (3) retain executives
by paying them competitively; (4) motivate executives to contribute to our success and reward them for their
performance; (5) manage executive compensation costs; and (6) continue to focus on corporate governance.
While our compensation philosophy has not materially changed in recent years, the Board and the Committee
regularly review whether these strategic priorities are being met, the merits of our philosophy, and factors
that may influence a change in our philosophy. Based in part on our assessment of investor sentiment in
recent years, we believe that our philosophy of tying a significant portion of executive compensation to

our performance has been validated. We further believe that we have been able to attract and retain quality

executives in recent years by providing candldates and existing executives-with competitive compensation:

packages. ‘ » =

The adherence to and execution of our compensation philosophy is reviewed at least twice annually. At the
first regularly scheduled Committee meeting of each year, the Committee meets with our CEO to review the
performance of the EMC members (other than the CEQ, whose performance is reviewed in his absence) and to
consider our CEOQ’s recommendations with respect to the EMC members’ compensation (excluding the CEO’s
compensation). The Committee, in the absence of the CEQ, then formulates recommended annual compensation
packages for each EMC member and presents those recommendations to all of the outside directors. Following
a discussion of the Committee’s recommendations and making adjustments where the outside directors believe
they are appropriate, the outside directors approve the annual compensation packages for the EMC members.
At the final regularly scheduled Committee meeting of each year, the Committee reviews the types of equity
awards that have been made historically (i.e., stock options and restricted stock), the executive compensation
benchmarking survey data, the trends in equity compensation among our competitors, and the impact that any
changes in laws and/or accounting standards may have on our equity awards to determine if the same types of
equity awards should be used in the coming year or if we should explore the use of the other forms of equity
compensation available under the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2005 Incentive Plan™).

Executive Compensation Practices and Policies

The Committee’s executive compensation practices and policies have been in place for several years, but are
regularly reviewed by the Board, the Committee (at least annually) and management to ensure that they remain
effective means of satisfying our compensation philosophy of aligning total compensation with shareholder
interests, varying compensation with performance, and maintaining a competitive compensation program that
enables us to attract, retain and motivate talented employeés.

¢ o
P

Benchmarking

3

Annually, the Committee obtains from independent compensation consultants executive compensation
benchmarking surveys of selected Standard & Poor’s Retail Stores Index companies and other companies with
revenues similar to ours, including discount retailers, dotlar stores, deep discount drugstore chains, traditional
retailers and specialty retailers. The Committee’s practice generally is to target total direct compensation levels
for our EMC members at the fiftieth to seventy-fifth percentile when compared with total direct compensation
of this compensation peer group, adjusted to the Columbus, Ohio market when possible. We believe that:

the application of a range is appropriate to provide flexibility for heightened compensation levels for those
employees that excel and to attract top talent. For purposes of this evaluation, total direct compensatmn is
comprised of salary, bonus at the targeted level and equity incentives. ‘

For fiscal 2006, the compensation peer group was comprised of 96 companies who reép’onded to onc of several
compensation surveys that we have obtained from independent compensation consultants. This group varies
from year to year based on the Committee’s assessment of which companies compete with us for talent and are
similar to us in terms of industry or revenues and which companies participate in the compensation surveys that
we receive from independent compensation consultants.
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Individual Performance Evaluation

While the Commiittee does not rely solely on predetermined formulas when it evaluates the performance of the
EMC members, the Committee generally measures overall individual performance of the executives against the
following factors, although the factors considered may vary as required by business conditions:

s long-term strategic goals;

¢ short-term business goals;

*  revenue and profit goals; - .

. impro;ving operating mérgins;

¢  revenue growth versus the industry;

®  earnings-per-share growth;

*» . continued optimization of organizatibnal effectiveness and productivity;
. the development of talent and leadership; and

»  the fostering of teamwork and other Big Lots’ values.

In selecting individual and corporate performance factors for each EMC member and measuring an executive’s
performance against those factors, the Committee also considers the performance of our competitors and
general economic and market conditions. None of the factors used by the Committee are assigned a specific
weight, Instead, the Committee recognizes that the relative importance of these factors may change in order

to adapt our operations to specific business chatlenges and to reflect the changing economic and marketplace
conditions. : '

Linking Equity Awards with Performance

In determining the size of the equity awards for EMC members, the Committee and the Board undertake a
two-step process. Initially, corporate performance is considered to establish the total pool of common shares
that will be made available for equity awards to be granted to all EMC members collectively. Then, individual
performance and the executive compensation benchmarking surveys are considered to determine the percentage
of the total pool to be granted to each EMC member. We believe this process assists in ensuring that executive
equity compensation is commensurate with corporate and individual performance.

Compensation Policies

The Committee believes that its policies should be tailored to ensure that each executive’s total compensation is
properly aligned with our philosophy. Accordingly, the Committee requires management to prepare and provide
tally sheets that set forth the total compensation awarded to each EMC member for the immediately preceding
two fiscal years, as well as estimated post-employment compensation that may be payable to such executives
following certain events. These tally sheets also include an estimate of the amount of total value accumulated,
and that will be accumulated, by each EMC member through prior equity awards (assuming employment
continues, awards vest and the market price of our common shares fluctuates through the life of the awards).
While the Committee considers the accumulated total value as a factor in setting future compensation levels
and making future equity awards, this information is not a primary consideration. The Committee believes

that its objectives of motivating executives to achieve short-term and long-term goals, rewarding executives

for achieving those goals; and providing incentives for executives to continue their employment with us would
not be adequately served if the accumulated total value of an EMC member’s equity awards was the sole or a
driving factor in awarding future compensation. The Commitiee also requires that it be provided.an opportunity
to review and comment on early drafts of this CD&A, so it may ensure that its philosophy, practices, polices and
actions are accurately reflected.
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Compensation Consultant

Pursuant to the authority granted to the Committee by its charter, the Committee from time-to-time retains
independent compensation consultants and subscribes to executive compensation benchmarking surveys as
it deems necessary. The benchmarking surveys are also shared with our human resources department. The
Committee approves the scope of services to be performed by and the amount of compensation to be paid to
independent compensation consultants.

In fiscal 2006, the Committee did not retain a compensation consultant for specialized advice, but did subscribe
to multiple benchmarking surveys. In fiscal 2007, the Committee expects to subscribe to benchmarking surveys
and to engage an independent compensation consultant to provide specific advice regarding the compensation
of the EMC members and to consider various other compensation issues. :

Role of Executives in Establishing Compensation : ot

As described above, at the first regularly scheduled Committee meeting of each fiscal year, our CEO providés
a review of the performance of the EMC members (other than the CEQ, whose performance is reviewed by the
Committee) and a report reflecting his recommendations as to the form and amount of equity and non-equity
compensation for the other members of the EMC. The Committee and the other outside directors take into
account the recommendations of the CEQ when determining the compensation of the other EMC members,

Additionally, the Committee consults with our CEO and executives from our human resources and legal
departments regarding thé design and administration of our compensation programs, plans and awards

for exccutives and directors. These executives provide advice regarding the competitive nature of existing
and proposed compensation programs and the impact of accounting rules, laws and regulations on existing
and proposed compensation programs. While these executives and our CEO attend general meetings of the
Committee, and the CEQ also participates in the Committee’s discussions regarding the compensation of
the other EMC members, they do not participate in executive sessions of the Committee or when executive
compensation determinations ar¢ made by the Committee or the other outside directors.

Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation

Guided by our pay-for-performance philosophy, the primary compensation components for the named executive
officers consist of salary, bonus opportunities under the Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan (“2006 Bonus Plan”}, and
equity awards made under the 2005 Incentive Plan. The Committee believes these components properly align
the financial interests and success of our exccutives with those of our shareholders. In addition, the named
executive officers are entitled to certain benefits according to our policies and under our health, insurance and
retirement plans.

Each element of compensation has been selected to make sure that our compensation program is competitive
with those of other companies with whom we compete for talent, to attract, retain and motivate highly-qualified
employees and to incentivize our named executive officers. We believe each of these elements and the mix of
elements is appropriate as they are consistent with our compensation philosophy, further our compensation
objectives, and are consistent with our compensation peer group. The Committee reviews cach element at least
annually.

Individual and corporate performance directly impacts the elements and amount of compensation paid to our -
named executive officers. For instance, a named executive officer’s failure to meet individual goals may lead to
his or her failure to receive compensation increases, a reduction in his or her compensation, or the termination.
of his or her employment. Additionally, excellent corporate performance may lead to greater bonus payouts
and, possibly, to the achievement of financial performance objectives that accelerate restricted stock vesting.
The Committee and the other outside directors also have discretion, subject to the limitations contained in the -
executives’ employment agreements, in setting named exccutive officers’ salary, bonus opportunities and equity
awards.
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Salary

Salary is cash compensation and is established annually for each named executive officer based on the
executive’s job responsibilities, overall individual performance, experience and qualifications, and by the .
competitive market. A minimum salary for each named executive officer is set forth in his or her respective
employment agreement, as described below.

Bonus

The 2006 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation to be paid annually when we achieve certain performance
measures (“performance criteria”). In the case of the named executive officers, the performance criteria are
based on certain corporate financial measures permitted to be used under the 2006 Bonus Plan. No right to a
minimum bonus exists under the named executive officers” employment agreements or the 2006 Bonus Plan.
The specific dollar amount that must be achieved to qualify for bonus payments under the performance criteria
" is proposed by the Commitiee and approved by the outside directors at the start of the fiscal year in conjunction
with the Board’s approval of our annual corporate financial operating plan. - ‘

The Committee and the other outside directors also establish “performance goals” at the beginning of each .
fiscal year. The performance goals equate to a percentage of salary. Performance goals are established at three
levels: (1) the lowest percentage of salary that will be paid if the threshold performance criteria are met but the
targeted performance criteria are not fully achieved (“floor™); (2) the percentage of salary that will be paid if the
targeted performance criteria are met but not exceeded (“target™); and (3) the percentage of salary that will be
paid if the targeted performance criteria are exceeded, subject to a maximum (“stretch™). The bonus awards that
may be earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan range from the floor to the stretch performance goals, and include
all amounts in between. The target and stretch performance goals for the named executive officers have been
established in their respective employment agreements. The floor performance goal is set annually and has
historically been one-half of the target performance goal. Subject to the terms of the employment agreements,
the Commiittee and the other outside directors retain the right to adjust the performance goals and, in the

past, have generally done so only as deemed necessary to realign an executive’s bonus opportunity with our
compensation philosophy.

Equity

The 2005 Incentive Plan replaced the 1996 Incentive Plan, which expired on December 31, 2005. Since January
1, 2006, all employee equity awards have been issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan. The 2005 Incentive Plan
authorizes the grant of incentive and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs™), restricted
stock, restricted stock units and performance unit awards, any of which may be granted on a stand alone,
combination or tandem basis. While the 2005 Incentive Plan allows various forms of equity compensation to be
granted, to date, we have granted only stock options and restricted stock.

The purpose of the 2005 Incentive Plan is to provide a fiexible, long-term vehicle that encourages the creation
of long-term value for our shareholders and equity ownership by our named executive officers and other
participants and, at the same time, helps to attract, retain and motivate highly-qualified employees. Awards
under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be made to any salaried employee, consultant or advisor of Big Lots or its
affiliates. The Committee determines: (1) the individuals to whom equity awards are made; (2) the number of
common shares underlying each award; (3) the term of the award; (4) the award’s vesting schedule, exercise
period or settlement; (5) the type of consideration, if any, to be paid to us upon exercise of an award; and (6) a}l
other terms and conditions of the awards. If equity compensation is granted to the named executive officers,
such grants are made at the Committee’s discretion within the limitations set forth in the 2005 Incentive Plan
and are based on competitive market conditions, the responsibilities of the executive, and individual and
corporate performance. In fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, the outside directors have approved the form and size of
the CEO’s equity awards after reviewing the Committee’s recommendations.

The number of commeon shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists of: (1) an initial
allecation of 1,250,000 common shares; (2) 2,001,142 common shares, the common shares that were available
under the 1996 Incentive Plan upon its expiration; and (3) an annual increase equal to 0.75% of the total number
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of issued common shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of each fiscal year during which the 2005
Incentive Plan is in effect. Of this number, during the term of the 2005 Incentive Plan, no more than 33%5%
of all common shares may be issued in the form of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance
units and no more than 5,000,000 common shares may be issued pursuant to grants of incentive stock options.
A participant may receive multiple awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan. Awards intended to qualify as
quahﬁed performance -based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the IRC (“Section 162(m)”) are limited
to: (1) 2,000,000 shares of restricted stock per participant annually; (2) 3,000,000 common shares underlying
stock options and SARs per participant during any three consecutive calendar years; and (3) $6,000,000 cash
through performance units per participant during any three consecutive calendar years. Also, the 2005 Incentive
Plan provides that the total number of common shares underlying outstanding awards granted under the 2005
Incentive Plan, the 1996 Incentive Plan, the Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation
Rights Plan (“ESO Plan™), and the Director Stock Option Plan may not exceed 15% of the Company’s issued and
outstanding common shares (including treasury shares) as of any date. The 1996 Incentive Plan and the ESO
Plan have expired, and there are no awards outstanding under the ESO Plan.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan, the grant date of equity awards must be the later of the date
the terms of the award are established by corporate action or the date specified in the award agreement. In

fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, the outside directors, after consultation with the Committee, specified that the grant
date of the equity awards was the second trading day following our release of results from our last completed
fiscal year. This future date was established to allow the market to absorb and react to our release of material
nonpublic information, and to avoid even the appearance that any employee, the Committee or the Board
manipulated the terms of the equity awards. For equity awards made throughout the fiscal year, generally as a
result of a hiring or promotion, the grant date is the date of the related event (i.c., the first day of employment or
effective date of promotion).

Each stock option grant allows the recipient to acquire our common shares, subject to the completion of a
vesting period and continued employment with us. Once vested, these common shares may be acquired at

a fixed exercise price per share and they remain exercisable for the term set forth in the award agreement
approved by the Committee. Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan, the exercise price of a stock
option may not be less than 100% of the volume-weighted average trading price of our common shares on the
grant date or, if the grant date occurs on a day other than a trading day, on the next trading day. We believe this
method is preferable to using the closing market price on the grant date as it is less vulnerable to market activity
that may have only an instantﬁneous effect, positively or negatively, on the price of our common shares.

Under the restricted stock grants made pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan, if we meet a threshold financial
performance objective established by the Committee and the other outside directors (as set forth in the award
agreement) and the recipient remains employed by Big Lots, the restricted stock will vest at the opening of

our first trading window that is five years after the grant date. For fiscal 2006, if we meet a higher financial
performance objective (also established by the Committee and the other outside directors and set forth in the
award agreement) and the recipient remains employed by Big Lots, the restricted stock will vest at the opening
of our first trading window after we file with the SEC our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year in which
the higher financial performance objective is met. The restricted stock will also vest fully if there is a change in
control of Big Lots (as defined in the 2005 Incentive Plan and as discussed gencrally in the “Change in Control”
section of this CD&A), and will vest on a prorated basis in the event that the recipient dies or becomes disabled
after the attainment of the threshold financial performance objective but before the lapse of the five year term.
The restricted stock will be forfeited, in whole or in part, as applicable, if the recipient’s employment with us
terminates. ' ' '

Upon a change in control (as defined in the applicable plan and as discussed generally in the “Change in
Control” section of this CD&A), all awards outstanding under the 1996 Incentive Plan and the 2005 Incentive
Plan automatically become fully vested. The Board may, from time to time, at its discretion, amend or terminate
the 2005 Incentive Plan, except that no such amendment or termination may impair any rights under any award
made prior to the amendment’s effective date without the consent of the award recipient. '

Given that several years must pass in order for named executive officers to realize the full value of equity
awards, subject to acceleration when we exceed certain performance levels, we believe that our equity
compensation awards greatly assist us in meeting our goal to retain and motivate the named executive officers.
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Personal Benefits and Perquisites

While it is possible that other personal benefits and perquisites may be offered to named executive officers
during the course of the year, the following are the personal benefits and perquisites that are generally provided
only to employees at or above the vice president level: (1) coverage under the Executive Benefit Plan (as defined
below); (2) enhanced long-term disability insurance coverage; and (3) use of an automobile or automobile -
allowance. The Committee evaluates and determines the personal benefits and perquisites received by named
executive officers during its annual review of the named executive officers’ total compensation.

Qur practice is to offer employees protection from catastrophic healthcare-related events by offering medical
and dental benefits under the Big Lots Associate Benefit Plan (“Benefit Plan™) and by making vision and
disability coverage available. During fiscal 2006, we offered medical and dental benefits to the named executive
officers that were generally available to our other employees under the Benefit Plan, plus the opportunity to
participate in'the Big Lots Executivé Benefit Plan (“Executive Benefit Plan™). The Executive Benefit Plan is a
supptemental benefit plan that reimburses participants for health-related costs incurred but not covered under
the Benefit Plan, up to an annual maximum reimbursement of $40,000 per family. Amounts received by named
executive officers under the Executive Benefit Plan are treated as taxable income and are reflected in the “All
Other Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table. We reimburse each executive receiving
taxable benefits under the Executive Benefit Plan for the approximate amount of the executive’s income and
payroll tax liability relating to the benefits received.

We also offer short-term disability coverage to most empioyees and long-term disability coverage to all salaried
employees. For the named executive officers, the benefits provided under the long-term disability coverage are
greater than for employees below the level of vice president. Under the long-term disability coverage, a named
executive officer may receive 67% of his or her monthly salary, up to $25,000 per month, until the executive is
no longer disabled or turns age 65, whichever occurs earlier. The premiums for long-term disability coverage |
and the amount necessary to hold the named executive officer harmless from the income taxes resulting from
such premium payments are paid by Big Lots.

All officers at or above the level of vice president have the option of using a Company automobile or accepting
a monthly allowance. The value of the automobile and the amount of the allowance varies based on the officer’s
title.

We believe that these personal benefits and perquisites are generally commensurate with the benefits and
perquisites provided to execufives by our competitors and others in our compensation peer group. Accordingly,
we believe these personal benefits and perquisites are reasonable and consistent with our executive
compensation philosophy by better enabling us to attract and retain superior talent for key positions.

Employment Agreements

We are a party to employment agreements with each of the named executive officers, We entered into the
employment agreements because the agreements, in exchange for minimum salary levels and target and
stretch bonus performance goals, potential severance and change in control payments and other consideration,
provide us with several protections, including non-competition, confidentiality, non-solicitation and continuing
cooperation provisions, as discussed below. Further, the Board believes it is in the best interests of Big Lots
and our sharcholders to enter into these employment agreements to assure the undivided loyalty and dedication
of the named executive officers so that we are able to rely upon the named executive officers’ continued
employment and objective advice, without concern that a named executive officer might be distracted by

the personal uncertainties and risks created by a proposed change in control (as defined in the employment
agreements, the 1996 Incentive Plan, the 2005 Incentive Plan and the 2006 Bonus Plan, and as discussed
generally in the “Change in Control” section of this CD&A). The terms of the employment agreements are
substantially similar and are described collectively herein except where their terms materially differ.

Under the terms of their employment agreements, the named executive officers are each entitled to receive at
least the following minimum salaries, which atnounts are not subject to an automatic increase: Mr., Fishman:
$960.000; Mr. Cooper: $350,000; Mr. Waite: $405,000; Mr. Martin; $450,000; and Ms. Bachmann: $325,000.
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The salaries of the named executive officers are determined annually by the Committee. At its annual review in
February 2006, the Committee recommended, and the outside directors subsequently approved, the following
fiscal 2006 salaries for the named executive officers: Mr. Fishman: $960,000; Mr. Cooper: $375,000; Mr.

Waite: $520,000; Mr. Martin: $475,000; and Ms. Bachmann: $400,000. At its annual review in March 2007,

the Committee recommended, and the outside directors subsequently approved, the following fiscal 2007
salaries for the named executive officers; Mr. Fishman: $1,025,000; Mr. Cooper: $400,000; Mr. Waite: $535,000;
Mr. Martin: $500,000; and Ms. Bachmann: $415,000. We belicve that these salaries are market-competitive

and commensurate with each named executive officer’s job responsibilities, overall individual performance,
experience and qualifications.

Bonuses are not payable under the employment agreements unless we achieve the threshold performance criteria
set annually at the discretion of the Committee and the other outside directors in connection with the Board’s
approval of our annual corporate financial operating plan (and subsequent to reviewing the recommendations

of the Committee). Generally, the outside directors establish performance criteria that are slightly below (for

the floor performance goal), at or near (for the target performance goal), and slightly to well above (for the
stretch performance goal) our annual corporate financial operating plan. Because the outside directors consider
the specific circumstances that we expect to face in the coming fiscal year (e.g., year over year comparable
performance), the relationship between performance criteria and our annual corporate financial operating plan
may vary significantly from year to year. At its annual review in February 2006, the Committee recommended,
and the outside directors approved, the following fiscal 2006 target performance goals (expressed as a
percentage of the named executive officers’ fiscal 2006 salary), with the floor performance goals being one-half
of the target and the stretch performance goals being twice the target: Mr. Fishman: 85%; Mr. Cooper: 50%; Mr.
Waite: 75%; Mr. Martin: 60%; and Ms. Bachmann: 50%. At its annual review in March 2007, the Committee
recommended, and the outside directors approved, retaining the same performance goals for fiscal 2007, except
that Mr. Fishman’s floor, target and stretch performance goals were increased to 50%, 100% and 200% of his
salary, respectively.

Each employment agreement requirés the named executive officer to devote his or her full business time to

the affairs of Big Lots and prohibits the named executive officer from competing with us during his or her
employment with us. Mr. Fishman’s employment agreement includes several restrictive covenants that survive
the termination of his employment, including confidentiality (infinite), non-solicitation {two years), non-
competition (one year, but reduced to-six months following a change in control), continuing cooperation (three
years), and non-disparagement (infinite). More specifically, the agreement requires Mr. Fishman to return to
Big Lots all tangible confidential information and intellectual property in his possession upon termination

of employment and requires him to hold all intangible confidential information and intellectual property in
confidence following the termination of his employment. For two years following his termination, Mr. Fishman
may not solicit any employee to leave employment with Big Lots or seek to employ any employee of Big Lots.
For two years following his termination, Mr. Fishman may not solicit any person or entity having a business
relationship with Big Lots to discontinue or reduce the extent of that relationship with Big Lots. For one year
following his termination (or six months following a change in control), Mr. Fishman may not engage in
business for his own benefit, or provide services to another that is engaged in business, that is similar to our
business or become employed by or consult with certain competitors. For three years following his termination,
Mr. Fishman is required to cooperate with us and not to voluntarily participate with third parties in actions
adverse to us. Following termination, Mr. Fishman shall not disparage Big Lots.

The employment agreements with Mr. Waite, Mr, Martin and Ms. Bachmann include several restrictive
covenants and agreements that survive the termination of his or her employment, including non-competition
(one year), confidentiality (two years) and non-solicitation (two years). Mr. Cooper’s employment agreement
includes several restrictive covenants and agreements that survive the termination of his employment, including
confidentiality (infinite), non-solicitation of employees and vendors (two years), non-competition (one year, but
reduced to six months following a change in control), continuing cooperation (infinite), and non-disparagement
(infinite). The substance of these provisions in the employment agreements with Mr. Cooper, Mr. Waite,

Mr, Martin and Ms. Bachmann is substantially similar to the same provisions in Mr. Fishman’s employment
agreement described above. )
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For a discussion of compensation that may be paid to the named executive officers after termination of their
employment with Big Lots, see “Description and Elements of Post-Termination Executive Compensation”
below. )

Change in Control

Generally, pursuant to the named executive officers’ employment agreements, the 1996 Incentive Plan,

the 2005 Incentive Plan, the 2006 Bonus Plan, the Supplemental Pension Plan (as defined below), and the
Supplemental Savings Plan (as defined below}), a “change in control” (and a “change of control,” as such term is
used interchangeably with “change in control” in certain employment agreements and the 2006 Bonus Plan) is
deemed to occur if:

.« any person or group (as defined in Section 13(d) under the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial
owner, or has the right to acquire, 20% or more (or actually acquires 35% or more, in the case of the
2006 Bonus Plan) of our outstanding voting securities;

e amajority of the Board is replaced within any two year (one year, in the case of the 2006 Bonus
Plan) period by directors not nominated and approved by a majority of the directors in office at the
beginning of such period (or their successors so nominated and approved), or a majority of the Board
at any date consists of persons not so nominated and approved; or

*  our shareholders approve an agreement to merge or consolidate with an unrelated company or
an agreement to sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets to an unrelated
company (or, in the case of the 2006 Bonus Plan, a person or group acquires 40% or more of the
gross fair market value of our assets).

Notwithstanding the foregoing definition, pursuant to the named executive officers’ employment agreements
and the plans specified above, a change in control does not include any transaction, merger, consolidation or
reorganization in which we exchange, or offer to exchange, newly issued or treasury shares in an amount less
than 50% of our then-outstanding voting securities for 51% or more of the outstanding voting securitics of an
unrelated company or for all or substantially all of the assets of such unrelated company.

Pursuant to the employment agreements, the named executive officer’s termination in connection with a change
in control is generally deemed to occur if, during the applicable protection period (as discussed below), we or
any other party to the change in control (e.g., the unrelated acquirer or successor company):

*  terminate the executive without cause;
e in the case of Mr. Fishman and Mr. Cooper, breach a term of the employment agreement; or

. in the case of Mr. Cooper, Mr. Waite, Mr. Martin and Ms. Bachmann, constructively terminate
the executive (i.e., a resignation results from the imposition of a material adverse change in the
executive’s duties, compensation or reporting relationships after our failure to cure such condition).

The protection period provided in the named executive officers” employment agreements and applicable to the
named executive officers’ termination in connection with a change in control is two years following a change
in control. Additionally, Mr. Fishman's pratection period includes the six months preceding a change in control,
and Mr. Cooper’s protection period includes the three months preceding a change in control.

Retirement Plans

We maintain four retirement plans: (1) a tax-qualified, funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan
{“Pension Plan”}; (2) a non-qualified, unfunded supplemental defined benefit pension plan (“Supplemental
Pension Plan™); (3) a tax-qualified defined contribution plan (**Savings Plan”); and (4) a non-qualified
supplemental defined contribution plan (“Supplemental Savings Plan™). We belicve that these plans are
generally commensurate with the retirement plans provided by our competitors and others in our compensation
peer group, and that providing these plans allows us to better attract and retain superior talent for key positions.
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Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan

The Pension Plan is maintained only for certain employees whose hire date preceded April 1, 1994. Effective
January 1, 1996, the benefits accrued under the Pension Plan for certain highly compensated individuals
were frozen at the then current levels. The Supplemental Pension Plan is maintained only for those executives
whose benefits were frozen under the Pension Plan on January 1, 1996. Based on their respective dates of
hire, Mr. Fishman, Mr. Cooper, Mr. Martin and Ms. Bachmann may not participate in the Pension Plan or the
Supplemental Pension Plan,

The Pension Plan is intended to qualify under the IRC and comply with the Employee Retirement Security
Income Act of 1974, as amended. The amount of the Big Lots’ annual contribution to the Pension Plan is
actuarially determined to accumulate sufficient funds to maintain projected benefits. The Supplemental Pension
Plan constitutes a contract to pay benefits upon retirement as therein defined. The Supplemental Pension Plan is
designed to pay the same benefits in the same amount as if the participants continued to accrue benefits under
the Pension Plan. We have no obligation to fund the Supplemental Pension Plan, and all assets and amounts
payable under the Supplemental Pension Plan are subject to the claims of our general creditors.

Effective January 1, 1993, the annual retirement benefits payable upon retirement under the Pension Plan and
the Supplemental Pension Plan was, and continues to be, equal to 1% of average annual compensation during
the participant’s highest five consecutive year period multiplied by the years of service up to a maximum of 25
(“Normal Retirement Pension™), with participation and benefits being limited to either plan, but not both plans,
in and for any single year based on the participant’s status as a highly compensated employec, as defined in the
IRC. This benefit is payable when a participant reaches the normal retirement age of 65; however, the Pension
Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan provide the option to retire carly (generally at age 55) and to continue
employment beyond the normal retirement age.

Under the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan, a participant who has reached the age of 55 and
has at least five years of service with Big Lots can elect to retire early and receive a reduced monthly pension
commencing on the date of the participant’s early termination. Alternatively, a participant who has reached the
age of 65 can elect to continue employment with Big Lots and continue participation in either the Pension Plan
or Supplemental Pension Plan until the participant retires, at which point the participant shall receive his Normal
Retirement Pension. Participants who terminate employment due to a disability are entitled to a pension
amount equal to the actuarially-determined present value of the Normal Retirement Pension. The spouse of

a participant who dies before retirement is entitled to receive an amount equal to the actuarially-determined
present value of the Norma! Retirement Pension reduced for the period of time that the death or twenty-fifth
anniversary of employment, if later, precedés the normal retirement age. Finally, a participant who terminates
employment for a reason other than death or retirement may reccive a reduced pension amount determined by
the number of years the participant worked for Big Lots,

Normally, a participant will receive a monthly payment from the Pension Plan and/or, if the participant was a
highly compensated employee during his or her service period, the Supplemental Pension Plan upon reaching
the normal age of retirement {or earlier if the participant elects the early retirement option). Alternatively,

a participant can elect to receive a lump sum payment of the entire actuarial equivalent of the participant’s
accrued retirement pension or a reduced pension payable over a fixed number of months or elect the purchase
of an annuity contract equivalent in value to the actuarial equivalent of the participant’s accrued retirement
pension. Upon a change in control, we may elect to effectuate a lump sum payment of all amounts accrued
under the Supplemental Pension Plan.

For purposes of calculating benefits under the Pension Plan, compensation is defined to include a two month
equivalent of the total cash remuneration {including overtime) paid for services rendered during a plan

year prior to salary reductions pursuant to Sections 401(k) or 125 of the IRC, including bonuses, incentive
compensation, severance pay, disability payments and other forms of irregular payments. The table below
illustrates the amount of annual benefits payable at age 65 to a person with the specified five year average
compensation and years of service under the Pension Plan combined with the Supplemental Pension Plan.
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Final Years of Service

Average
Compensation 10 15 20 25
[ s100,000 $10,000  S15000  $20,000 __ $25,000
$125,000 $12,500  S$18750  $25000  $31250
[ $150,000 315,000 $22,500 $ 30,000 $37,500
$175,000 $17,500 $26,250 $35,000 $43,750
[ $200,000 $20,000 $30,000 $40,000 $50,000
$225,000 $20,700  $31,050  $41400  $51,750

The maximum annual benefit payable under the Pension Plan is restricted by the IRC ($175,000 for calendar
year 2006). At December 31, 2006, the maximum five ycar average compensation taken into account for
benefit calculation purposes was $207,000. The compensation taken into account for benefit calculation
purposes is limited by law ($220,000 for calendar vear 2006), and is subject to statutory increases and cost-of-
living adjustments in future years. At December 31, 2006, Mr. Waite had 18 years of credited service. Income
recognized as a result of the exercise of stock options is disregarded in computing benefits under the Pension
Plan. A participant may elect whether the benefits are paid in the form of a single life annuity, a joint and
survivor annuity or as a lump sum upon reaching the normal retirement age of 65.

Savings Plan and Supplemental Savings Plan

All of the named executive officers, as well as substantially all other full-time employees, are eligible to
participate in the Savings Plan, our “401(k) plan.” The Supplemental Savings Plan is maintained for those
executives participating in the Savings Plan who desire to contribute more than the amount allowable under

the Savings Plan. The Supplemental Savings Plan constitutes a contract to pay deferred salary and limits
deferrals in accordance with prevailing tax law. The Supplemental Savings Plan is designed to pay the deferred
compensation in the same amount as if contributions had been made to the Savings Plan. We have no obligation
to fund the Supplemental Savings Plan, and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental Savings
Plan are subject to the claims of general creditors of Big Lots.

In order to participate in the Savings and Supplemental Savings Plans, an eligible employee must satisfy
applicable age and service requirements and must make contributions to such plans (“Participant Elective
Contributions™). Participant Elective Contributions are made through authorized payroll deductions to one or
more of the several investment funds available under the Savings Plan, Prior to September 8, 2006, one of the
funds available to participants was a stock fund invested solely in Big Lots’ common shares. All Participant
Elective Contributions are matched by us (“Employer Matching Comnbutlons”) at a rate of 100% for the first
2% of salary contributed, and 50% for the next 4% of salary contributed; however, only Participant Elective
Contributions of up to 6% of the employee’s compensation will be matched.

Under the Savings Plan and the Supplemental Savings Plan, a participant who has terminated employment

with Big Lots is entitled to all funds in his or her account, except that if termination is for a reason other than
retirement, disability or death, then the participant is entitled to receive the vested portion of the Employer
Matching Contribution only. Under both plans, the Employer Matching Contribution vests as follows: 0%

until two years of service are completed, 25% once two years of service are completed, and an additional 25%
for each of the three subsequent years of service completed. All other unvested accrued benefits pertaining to
Employer Matching Contributions will be forfeited. Upon a change in control, we may elect to effectuate a lump
sum payment of all amounts (vested and unvested) under the Supplemental Savings Plan.

Minimum Share Ownership and Retention

We do not require that the named executive officers (or any director or other employee) own a minimum amount
of our shares, because we believe that personal investment choices should be left to each individual. While we
do not believe it is necessary or appropriate to require a named executive officer to own a minimum amount of
our shares, the Committee does consider the equity awards that have been made to our named executive officers
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during its annual review of total compensation. Because a significant portion of the named executive officers’
total compensation is in the form of equity awards, we further believe that the named executive officers each
have a material equity interest in Big Lots without also imposing a minimum share ownership requivement.

On November 21, 2005, we announced that the Committee, after discussion with the Board, approved
accelerating the vesting of stock options awarded on or before February 21, 2005, except those stock options
previously granted to our former chief executive. Additionally, the Committee imposed a holding perlod that
requires all directors and EMC members to refrain from selling net shares acquired upon any exercise of these
accelerated stock options until the date on which the exercise would have been permitted under the stock
options’ original vesting terms or, if earlicr, the recipient’s death, disability or termination of employment. The
decision to accelerate vesting of stock options was made primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense
that would have been recorded following the adoption in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 of Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment,
which requires an entity to measure the cost of services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the grant date fair value of the award.

Only those stock options that were accelerated in November 2005 are subject to a retention policy. We have no
other share retention guidelines. Consistent with our no minimum share ownership policy, we de not require
the named executive officers to hold our shares for a minimum period of time, because we believe that personal
investment choices should be left to each individual.

Elements of Post-Termination Executive Compensation

The triggering events that may provide the named executive offlcers with post-termination compensation
under the executives’ employment agreements are: (1) involuntary termination without cause; (2) termination
following the executive’s disability; (3) termination upon the executive’s death; and (4) termination following a
change in control.

Under each employment agreement, the named executive officer’s employment may be terminated for cause,

as defined therein. If a named executive officer is terminated for cause, we have no further obligation to pay
any unearned compensation or to provide any future benefits to the executive. The named executive officers

are entitled to receive salary continuation for two years, in the case of Mr. Fishman, or one year, ‘in the case

of the other named executive officers, if terminated without cause, 6 months if terminated in connection with
becoming disabled, and a lump sum payment equal to two times his or her salary if terminated in connection
with a change in control. Additionally, each named executive officer is entitled to receive a prorated bonus

for the fiscal.year in which his or her termination is effective if he or she is terminated without cause or is
terminated'in connection with his or her death or disability, and two times his or her stretch bonus if terminated
following a change in control. In the event a named executive officer is terminated in connection with a change -
in control, he or she is also entitled to receive a payment (“Tax Gross-Up Amount”) in the amount necessary

to hold him or her harmless from the effects of Sections 280G and 4999 of the IRC, which IRC sections could
subject the payments due under these employment agreements to excise tax liability. The compensation payable
on account of a change in control may be subject to the deductibility limitations of Sections 162(m) and 280G of
the IRC.

Mr. Fishman is entitled to receive continued healthcare coverage for up to two years following a termination
without cause or if terminated in connection with a change in control, plus a Tax Gross-Up Amount. The
other named executive officers are entitled to receive continued healthcare coverage for up to 12 months
following a termination without cause or if terminated in connection with a change in control, plus a Tax
Gross-Up Amount, except that Mr. Cooper is entitled to receive up to two years of coverage if he is terminated
in connection with a change in control. Each of the named executive officers is entitled to receive continued
healthcare coverage for 6 months following termination due to disability, plus long-term disability benefits.
Additionally, if terminated without cause, each named executive officer is entitled to continue receiving an
automobile or automobile allowance for 24 months, in the case of Mr. Fishman, or 12 months, in the case of the
other named executive officers.
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If a change in control (as defined by the applicable equity incentive plan) occurs, then all outstanding stock
options become exercisable upon the change in control to the fuil extent’of the original grant and all remaining
unvested restricted stock vests. if termination of employment results from death or disability, then all
exercisable stock options may be exercised until the earlier of the stock option award expiration date or one

year after termination of employment, under the 2005 Incentive Plan, or one year after death or disability,

under the 1996 Incentive Plan. Additionally, if termination of employment results from death or disability,

then unvested restricted stock will: (1} be forfeited, for the January 2005 retention package awards made under |
the 1996 Incentive Plan; (2) vest in'increments of 20% for each consecutive year of employment completed

since the grant date, for the July 2005 award to Mr. Fishman made under the 1996 Incentive Plan; and (3) vest

in increments of 20% for each consecutive year of employment completed since the grant date, if the threshold -
financial performance objective is met while employed, for restricted stock awards made under the 2005
Incentive Plan. Upon termination for any other reason, all exercisable stock options then held may be exercised .
until the earlier of the stock option award expiration date or 90 days after termination of employment, under

the 2005 Incentive Plan, or three months after termination of employment, under the 1996 Incentive Plan. Any
restricted stock awards not vested at termination of employment for reasons other than death or disability, shall
be forfeited.

For a discussion of the effect of termination under the Pension Plan, Supplemental Pensron Plan Savmgs Plan
and Supptemental Savings Plan, se¢ “Retircment Plans™ above.

Compensation Committee Activity -

The Committee met in February and November of 2006, mcludlng in executive session at its February 2006
meeting. Each Committee member attended both meetings.

In the process of reviewing each component of executive compensation separately, and in the aggregate, the
Committee directs our human resources department to prepare an internal pay equity analysis comparing the
relative compensation between the CEO and the other EMC members. The comparison includes all components
of compensation. Prior to hiring Mr. Fishman, the relative difference between CEO compensation and the
compensation of our other named executwe officers had not increased significantly over the vears. While

Mr. Fishman’s compensation package increases the relative difference between CEQ compensation and the
compensation of our other named executive officers, the Commitiee believes that the increased disparity is
appropriate and was necessary in order to attract a chief executive with Mr. Fishman’s experience.

As part of its review of the bonus component of our executive compensation program for fiscal 2006, the
Commitiee and the other outsidé directors considered various indicia of corporate achievement in order to
establish meaningful performance criteria under the 2006 Bonus Plan. In February 2006, the outside directors
chose, upon the Committee’s recommendation, to use a formula based on each named executive officer’s salary
and a'measure of our income. We believe the performance criteria established for fiscal 2006 bears a strong
relationship to our philosophy of aligning executive compensation with the interests of our shareholders. The
aim in setting the performance criteria was to reward 2006 Bonus Plan participants while encouraging strong
corporate earnings, growth. :

Specifically, the performance criterion applied for fiscal 2006 bonus determinations under the 2006 Bonus
Plan was the greatest of the following measures; (1) income from continuing operations; (2) income (loss) from
continuing operations before extraordinary itermn and/or cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
{as the case may be); (3) income before extraordinary item{s); and (4) net income, with each such measure being
adjusted to remove the effect of equitable adjustments for unusual or non-recurring events, transactions or
accrual items. Of the potential performance criteria above, the net income measure was the greatest for fiscal
2006. . :

In making adjustments to remove the effect of unusual or non-recurring event items, the following were \
considered for fiscal 2006: (1) asset impairments as described in SFAS No. 144, as amended or superseded; (2)
merger integration costs; (3) merger transaction costs; (4) loss or profit attributable to a reportable segment as
described by SFAS No. 131, as amended or superseded of any entity or entities acquired during fiscal 2006; (5)
tax settlement charges; (6) the relevant tax effect of new tax legislation enacted after the beginning of fiscal
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2006; (7) extraordinary items, events or transactions as described in Accounting Principles Beard Opinion No.
30, as amended or superseded; (8) unusual in nature, or infrequent in occurrence items, events or transactions
(that are not “extraordinary” items) as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, as amended
or superseded; (9) other non-recurring items or other non-GAAP financial measures {not otherwise listed);
(10) unrealized gains or losses on investments in debt and equity securities as described in SFAS No. 115, as
amended or superseded; and (11) gain or loss recognized as a result of derivative instrument transactions or
other hedging activities as described in SFAS No. 133, as amended or superseded.

In light of our performance in fiscal 2006, the performance criteria established by the Committee and the
outside dircctors were exceeded and bonuses were paid at stretch levels for performance in fiscal 2006. As a
consequence of the fiscal 2006 bonus payments, fiscal 2006 total cash compensation for the named executive
officers was at or above the market average. (Note that the compensation surveys used to determine market
average for each position report only the bonus potential at targeted levels of performance and not beyond.)
We believe higher than market average total cash compensation is appropriate in light of our fiscal 2006
performance, and that it is consistent with our philosophy that we perform at high levels to deliver at or above-
market compensation. ‘

As discussed above, the Committee also reviewed an estimate of the amount of total value accumulated and
that will be accumulated by each EMC member through prior equity awards {assuming employment continues,
awards vest and the market price of our common shares fluctuates through the life of the awards). While the
Committee considers the accumulated value information as a factor in making recommendations on future
compensation, this information is not a primary consideration. o '

Based on their review of each component of executive compensation separately, and in the aggregate, the
Committee and the other outside directors determined that the named executive officers’ total compensation for
fiscal 2006 was reasonable and not excessive,

Since the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Committée has met once. At this meeting, the Committee: (1) certified
that a bonus was payable for fiscal 2006 under the 2006 Bonus Plan; (2) reviewed the total compensation

tally sheets and compensation history for all EMC members; (3) reviewed an internal pay equity analysis

and compensation benchmarking data; and (4) formutated its recommendations to the other outside directors

for fiscal 2007 executive compensation, including the fiscal 2007 bonus performance criteria and restricted
stock financial performance objectives. The Committee has also reviewed drafts of this CD&A and the other
compensation disclosures required by the SEC. At the subsequent Board meeting, the outside directors approved
the fiscal 2007 compensation packages for the EMC members.

Impact of Performance on Compensation

Our compensation program is designed to reward positive contributions toward the achievement of our strategic
business goals, appreciation in our shareholder value, and our overall corporate performance. We believe the
amounts paid to our executives are appropriate and are furthering our compensation philosophy and strategic
business goals. [n this section of the CD&A, we discuss the various performance measures that we have
selected to illustrate our commitment to tying corporate performance to a substantial portion of our executive
compensation program. While we cannot control the market price of our common shares, we strive to provide
strong results that may lead to increased shareholder value. Additionally, the Committee believes it is in our
best interests and the best interests of our shareholders to require that we achieve certain corporate performance
metrics in order for EMC members to receive bonus and restricted stock awards so that we can preserve the
deductibility of such awards under Section 162(m). ’

The performance criterion applied for fiscal 2006 bonus determinations under the 2006 Bonus Plan was the
greatest of the following measures: (1) income from continuing operations; (2) income (loss) from continuing
operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (as the case
may be); (3) income before extraordinary item(s); and (4) net income, with each such measure being adjusted
to remove the effect of any equitable adjustments for unusual or non-recurring events, transactions or accrual
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items (as such events, transactions and items are described above). The corporate performance levels adopred
in connection with bonus compensation earned for fiscal 2006 performance under the 2006 Bonus Plan were
$38,625,000 (floor), $47,799,000 (target), and $80,629,000 (stretch) under net income performance criterion,

The measure applied to the restricted stock awards made in fiscal 2006 under the 2005 Incentive Plan was

the greatest of: (1) income (loss) per common share — diluted from continuing operations; (2) income {loss)

per common share ~ diluted from continuing operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect

of a change in accounting principle (as the case may be); (3) income (loss) per common share — diluted before
extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (as the case may be); and (4)

net income (loss) per common share — diluted, with each such measure adjusted to remove the effect of any
unusual or non-recurring event, transaction or accrual items. Of the four measures above, the net income

per share measure was the greatest for fiscal 2006. The financial performance objectives used in connection
with restricted stock awards were a threshold financial performance objective of $0.25 under one of the above
measures in order to allow the award to become eligibie to vest under one of three scenarios (i.e., the attainment
of a higher financial performance objective, the grantee’s death or disability, or the lapsing of five years while
remaining continuously employed) and a higher financial performance objective of $0.87 under one of the above
measures in order to vest the award.

When, in February 2006, the Committee recommended, and the outside directors approved, the targeted and
maximum performance criteria and target and stretch performance goals under the 2006 Bonus Plan and the
higher financial performance objective under the 2005 Incentive Plan, we believed those measures represented
very strong performance and would be difficult to obtain. However, we exceeded the expectations of the
Board, the Committee and management during fiscal 2006 and, thus, the stretch performance goal and the
higher financial performance objective were achieved. As is illustrated by the performance metrics and targets
described above, we believe that performance and compensation are very tightly tied.

Compensation for the Named Executive Officers in Fiscal 2006

Except where we have discussed the specifics of a named executive officer’s fiscal 2006 compensation, the
evaluation and establishment of the named executive officers’ fiscal 2006 compensation was substantially
similar. We believe compensation for the named executive officers in fiscal 2006 was estabiished consistent
with our executive compensation philosophy, practices and polices.

In setting the compensation of Mr. Fishman for fiscal 2006, the outside directors generally followed

the philosophy, practices and policies described in this CD&A (e.g., tying a substantial portion of total
compensation to Big Lots’ future performance with non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, and a
performance-based cash bonus opportunity). Because Mr. Fishman had been with us for only seven months
when the outside directors reviewed his compensation in February 2006, the outside directors chose to maintain
his then-current base salary. However, based on the outside directors’ assessment of Mr. Fishman’s performance
to date, his ability to formulate and execute our long-term and short-term strategic, operational and business
plans, and the requirements to retain Mr. Fishman within the highly competitive discount retail industry,

the outside directors increased his bonus potential and made stock option and restricted stock awards to Mr.
Fishman. Accordingly, Mr. Fishman'’s total compensation reflects a consideration of competitive forces and the
perceived value that Mr. Fishman brings to us.

The salaries paid to the named executive officers for fiscal 2006 are shown in the “Salary” column of the
Summary Compensation Table. Annual increases (if any) are made in the discretion of the Committee and

the other outside directors. Generally, salary adjustments for the named executive officers are based upon the
factors described herein; however, salary adjustments are subjectively determined and are not formally tied to
specific performance criteria. The Committee has chosen not to adopt any specific schedule of salary increases,
and may adjust the named executive officers’ respective salaries without regard to adjustments in the salaries
of other executives, Based on the various factors described in this CD&A, including the competitive market
and individual and corporate performance, each of the named executive officers except Mr. Fishman received
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a salary increase in fiscal 2006. Due to the brevity of his employment, the Committee felt it was inappropriate
to increase Mr. Fishman’s fiscal 2006 annualized salary over the minimum established by his employment
agreement, .

The bonuses paid to the named executive officers for fiscal 2006 are shown in the “Non-Equity Incentive
Compensation Earnings” column of the Summary Compensation Table. As a result of our performance in fiscal
2006, bonuses were paid at the stretch level.

The equity compensation awarded to the named executive officers in fiscal 2006 is reflected in the Grants

of Plan-Based Awards table. The fiscal 2006 equity compensation for the named executive officers consisted
of non-qualified stock options and restricted stock awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan. The stock options
awarded to the named executive officers in fiscal 2006 have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of
our common shares on the grant date, vest equally over four years, and expire seven years after the grant date.
Because we met both the threshold and higher financial performance objectives in fiscal 2006, the restricted
stock awards granted in fiscal 2006 are expected to vest at the opening of our first trading window eccurring
after we file our fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC. The Committee believes that the grant
of a significant quantity of stock options and restricted stock to the named executive officers further links their
interests with the interests of our shareholders and provides us with a significant retention and motivation tool.
Consequently, the named executive officers’ equity interests in Big Lots, through stock options and restricted
stock, comprise a substantial portion of their compensation and help to align their personal rewards and
motivation with our performance and shareholder value.

Impact of Tax and Accounting Treatments

Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m)

Under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, provisions were added to Section 162(m) of the IRC,
which generally limit the tax deductions for compensation expense in excess of $1 million paid to our CEQ and
our four other highest compensated executives. Compensation in excess of $1 million may be deducted if it is
“performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m). As part of its role, the Committee
reviews and considers the deductibility of executive compensation under Section 162(m}). We believe that
compensation paid under our equity and bonus compensation plans is generally fully deductible for federal
income tax purposes. However, in certain situations, the Committee or the outside directors may approve
compensation that will not meet these requirements in order to ensure competitive levels of total compensation
for its executives.

For fiscal 2006, the Committee believes it has taken the necessary actions to preserve the deductibility of all
payments made under our executive compensation program, with the exception of a portion of the compensation
paid to Mr. Fishman in connection with the vesting of restricted stock awarded upon his commencing
employment with us in fiscal 2005. If the IRC or the related regulations change, the Committee intends to

take reasonable steps to ensure the continued availability of deductions for payments under our executive
compensation program, while at the same time considering the goals of the Company’s executive compensation
philosophy and the competitive market for executive leadership talent.

Internal Revenue Code Section 4094

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 was signed into law, changing the tax rules
applicable to nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements. While the final regulations have not become
effective yet, we believe we are operating in good faith compliance with the statutory provisions which were
effective January 1, 2005, Additional discussion of our nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements

is provided above under the heading “Retirement Plans” and with the compensation tables following this
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R)

Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we began accounting for stock-based payments in accordance with
the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R}. As discussed above, we accelerated the vesting of certain stock options in
November 2005 primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense that would have been recorded foltowing
our adoption of SFAS No. I23(R). Since our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we have begun to make more full-
value awards in the form of restricted stock and fewer awards of stock options,

Conclusion

The Committee believes our executive compensation philosophy, practices, policies and program are designed
to foster a performance-oriented culture that aligns our executives’ interests with those of our shareholders.
The Committee further believes that each element of compensation, the amount available under each element
of compensation, and the total compensation of our named executive officers is reasonable, appropriate and
responsive to the goal of improving shareholder return, and serves to attract, retain and motivate highly-
qualified employees. Our compensation program rewards positive contributions toward the achievement of our
strategic business goals, appreciation in shareholder value, and overall corporate performance.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the compensation earned by or paid to the named executive officers (Mr. F;ishman,
our CEO; Mr. Cooper, our Chief Financial Officer; and each of our three other most highly compensated
executive officers in fiscal 2006) for services rendered to us during the past fiscal year,

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nongualified
Non-Equity Deferred
Stock Option  Incentive Plan Compensation  All Other

Name and _ Salary Bonus  Awards Awards Compensation Earnings  Compensation

Principal Position (1) Year 0] (%) 3)2) $)3) ($)() 35 (B)E)7X8) @
&) ) @© (d) © n (g} (h) (i) (V)]

: teven S. Fishman, 2006 960,000 — 503,769 879,262 1,632,000 — 14,559 3,989,590
Chairman, Chief Executive ‘
Oﬂ" cer and President

Joe R. Cooper, 2006 371,209 — 96,278 50,675 375,000 — 26,895 920,061
Senior Vice President

and Chief Financial Qfficer

Brad A. Waite, 2006 516,978 —_ 225,350 57473 780,000 16,489 35018 1,631,308
Executive Vice President, Human S
Resources, Loss Prevention, Real

Estate and Risk Management

John C. Martin, 2006 473475 — 128977 26,574 570,000 — 25,929 1,224,953
Executive Vice President, '

Merchandising

Lisa M. Bachmann. 2006 396,195 o 96,278 50,675 400,000 — 29,901 973,049

Senior Vice President.

erchandise Planning/dllocation

Lmd Chief information Officer

(/) We are a party to an employment agreement with each of the named executive officers, the material terms
of which are described in the “Employment Agreements” and “Elements of Post-Termination Executive
Compensation” sections of the CD&A.
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* .+ MD&A in out Form 10-K regarding the assumptions underlying the valuation of equity awards.

The amounts in this columnn reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes

for fiscal 2006 in accordance with SFAS 123(R), excluding any estimate of forfeitures related to service-

based vesting conditions, and thus may include amounts from stock awards granted in and prior to fiscal 2606
pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan. See Note 7 (Stock Plans) to the consolidated
financial'statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Stock-Based Compensation section of
MD&A in our Form 10-K regarding the assumptions underlying the valuation of equity awards.

The amounts in this column reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes
for fiscal 2006 in accordance with SFAS 123(R), excluding any estimate of forfeitures related to service-based
vesting conditions, and thus may include amounts from option awards granted in and prior to fiscal 2006

* pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan. See Note 7 (Stock Plans} to the consolidated
 financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Stock-Based Compensation section of

] ',\ >

The amounts in this column reflect cash bonuses earned for fiscal 2006 performance pursuant to the 2006
Bonus Plan. A portion of the cash bonuses earned by Mr. Cooper and Mr. Martin and included in this
column were deferred into the Supplemental Savings Plan upon the payment of such amounts in fiscal
2007. The Supplemental Savings Plan is described in the “Savings Plan and Supplemental Savings Plan”
section of the CD&A. : : _

The amount in this column reflects the actuarial increase in the present value of Mr. Waite's benefits
undeér the Pension Plah and the Supplemental Pension Plan determined from December 31, 2005 to
December 31, 2006, the plans’ measurement date for financial statement reporting purposes. See Note 8
(Employee Benefit Plans) to the consolidated financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and

-Estimates — Pension section of MD&A in our Form 10-K regarding the interest rate, mortality rate and

other assumptions underlying the actuarial calculations.

The amounts in this column include the following compensation for the named executive officers, as more
fully described in the table included with this footnote:

“i.  The reimbursement of taxes related to our payment of healthcare costs covered by the Executive

Benefit Plan, long-term disability insurance coverage, and taxable moving expenses;

"ii. Big Lots matching contributions made pursuant to the Savings Plan and the Supblenriental Savings

Plan, both of which are described in the “Savings Plan and Supplemental Savings Plan” section of
the CD&A;

iii. The reimbursement of healthcare costs covered by the Executive Benefit Plan, which is described in
the “Personal Benefits and Perquisites” section of the CD&A;

iv. Big Lots paid premiums for life insurance, which is generally available to all full-time employees;

v.  Big Lots paid premiums for long-term disability insurance, which is described in the “Personal
Benefits and Perquisites” section of the CD&A; '

vi. The cost associated with the use of an automobile or the receipt of a cash allowance in lieu of an
automobile; and

vii. The reimbursement of taxable moving expenses.
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Mr Martin

Big Lots

Big Lots Reimbursement Paid Use of
Contributions  of Healthcare Big Lots  Long-Term Automobile Reimbursement
to Defined Costs under ©  Paid Life - Disability or- . of Taxable
Reimbursement Contribution Executive [nsurance Insurance Automobile Moving
of Taxes Plans Benefit Plan Premiums Premiums  Allowance Expenses

3) $) __ % _® 3 M)

Ms§Bachmann i

7)

(8)

@

In fiscal 2006, Mr. Fishman and Mr. Cooper each received a personal benefit related to 2 business trip to _
visit the NYSE on a corporate aircraft. We reported earnings of $675 (plus $317 for tax reimbursement) for
both executives on Form W-2 related to such trip, which earnings were calculated in accordance with the
Standard Industry Fare Level (SIFL) rate method permitted by the Internal Revenue Service. Because we
did not incur any aggregate incremental cost in connection with such trip, no related amounts are included
in this column.

We purchase tickets to entertainment and sporting venues for the primary purpose of allowing employees
to use such tickets in furtherance of our business. Because we incur no incremental cost if a named
executive officer uses such tickets for purposes other than our business, such tickets are not included in the
amounts included in this column. ' _

As a percentage of total compensation, the named executive officers’ respective salary and non-equity
incentive plan compensation (i.c., bonuses earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan) were as follows: Mr.
Fishman: 24.1% / 40.9%, Mr. Cooper: 40.3% / 40.8%; Mr. Waite: 31.7% / 47, 8% Mr. Martin: 38.7% /
46.5%; and Ms. Bachmann: 40.7% / 41.1%.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth each award made to the named executive officers in fiscal 2006 under the 2006
Bonus Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan.

Al
Other

Stock Al Other Grant
Estimated Possible Payouts Estimated Future Payouts  Awards:  Option Closing  Date Fair

Under Non-Equity Incentive  Under Equity Incentive Plan Number  Awards: Exercise  Market Value

Plan Awards Awards of Number of or Base  Priceof  of Stock

3) (4) Shares Securities Priceof  Option and

Grant Award of Stock Underlying Option Awardson  Option
Date Date Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units Options  Awards Grant Date  Awards

04] @ ) &3] - ¥ # ) #) L] #(3) (8/Sh}  (3/5h.)(6) (%)

(b) - (c) ) ) ) g (i) (1)) (k) - i
. — — 408000 816,000 1,632,000 — Ce— S — — — — —E
2724106 2/21/06 — — - — 100,000 —_ — — — — 1,280,00_0!
ST -2/24/06 2121706 — — e — — e — 200,000 12.66 12.80 1,056,000
Mr. Cooper — — 93,750 187,500 375,000 — — — — — — — —
2/24/06 2/21/06 , — — — — 16,000 — — — — — 204,800
2/24/06 2121106 — — _-  — — — — 41,000 12.66 12.80 216,480
— — 195,000 390,000 780,000  — _ = — — — — _,.:
2124106 2/21/06 — — — —_ 18,500  — — RS — — 236,80(1:
2/24/06 2/21/06 e — - — o — — 46,500 12.66 12.80 245,520
— — 142,500 285,000 570,000 — — — — — — — —
2124106 2/21/06 — — — — 8,500 — — — — — 108,800
2/24/06 2/21/06 — — — — ‘ — — — 21,500 12.66 12.80 113,520
— — 100,000 200,000 400,600 — — e - e — —_ -
- 2/24/06 2/21/06 — — — — 16,000 — — —_ — — 204’80(}1
2/24/06 2121/06 — — — — —_ — — 41,000 12.66 12,80 216,480

(/) As discussed in the “Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation - Equity™ section of the CD&A, in
fiscal 2006, the Board set as the grant date of these equity awards the second day following our release
of results from our last completed fiscal year. This future date was established in order to allow the
market to absorb and react to our release of material nonpublic information, and in order to avoid even the
appearance that any employees, the Committee or the Board manipulated the terms of the equity awards.

(2} The Award Date represents the date on which the Board authorized the equity-based award and set the
grant date.

{(3) The amounts in columns (c), (d) and (¢) represent the named executive officers’ floor, target and stretch
performance goals for fiscal 2006 pursuant to the 2006 Bonus Plan, which goals are described in the
“Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation - Bonus” section of the CD&A. For fiscal 2006, the
named executive officers earned the amounts shown in column (e).

(4) The amounts in column (g) represent restricted stock awarded pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan, which
awards are described in the “Equity” section of the CD&A. Because we met both a threshold financial
performance objective and a higher financial performance objective in fiscal 2006, the restricted stock
granted to the named executive officers in fiscal 2006 are expected to vest at the opening of our first
trading window occurring after we file our fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC.

(5) The amounts in column (j) represent non-qualified stock options awarded pursuant to the 2005 Incentive '
Plan, which awards are described in the “Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation - Equity”
section of the CD&A. - ’

(6) As discussed in the “Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation - Equity” section of the CD&A,
pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan, the exercise price of a stock option may not be less than
100% of the volume-weighted average trading price of our common shares on the grant date or, if the
grant date occurs on a day other than a trading day, on the next trading day. We believe this method 1s
preferable to using the closing market price as it is less vulnerable to market activity that may have only an
instantaneous effect, positively or negatively, on the price of our common shares.
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QOutstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth, as of the end of fiscal 2006, all equity awards outstanding under our equity
compensation plans for each named executive officer.

Option Awards

(1W2y Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive Awards:
Equity Plan Market
Incentive Awards: or Payout
. L . Plan . ) - Market Number of Value of
Number Number Awards: Number Value of Unearned Uncarned
of of Number of of Shares  Shares Shares, Shares,
Securities Securities Securities or Units  or Units Units or Units or
Underlying  Underlying  Underlying of Steck  of Stock Other Orther
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option That That Rights Rights
Options Options Unearned Exercise  Option  Have Not Have Not That Have That Have
(#) # Options Price  Expiration Vested Vested  Not Vested Not Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable #) (%} Date #)3) $) © (H#NW4) (&3]
{a) (b) (c} (d) () U] ) (h) (i )
Mr. Fishman 128,000 375,000 — .19 7/11/2012 — e — b
o 200,000 — 12.66 2/24/2013 e — - —_
— — — — — 66667 1,733,342 100,060 2,600,000
Mr. Cooper 2,000 — — 11.98 2125/2012 _ —_ _ —_
4,000 — — 1085 2/2402013 — — — —
100,000 _ . — 14.28 2721204 — — — —
— 41,000 — 12.66 2/24/2013 — — — —_
— — — — — 5,334 138,684 16,000 416,000
Mr. Waite 62,500 — e 26.60 3112007 — —_ — —
25,000 — — 37.75 2/24/2008 - — —_ —
50,000 — — 16.38  10/13/2008 — — — —
15,000 e —_ 11.98 242512012 — —_ — —_
30,000 — — 10.85 2/24/2013 — — — —
75,000 — — 15.05 212312014 —_— — — —
— 46,500 — 12.66 2/24/2013 — —_— — —
— — — — — 16668 433368 18,500 481,000
Mr. Martin 150,000 — — 14.35 12/1/2013 — — — —
— 21,500 — 12.66 2/24/2013 — — — —
— — — — — 10,000 260,000 8,500 221,000
Ms. Bachmann 35,000 — — 1420 32512012 — — — —
12,000 — — 10.85 2/24/2013 — — e —
50,000 — — 15.05 2/23/2014 — — — —
— 41,000 — 12.66 2/24/21 3 — — — —
— — — — — 5,334 138,684 16,000 416,600

() Mr. Fishman'’s stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year over the first four years of the seven year option
term. The first of Mr. Fishman’s stock option awards (i.e., the award expiring July 11, 2012) was made
pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan and the latter stock option award (i.e., the award expiring February 24,
2013) was made pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan,

{2) The exercisable stock options of Mr. Cooper, Mr. Waite, Mr. Martin and Ms. Bachmann, all of which
were made pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan, vest at the rate of 20% per year over the first five years of
the 10 year option term. The unexercisable stock options of Mr. Cooper, Mr. Waite, Mr. Martin and Ms.
Bachmann, all of which were made pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan, vest at the rate of 25% per year
over the first four years of the seven year option term.
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(3) With respect to the amounts in this column, the restricted stock of: (i) Mr. Fishman is scheduled to vest
in one-third increments upon the attainment of common share price targets or, if earlier, fully after five
years of service; and (ii) Mr. Cooper, Mr. Waite, Mr. Martin and Ms. Bachmann is scheduled to vest in
one-third increments over the first three anniversaries of the grant date and will fully vest if the grantee is
terminated by us for any reason other than cause before the lapse of such three year period.

{(4) For a description of the vesting terms of the restricted stock reflected in this column, see the “Elements of
In-Service Executive Compensation - Equity” and “Compensation for the Named Executive Officers in
Fiscal 2006 sections of the CD&A. Because we met both the threshold financial performance objective
and higher financial performance objective in connection with our fiscal 2006 results, these restricted
stock awards are expected to vest at the opening of our first trading window occurring after we file our
fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The follo;wing table reflects all stock option exercises and the vesting of restricted stock held by each of the
named executive officers during fiscal 2006,

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of .
Shares Value Shares Value

Acquired Realized Acquired Realized

on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting
Name . ) (%) #) (5)
(a) . b () (d) (e}
Mr. Fishman oo — — 33333 719993 |
Mr. Cooper _ 54,000 412273 5,333 123,406
Mr. Waite . s, 305,000 2,732.930 16,666 185,651 |
Mr. Martin ] — — 10,000 231,400
Ms. Bachmann = s .- 33,000 329,455 5333 123,406 |

Pension Benefits

The following table reflects the number of years of credited service and the present value of accumulated
benefits payable to Mr. Waite under the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan. Mr. Waite is the only
named executive officer eligibie to participate in the Pension Plan or Supplemental Pension Plan. See Note 8
{Employee Benefit Plans) to the consolidated financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates — Pension section of MD&A in our Form 10-K regarding the interest rate, mortality rate and other
assumptions underlying the calculations in this table. Information regarding the Pension Plan and Supplemental
Pension Plan can be found in the “Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan” section of the CD&A.

.

Number ' Payments
of Years- ~ Present Value of During
Credited Accumulated Last Fiscal
Plan Service Benefit Year
Name . ’ : Name (3] (%3] [£)]
(2} (b) (€} (d) (€)
i . - .
Mr. Fishman.- .. 2. N/A — - —
Mr. Cooper ; N/A — — —
Mr. Waite - . L Pension Plan 18 27,062 —
L ‘ Supplemental Pension Plan 18 101,958 —
Mr. Martin . N/A — — —
Ms. Bachmann * - © 5 ' N/A — — — |
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Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The following table reflects the contributions to, earnings'in and balance of each named executive officer’s
account held under the Supplemental Savings Plan. Information regarding the Supplemental Savings Plan can
be found in the “Savings Plan and ‘Supplemeéntal Savings Plan” section of the CD&A.

Executive Reglstrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions Contributions Earnings Withdrawals/ Balance
in Last FY inLast FY inLastFY Distributions atLast FYE

Name . M) M2 (SX3) ® G)

® _ (b) © () G B ()
Mr. Fishman L apde SRR AR BRI SRR Tl Tt e 1
Mr. Cooper ‘ 32 592 3,784 - 37240 — 183,385
Mr. Waite U T A927707 3784 (109148 = 686,962
Mr. Martin _ 47,155 3,784 33,665 - 203,481
Ms. Bachmann ; w1083 3 TR 036 L = T3 8305

(/) The amounts in this column are included in the “Salary” column of the Summary Compensation Tabie.

(2) The amounts in this column are included in the *All Other Compensation” column of the Summary
Compensation Table and in the “Big Lots Contributions to Defined Contribution Plans” column of the
table included with footnote 6 to the Summary Compensation Table.

(3) The amounts in this column are not included in the Summary Compensation Table as these amounts
reflect only the earnings on the investments made by the named executive officer in his or her
Supplemental Savings account. The amounts in this column do not include any above-market or
preferential earnings, as defined by Item 402(c)(2)(viii) of Regulation S-K and the instructions thereto.

- Potential Payménts Upon Termination or Change in Control

The following tables reflect the payments that may be received by each named executive officer {or his or her
beneficiaries, as applicable) upon a change in control or in the event the executive’s employment with us is
terminated: (1) involuntarily with cause; (2) involuntarily without cause; (3) voluntarily; (4) in connection with -
the executive’s disability; (5) upon the executive’s death; or (6) in connection with a change in control. For
additional information regarding the payments and benefits that may be due,to each named executive officer
upon a change in control or termination, please refer to the “Employment Agreements,” “Change in Control,”
“Retirement Plans,” “Minimum Share Ownership and Retention,” and “Elements of Post-Termination Executive
Compensation” sections of the CD&A, and the Pension Benefit and Nonqualified Deferred Compensatmn tables
above.

The amounts in the following tables are approximations based on various assumptions and estimates. The actual
amounts to be paid can only be determined at the time of the change in control or termination of employment,
as applicable. In the tables that follow, we have made the following material assumptions, estimates and
characterizations:

. Amounts are calculated based on compensatlon levels and benefits effective at February 3, 2007, the
end of fiscal 2006.

s  The amounts payable under the 2006 Bonus Plan (as noted in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation” rows in the tables below) are assumed to be paid for the full fiscal year at the target
and stretch bonus levels; however, an involuntary termination without cause or a termination in
connection with death or disability would give rise to only a prorated payment for the portion of the
fiscal year that preceded such a termination, and payments may be made at the floor bonus level
(i.e., one-half of the target bonus level} or any other amount up to the stretch bonus level. Amounts
payable under the 2006 Bonus Plan upon termination in connection with a change in control are
equal to two times the named executive officer’s stretch bonus, without any prorated adjustment.
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We have not taken into account the possibility that a named executive officer may be eligible to
receive healthcare benefits from another source following his or her termination. Therefore, the
amounts shown in the “Healthcare Coverage” row in the tables below reflect the cost to provide
continued healthcare coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of

1985 (COBRA) throughout the full period provided by the named executive officer’s employment
agreement. In addition to the amounts inciuded in the “Healthcare Coverage” row in the tables below,
a named executive officer who receives continued healthcare benefits following an involuntary
termination without cause or a termination in connection with a change in control would be entitled
to receive reimbursement of the taxes for which the executive is liable as a result of such continued
healthcare coverage.

The amounts shown in the “Long-Term Disability Benefit” row in the tables below represent 67% of
the executive's monthly salary, up to a maximum of $25,000 per month. This benefit is payable until
the executive is no longer disabled or age 65, whichever occurs earlier. Due to the speculative nature
of estimating the period of time during which an executive may be disabled, we have presented only
one month of disability benefits in the tables below.

In addition to the amounts included in the “Termination in Connection with a Change in Control”
and “Change in Control” columns in the tables below, if the payments received in connection with a
change in control constitute an “excess parachute payment” under Section 280G(b) of the IRC, the
named executive officer shall receive reimbursement of any excise tax under Section 4999 of the IRC
or, in the case of Mr. Fishman and Mr. Cooper, reduce the executive’s benefits under his employment
agreement to the extent necessary to become one dollar less than the amount that would generate
such excise tax, if this reduction results in a larger after-tax amount as compared to the excise tax
reimbursement method applicable to all other named executive officers.

The amounts in the “Accelerated Equity Awards” / “Change in Control (irrespective of termination)”
cell in the tables below include the value of all unvested stock options that were in-the-money at the
end of fiscal 2006 (minus the aggregate stock option exercise prices) and all unvested restricted stock
that would have had their vesting accelerated had a change in control occurred as the end of fiscal
2006. The closing market price of our common shares on February 2, 2007, the final trading day on
the NYSE during fiscal 2006, was $26.00 per share. This amount does not reflect any equity awards
that have vested or have been granted in fiscal 2007.

Steven S. Fishman

The following table reflects the payments that may be due to Mr. Fishman in the event of a change in control or
his employment with us is terminated under a variety of circumstances.

Event Occurring at February 3, 2007

Involuntary [Inveluntary Termination Change in
Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Centrol
with without Voluntary upon upon with a Change (irrespective of
Cause Cause Termination  Disability Death in Control termination)
IS:'a]'arj,rlSalary Continuation (3) at 1,920,000 — 480,000 — 1,520,000 — ]
Non-Eauit At Target Bonus
on-tauty Level ($) — 816,000  — 816,000 816,000 — —
Incentive Plan
Compensation At Stretch Bonus
Level (3) — 1,632,000 — 1,632,000 1,632,000 3,264,000 —
Heathcare Coverage (3) — 42,497 — 10,626 — 42,497 —
E_(i_ﬁg-Tefm Disability Benefit (3) — " — 25,000 — — — J
Use of Automobile/Automobile
Allowance ($) — 14,144 — — — — — |
Wecelerated Equity Awards (3) — — - — — — 12,555,092 | ‘
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Joe R. Cooper

The following table reflects the payments that may be due to Mr. Cooper in the event of a change in control or
his employment with us is terminated under a variety of circumstances.

Event Occurring at February 3, 2007

Involuntary lovoluntary . Termination Change in
Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control
with without Voluntary upon upon with a Change (irrespective of
Causc Cause Termination  Disahility Death in Centrol termination)
-
Salary/Salary Continuation (S) — 375,000 — 187,500 — 750,000 — J
Non-Eauit At Target Bonus .
on-Equity Level ($) — 187,500 — 187,500 187,500 — —
Incentive Plan
Compensation At Stretch Bonus P
Level ($) — 375,000 — 375,000 375000 . 750,000 —
Heathcare Coverage ($) — 21,248 — 10,626 —_ 42,496 —
Long-Term Disability Benefit ($) — — — 20,937 — — — |
Use of Automobile/Automobile
Allowance (3) — 11,406 — — — — —
'Accelerated Equity Awards (3) — - - — — - 1,101,624 |

Brad A. Waite

The following table reflects the payments that may be due to Mr. Waite in the event of a change in control or his
employment with us is terminated under a variety of circumstances. Additionally, assuming his employment
terminated on February 3, 2007, the estimated lump-sum present value of Mr. Waite’s benefit under the Pension
Plan and Supplemental Pension plan would have been $160,091.

Event Occurring at February 3, 2007

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in
Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control
with without Voluntary upon upon with a Change (irrespective of
Cause Cause Termination  Disability Death in Control termination)
H
Salary/Salary Continuation ($) — 520,000 — 260,000 — 1,040,000 —
Non-Eauit At Target Bonus
on-Equity Level (3) — 390,000 — 390,000 390,000 — —
[ncentive Plan
Compensation At Stretch Bonus .
Level (3) — 780,000 —— 780,000 780,000 1,560,000 o
Heathcare Coverage ($) —_ 21,248 — 10,626 — 21,248 —
Long-Term Disability Benefit (§) — — — 25,000 — T S|
Use of Automobile/Automobile ’
Allowance ($) — 12,000 — —_ — — —
‘Accelerated Equity Awards ($) — — — — — — 1,534,678 |
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John C. Martin

“The following table reflects the payments that may be due to Mr. Martin in the event of a change in control or
his employment with us is terminated under a variety of circumstances.

Event Occurring at February 3, 2007

I;woluntary Involuntary ’ Termination Change in
Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control
with without Voluntary upon upon with a Change (irrespective of
Cause Cause Termination  Disability Death in Controel termination)
Salary/Salary Continuation () - oT— . 475000 — 237,500 — 950,000 — J
Non-Equity At Target Bonus . <
on-Bauiy Level (3) — 285,000 — 285,000 285,000 — —
Incentive Plan — e —~
Compensation . At Stretch-Bonus - Dhee . . : _
" Level(3) . — - 570,000 o 570,000 570,000 1,140,000 —
Heathcare Coverage (3) C— 0~ 13,146 . - — . 6,576 — 13,146
Long-Term Disability Benefit (§) - - — — — 25,000 — — — |
Use of Automobile/Automobile .
Allowance ($) — 12,000 — — — - —
Accelerated Equity Awards ($) S — o — — — — 767,810 |

Lisa M. Baclqmann

The following table reflects the payments that may be due to Ms. Bachmann in the event of a change in control
or her employment with us is terminated under a variety of circumstances.

Evelit Occurring at Fef)ruary 3,2007

., Inveluntary Inveluntary - . Termination Change in
Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Contrel
with without Voluntary upon upen with a Change (irrespective of
. Cause Cause Termination  Disability Death in Control termination)
'_ ) . P N
Salary/Salary Continuation (3) -~ "%, — 400,000 — 200,000 — 800,000 — J
- Non-Equit At Target Bonus . . ) ‘
on-tquity Level (5) — 200,000 — 200,000 200,000 — —
Incentive Plan o e e . -
Compensation At Sqetch:Bqnug:_r.;:; S _
Level(3) ..~ -~ — 400,000 — 400,000 - 400,000 800,000 —
Heathcare Coverage (8) — 21,248 — 10,626 — 21,248 —
Long-Term Disability Benefit($). -~ . -~ —  ° — — 22,333 — S — |
Use of Automobile/Automobile ' . :
Allowance (3) : — 10,800 — — — — -
Accelerated Equity Awards (3). .~ — — — ~— — — 1,101,624 |
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AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE

General Information

The Audit Committee consists of three outside directors of the Board. Big Lots” common shares are listed
on the NYSE. The members of the Audit Committee have been reviewed by the Board and determined to be
independent within the meaning of all applicable SEC regulations and the listing standards of the NYSE.

The charter of the Audit Committee states that the purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its
oversight of: :

. the integrity of our financial statements and financial reporting process, and our systems of internal
accounting and financial controls;

e our compliance with legal and regulatory requirementé, including our disclosure controls and -
procedures; .

s the annual independent audit of our financial statements, the engagement of the independent auditor,
and the evaluation of the independent auditor’s qualifications, independence and performance;

»  the performance of our internal audit function;
e the evaluation of enterprise risk issues; and
o the fulfillment of other responsibilities set forth in its charter.

The full text of the Audit Committee’s charter is available in the Investors section of our website
(www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance” caption. The Audit Committee regularly reviews its
responsibilities as outlined in its charter, prepares an annual agenda to include all of its responsibilities, conducts a
self-assessment and review of the charter annually, and believes it fulfilled its responsibilities thereunder in fiscal
2006. '

The Audit Committee schedules its meetings with a view towards ensuring that it devotes appropriate attention
to all of its responsibilities. The Audit Committee’s meetings include, whenever appropriate, executive sessions
with the independent auditor and the internal audit service provider, in each case without the presence of
management, and discussions with our Chief Financial Officer and internal auditor in separate sessions, in each
case¢ without the presence of additional members of management. The Audit Committee also meets in executive
session without the presence of anyone else, whenever appropriate.

During the course of fiscal 2006, management completed the documentation, testing and evaluation of our
system of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the requirements set forth in Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations. The Audit Committee was apprised of the progress
of the evaluation and provided oversight and advice to management during the process. In connection with

its oversight, the Audit Committee received periodic updates provided by management and the independent
auditor at each regularly scheduled Audit Committee meeting. The Audit Committee also reviewed the report of
management contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2006, as well as the independent auditor’s
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K related
to its audit of (1) our consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, (2) management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and (3) the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee continues to oversee efforts related to our system of
internal control over financial reporting and management’s preparations for the evaluation thereof in fiscal
2007. The Audit Committee has also reviewed key initiatives and programs aimed at strengthening the
effectiveness of our internal and disclosure control structure.

Independent Auditor -

The Audit Committee engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent auditor to audit our financial
statements for fiscal 2006. Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as our independent auditor since October 1989.
The Audit Committee annually selects our independent auditor.
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Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy

The Audit Committee has also considered whether the independent auditor’s provision of any non-audit services

to Big Lots is compatible with maintaining its independence. Consistent with the Audit Commitice’s Audit

and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy, all audit and non-audit services rendered by Deloitte & Touche

LLP in fiscal 2006, including the related fees, were pre-approved by the Audit Committee. Under the policy,

the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services performed by the
independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of those services does not impair the independent auditor’s
independence. Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of service and is subject to a specific
engagement authorization, The Audit Committee requires the independent auditor and management to report on
the actual fees incurred for each category of service at Audit Committee meetings throughout the year.

During the year, it may become necessary to engage the independent auditor for additional services which have
not been approved. In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the
independent auditor. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members
for those instances when pre-approval is needed prior to a scheduled Audit Committee meeting. The member
or members to whom pre-approval authority is delegated must report any pre-approval decisions to the Audit
Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

Fees Paid to Independent Auditor

The fees incurred by us for the professional services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP during the two most
recently completed fiscal years were as follows:

Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005

(8 in thousands) ' (5) )
lsudit Fees 1,437 1,627 |
Audit-Related Fees (/) 15 109
ifax Fees (2) 112 25 ]
All Other Fees — —
iTotal Fees 1,664 1,761 |

(1) Principally audits of employee benefit plans and accounting consultation.
(2) Principally tax planning and tax compliance services.

Audit Committee Report

In connection with the audited financial statements for fiscal 2006, the Audit Committee has reviewed and
discussed the audited financial statements with management and the independent auditor. Management has

the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process. The Audit Committee has
discussed with the independent auditor the matters required to be discussed by SAS No. 61 (Codification of
Statements on Auditing Standards, AU Section 380), as modified or supplemented. The Audit Committee has
received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditor required by Independence Standards
Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), as modified or supplemented, and
has discussed the independent auditor’s independence with the independent auditor.

As part of this process, the Audit Committee continued to monitor the scope and adequacy of Big Lots™ internal
auditing program, reviewing staffing levels and steps taken to implement recommended improvements in
internal procedures and controls. Based on these reviews and discussions, the undersigned members of the
Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in
Big Lots’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2006 for filing with the SEC.

Members of the Audit Committee

Philip E. Mallott, Chair
Russell Solt
James R. Tener
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PROPOSAL TWO: RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS
BIG LOTS’ INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR FISCAL 2007

At its March 8, 2007, meeting, the Audit Committee appointed Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent
auditor for fiscal 2007. The submission of this matter for approval by shareholders is not legally required,;
however, we believe that such submission is consistent with best practices in corporate governance and

is another opportunity for shareholders to provide direct feedback on an important issue of our corporate
governance. If the shareholders do not approve the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the
selection of such firm as our independent auditor will be reconsidered by the Audit Committee. .

A representative of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate
questions and to make a statement if so desired.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FQR THE PROPOSAL TO
RATIFY THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT
"~ AUDITOR FOR FISCAL 2007. _ T

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any proposals of shareholders which are intended to be presented at the 2008 annual meeting of shareholders
must be received by our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices on or before December 14, 2007 to be
eligible for inclusion in our 2008 proxy statement. Such proposals must be submitted in accordance with

Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act. If a shareholder intends to present a proposal at the 2008 annual meeting of
shareholders, but has not sought the inclusion of such a proposal in our 2008 proxy statement, such proposal
must be received by our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices by February 27, 2008, or our management
proxies will be entitled to use their discretionary voting authority should such proposal then be raised, without
any discussion of the matter in our 2008 proxy statement.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Our fiscal 2006 Annuat Report on Form 10-K is included with this Proxy Statement in our 2006 Annual Report
to Shareholders. Sharcholders may also receive a copy of our fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K without
charge by writing to: Investor Relations Department, Big Lots, Inc., 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio 43228~
5311. The fiscal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K may also be accessed in the [nvestors section of our website
(www.biglots.com) under the “SEC Filings” caption.

PROXY SOLICITATION COSTS

This solicitation of proxies is made by and on behalf of the Board. In addition to mailing copies of this Proxy
Statement, the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Sharcholders, and the accompanying proxy card
to all shareholders of record on the record date, we will request brokers, banks and other holders of record

to forward copies of this material to persons for whom they hold Big Lots common shares in order that such
common shares may be voted. Solicitation may also-be made by our officers and regular employees personally
or by telephone, mail or electronic mail. Officers and employees who assist with solicitation will not receive
any additional compensation. The cost of the solicitation will be borne by Big Lots. We have also retained
Georgeson Inc. to aid in the solicitation of proxies for a fee estimated to be £8,000, plus reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses.
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OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, we know of no business that will be presented for consideration at

the Annual Meeting other than as referred to in Proposal One and Proposal Two above. If any other matter is
properly brought before the Annual Meeting for action by shareholders, common shares represented by proxies
in the enclosed form returned to us will be voted on such matter in accordance with the recommendations of the
Board.

By order of the Board of Directors,

CHARLES W. HAUBIEL II
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

April 12, 2007
Columbus, Ohio
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PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Big Lots, Inc., an Ohio corporation, through its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as
“we,” “us,” “our,” or “Company”), is the nation’s largest broadline closeout retailer. In addition to closeout
merchandise, we stock products that our customers would expect to be able to obtain on a consistent basis at our
stores. Qur merchandise may not always be the same brand or may be off-brand because we attempt to provide
our customers with the best value available. At February 3, 2007, we operated a total of 1,375 stores in 47 states.
Our goal is to build upon our leadership position in broadline closeout retailing by providing our customers
with great savings on brand-name closeouts and other value-priced merchandise. Our website is located at
www.biglots.com. The contents of our website are not part of this report.

We follow the concept of a 52-53 week fiscal year, which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal
year 2006, which ended February 3, 2007, was comprised of 53 weeks. Fiscal years 2005 and 2004, which
ended January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively, were comprised of 52 weeks.

We manage our business on the basis of one segment: broadline closeout retailing. Please refer to the
consolidated financial statements and related Notes in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) for

our financial information. We internally evaluate and externally communicate overall sales and merchandise
performance based on the following key merchandising categories: Consumables, Home, Seasonal and toys, and
Other. The Consumables category includes food, health and beauty, plastics, paper, and pet departments. The
Home category includes furniture, domestics, and home décor departments, Seasonal and toys includes toys,
lawn & garden, trim-a-tree, and various holiday-oriented departments. The Other category primarily includes
electronics, apparel, home maintenance, small appliances, and tools. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements in this Form 10-K for the net sales results of these categories for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004,

In May 2001, Big Lots, Inc. was incorporated in Ohio and was the surviving entity in a merger with
Consolidated Stores Corporation, a Delaware corporation. By virtue of the merger, Big Lots, Inc. succeeded to
all the business, properties, assets, and liabilities of Consolidated Stores Corporation. :

Qur principal executive offices are located at 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Chio 43228, and our telephone
number is (614) 278-6800. All of our operations were located within the United States of America at February 3,
2007, and January 28, 2006.

Associates

At February 3, 2007, we had 38,738 active associates comprised of 15,467 full-time and 23,271 part-time
associates. Temporary associates hired during the fall and winter holiday selling season increased the number
of associates to a peak of 48,362 in (iscal year 2006. Approximately 60% of the associates employed throughout
the year are employed on a part-time basis. Qur relationship with our associates is considered to be good, and
we are not a party to any labor agreements. - '

Closeout Retailing

We attempt to maximize the amount of closeout merchandise available in our stores and attempt to offer

~ merchandise with great value to our customers. In addition, we work closely with our suppliers to obtain
merchandise, including top brand merchandise that is easily recognizable by our customers. Closeout retailers
purchase merchandise that generally results from production overruns, packaging changes, discontinued
products, or returns. As a result, closeout retailers can generally purchase most merchandise at lower costs and
offer most merchandise at lower prices than those paid and offered by.-traditional discount retailers.




Retail Operations

The following table compares the number of stores in operation at the beginning and end of each of the prior
five fiscal years:

Fiscal Year .

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Stores open at the beginning of the fiscal year. ... .. 1,401 I,502- 1,430 1,380 1,335
Stores opened during the fiscal year. ... .......... 11 . 73 103 86 87
Stores closed during the fiscal year. . ........... .. (37) (174) . (31) (36) . (42)
Stores open at the end of the fiscal year.......... 1,375 i,401 1,502 1,430 1,380

As part of our real estate strategy initiated in fiscal year 2005, we have focused our efforts on managing our
existing store base to drive improved profitability as opposed to opening a high number of new stores. Asa
result, we opened fewer stores in fiscal year 2006 than in prior years; and, we expect to continue to open a
similar number of stores in fiscal year 2007.

The following table details the store locations by state at February 3,7 2007

Alabama ......... 29 o Maine . .......... 3 Chio............. 107
Arizona.......... 34 Maryland. .. ...... 12 - . Oklahoma ........ 17
Arkansas......... 10 Massachusetts. . . .. 14 Oregon .......... 13
California ........ 188 Michigan......... 42 Pennsylvania. . ... . 61
Colorado ......... 22 Minnesota........ 6 Rhode Island. .. ... 1
Connecticut. ... ... 6 Mississippi ....... 15 South Carolina . . .. 29
Delaware......... 2 - Missouri ......... 25 Tennessee ........ 42
Florida........... 104 * Montana ......... 2 Texas............ 112
Georgia.......... 57 : Nebraska.:....... 3 ' Utah............. 10
Idaho............ 5 Nevada .......... 14 _ Vermont .. ....... 4
Mlinois. ......... .. 33 New Hampshire ... 7 Virginia. . ........ 36
Indiana .......... 44 New Jersey ....... 13 Washington. ... ... 19
fowa. ............ 3 New Mexico . ..... 13 West Virginia . .. .. 18
Kansas......... .. 10 New York ........ 45 Wisconsin, . ...... 15
Kentucky.......7. 40 North Carolina ."... 60 Wyoming. ........ 2
Louisiana. ........ 24 North Dakota .. ... 2 Total stores. . .. ... 1,375

Number of states . . 47

Of our 1,375 stores, 511 stores operate in four states: California, Ohio, Texas, and Florida.

Competition -

We operate in the highly competitive retail industry and face strong sales competition from other general
merchandise, discount, food, arts and crafts, and dollar store retailers. Additionally, we compete with a number
of companies for retail site locations, attracting and retaining quality employees, and acquiring our broad
assortment of closeout merchandise from suppliers.

Purchasing

An integral part of our business is the sourcing and purchasing of quality, brand-name merchandise directly
from manufacturers and other vendors typically at prices substantially below those paid by traditional retailers.
We believe that we have built strong relationships with many brand-name vendors and we have capitalized on
our purchasing power in the closeout marketplace to source merchandise that provides exceptional value to our
customers. We have the ability to source and purchase significant quantities of a vendor’s closeout merchandise
in specific product categories and to control distribution in accordance with vendor instructions, thus providing
a high level of service and convenience to these vendors. Our sourcing channels also include bankruptcies,
liguidations, and insurance claims. We supplement our traditional brand-name closeout purchases with various




direct import and domestically-sourced merchandise items in departments such as furniture, home décor, and
seasonal. We expect that the unpredictability of the retait and manufacturing environments coupled with our
dominant purchasing power position will continue to enhance our ability to source quality closeout merchandise
at competitive prices. )

We have a buying team with extensive closeout purchasing experience, which we believe has enabled us to
develop successful long-term relationships with many of the largest and most recognized vendors in the United
States. We belleve that, as a result of these relationships and our experience and reputation in the closeout
industry, many vendors offer buying opportunmes to us prior to attempting to dispose of their merchandise
through other channels

Our merchandise is purchased from domestic and foreign suppllers that provide us with multiple sources for
each product category. In fiscal year 2006, our top ten vendors accounted for 12% of total purchases (at cost)
while the largest vendor accounted for approximately 2% of the aggregate.

During fiscal year 2006, we purchased approximately 24% of our merchandise directly from overseas suppliers,
including 19% from.vendors located in China. Additionally, a significant amount of our domestically-purchased -
merchandise is manufactured abroad. As a result, a significant portion of our merchandise supply is subject to..
certain risks as described further in Item 1A in this Form 10-K.

Warehouse and Distribution

The majority of the merchandise sold by us is received and processed for retail sale, as necessary, and
distributed to the retail locations from our warehouses and distribution facilities. Even though we significantly -
reduced the inventory levels carried in our distribution centers in fiscal year 2006, we continue to carry a
substantial amount of merchandise inventory in our distribution centers so that we can distribute merchandise -
quickly and efficiently to our stores in order to maximize sales. We have located and managed our distribution '
facilities to enable quick turn of time-sensitive products while attempting to minimize transportation costs and |
the distance from distribution facilities to our stores. We monitor inventory levels and take markdowns on aged
or slow moving items in order to improve the inventory turnover rate. During fiscal year 2006, we initiated a
vendor compliance program aimed at improving the timeliness and flow of inventory through our distribution
facilities.

For a further discussion of the warehouses and distribution facilities, refer to the Warchouse and Distribution
section under [tem 2 in this Form 10-K.

Advertising and Promotion

Our advertising and promotion program in fiscal year 2006 was designed to continue to build awareness of the
Big Lots® brand by featuring the broad range of quality, brand-name merchandise available at closeout prices,
which we believe provides customers a significant value. We use a variety of marketing approaches through
television, internet, and print media to promote our brand to the public. These approaches may vary by market
and by season.

In order to expand our customer base and increase our overall level of top-of-mind brand awareness, we use
national television advertising that covers all stores in all markets. ‘

Our marketing program also utilizes printed ad'vertising circulars in all markets that are served by our stores.

In fiscal year 2006, we distributed multi-page circulars covering 26 weeks. The method of distribution included '
a combination of newspaper insertions and mailings. These circulars were designed by us and were distributed
regionally to take advantage of market differences caused by product availability, climate, and customer
preferences. In fiscal year 2006, we shifted total advertising dollars that historically would have been incurred
in lower sales volume quarters to the seasonally higher sales volume fourth quarter. In fiscal year 2007, we
expect to distribute circulars covering 26 weeks. In addition, store promotions, including in-store signage,
emphasize special bargains and significant values offered to customers. Lastly, we overhauled our website




s S

(www.biglots.com) in the second half of fiscal year 2006 in order to improve the efficiency of communicating
with our customers using the internet. We believe we have an opportunity to expand our use of the internet in
our marketing efforts to our customers.

Over the past five fiscal years, total advertising cxpense as a percentage of total net sales has ranged from 2.2%
to 2.6%. In fiscal year 2006, advertising expense as a percentage of total net sales was 2.2%.

We utilize trademarks, service marks, and other intangible assets in our retail operations. We consider our
intellectual property to be valuable and where applicable, we have registered or have applications pending to
register our trademarks and service marks with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. We believe that
having distinctive intellectual property is an important factor in identifying our business and distinguishing us
from others.

Seasonality

We have historically experienced, and expect to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations, with a larger

* percentage of our net sales and operating profit realized in the fourth fiscal quarter. In addition, our quarterly
results can be affected by the timing of new store openings and store closings, the amount of sales contributed
by new and existing stores, the timing of television and circular advertising, and the timing of certain holidays.
We historically purchase a higher proportion of merchandise, and thus carry higher inventory levels, and incur
higher outbound shipping and payroll expenses in the third fiscal quarter in anticipation of the increased sales
activity during the fourth fiscal quarter.

The seasonality of our business influences our demand for seasonal borrowings. We historicaily have drawn
upon our credit facilities to fund seasonal working capital needs and have substantially repaid these borrowings
during the fourth fiscal quarter. We expect that we may have borrowings at various times throughout fiscal
year 2007 under our $500.0 million unsecured credit facility entered into in fiscal year 2004 (the “2004

Credit Agreement™). Given the seasonality of our business, the amount of borrowings under the 2004 Credit
Agreement may fluctuate materially depending on various factors, including the time of the year, our need to
acquire merchandise inventory, and the timing of the execution of the $600.0 million share repurchase program
authorized by our Board of Directors in March 2007.

Available Information

We make available, free of charge, through the “Investors” section of our website (www.biglots.com) under
the “SEC Filings” caption, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current

. Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securltles
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC").

In this Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference certain information from parts of our Proxy Statcment for our
2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2007 Proxy Statement™).

Information relating to our corporate governance, including: Corporate Governance Standards; charters of the '
~ Board’s Audit, Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate Governance Committees; Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics; Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals; Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
“certifications related to our SEC filings; the means by which shareholders may communicate with our Board
of Directors; and transactions in our securities by our directors and executive officers may be found in the
“Investors” section of our web site (www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance™ and “SEC Filings”
captions. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is applicable to ail of our associates, including our directors
and our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal dccounting officer. The Code of
Ethics for Financial Professionals for our Chief Executive Officer and all other Senior Financial Officers (as
that term is defined therein), contains provisions specifically applicable to the individuals serving in those
positions. We intend to post amendments to and watvers from, if any, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics




(to the extent applicable to the Company’s directors and executive officers) and our Code of Ethics for Financtal
Professionals in the “Investors” section of our web site (www.biglots.com) under the “Corporate Governance”
caption. The Company will provide any of the foregoing information without charge upon written request to our
Corporate Secretary. The contents of our website are not part of this report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section describe the major risks to our business and should be considered carefully. In
addition, these statements constitute our cautlonary statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995,

Our disclosure and analysis in this Form 10-K and in our 2006 Annual Report to Shareholders contain some
forward-looking statements that set forth ant|c1pated results based on management’s plans and assumptions.
From time to time, we also provide forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public as
well as oral forward-looking statements. Such statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future
events; they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. We have tried, wherever possible, to identify such
statements by using words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “objective,” “goal,” “project,” “intend,”
“plan,” “believe,” “will,” “target,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “outlook,” and similar expressions in connection with
any discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these include statements relating

to future actions, future performance, or results of current and anticipated products, sales efforts, expenses,
interest rates, the outcome of contingencies, such as legal proceedings, and financial results.
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We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been
prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties, and
potentially inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could differ materially from past results and those
anticipated, estimated, or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward- looking statements.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
thereof. We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwisc. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC.

Also note that we provide the following cautionary discussion of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions relevant
to our businesses. There can be no assurances that we have correctly and completely identified, assessed, and
accounted for all factors that do or may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
liquidity. These are factors that, individually or in the aggregate, we think could cause our actual results to
differ materially from expected and historical results. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we
believe to be immaterial also may adversely impact us. Should any risks or uncertainties develop into actual
events, these developments could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and liquidity. Consequently, ail of the forward-looking statements are qualified by these cautionary
statements, and there can be no assurance that the results or developments anticipated by us will be realized

or that they will have the expected effects on our business or operations. We note these factors for investors as
permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You should understand that it is not possible
to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider the following to be a complete
discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties.

Our ability to achieve the resulis contemplated by forward-looking statements is subject to a number of
factors, any one, or a combination, of which could materially affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, or liquidity. These factors may include, but are not limited to:




If we are unable to continue to successfully execute our operating strategies, our operating performance
could be significantly impacted.

While our operating results improved during fiscal year 2006, our historical financial performance includes
periods of poor performance. For example, operating profit declined during fiscal years 2004 and 2005. The
decline in operating profit was due to lower gross margin percentages, higher selling and administrative
expense, and higher depreciation expense. Additionally, the operating results of fiscal year 2005 were
negatively impacted by charges associated with our “WIN™ Strategy, as discussed in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. We are attempting to reverse this historical
operating trend through the execution of a number of strategies in our merchandising, marketing, and real estate
areas while reducing selling and administrative costs. In fiscal year 2006, we were able to deliver comparable
store sales growth and expand operating margins. There is a risk that we will be unable to do this in the future,
if our strategies are not successful. :

If we are unable to compete effectively in the highly competitive discount retail industry, our business and
results of operations may be materially adversely affected. '

The discount retail business.is highly competitive. As discussed in Item 1 of this Form 10-K, we compete for
customers, employees, products, and other aspects of our business with a number of other companies. Certain
of our competitors have greater financial, distribution, marketing, and other resources that may be devoted

to sourcing, promoting, and selling their merchandise. It is possible that increased competition or improved
performance by our competitors may reduce our market share, gross margin, and projected operating results,
and may materially adversely affect our business and results of operations in other ways.

A decline in general economic condition, consumer spending levels, and other conditions could lead to
reduced consumer demand for our merchandise thereby materially adversely affecting our revenues and
gross margin.

. Our resuits of operations can be directly impacted by the health of the United States’ economy. Our business
and financial performance may be adversely impacted by current and future economic conditions, including
consumer debt levels, disposable income levels, unemployment levels, energy costs, interest rates, recession,
inflation, the impact of natural disasters and terrorist activities, and other matters that influence consumer
spending. The economies of four states {Ohio, Texas, California, and Florida) are particularly important as
approximately 37% of our current stores operate in these states and 38.5% of our fiscal year 2006 net retail sales
occurred in these states.

Changes by vendors related to the management of their inventories may reduce the quantity and quality of
brand-name closeout merchandise available to us or may increase our cost to acquire brand-name closeout
merchandise, either of which may materially adversely affect our revenues and gross margin.

- The products we sold are sourced from a variety of vendors. We cannot control the supply, design, function,
or cost of many of the preducts that we offer for sale. We depend upon the availability and pricing of closeout
merchandise. To the extent that our vendors are better able to manage their inventory levels and reduce the
amount of their excess inventory, the amount of closeout merchandise available to us could be materially
reduced. If disruptions occur in the availability of closeout merchandise, it is likely to have a material adverse
effect on our sales and may result in customer dissatisfaction.

We rely on foreign sources for significant amounts of merchandise; therefore, our business may be
materially adversely affected by risks associated with international trade.

Global sourcing of many of the products we sell is an important factor in driving higher profit margins. During
fiscal year 2006, we purchased approximately 24% of our products directly from overseas suppliers including
19% from vendors located in China. Our ability to find qualified vendors and to access products in a timely and
efficient manner is a significant challenge, especially with respect to goods sourced outside of the United States.
Increased import duties, increased shipping costs, more restrictive quotas, loss of “most favored nation” trading
status, currency and exchange rate fluctuations, work stoppages, transportation delays, economic uncertainties




including inflation, foreign government regulations, political unrest, natural disasters, war, terrorism, and trade
restrictions, including retaliation by the United States against foreign practices, political instability, the financial
stability of suppliers, merchandise quality issues, tariffs, and other factors relating to foreign trade are beyond
our control. These and other issues affecting our vendors could adversely affect our business and financial
performance. '

Our inability to properly manage our inventory levels and offer merchandise that our customers want may
materially adversely impact our business and financial performance.

We must maintain sufficient inventory levels to operate our business successfully. However, we also must guard
against accumulating excess inventory as we seek to minimize out-of-stock levels across all product categories
and to maintain appropriate in-stock levels. We obtain approximately 24% of our inventory from vendors
outside of the United States. These vendors often require lengthy advance notice of our requirements in order
to be able to supply products in the quantitics that we request. This usually requires us to order merchandise,
and enter into purchase order contracts for the purchase and manufacture of such merchandise, well in advance
of the time these products will be offered for sale. As a result, we may experience difficulty in responding to

a changing retail environment, which makes us vulnerable to changes in price and in consumer preferences.

If we do not accurately anticipate future demand for a particular product or the time it will take to obtain new
inventory, our inventory levels will not be appropriate and our results of opcrations may be negatively impacted.

We may be subject to periodic litigation and regulatory proceedings, including Fi air Labor Standards Act
and state wage and hour class action lawsuits, which may adversely affect our business and financial
performance.

From time to time, we may be involved in lawsuits and regulatory actions, including various class action
lawsuits that are brought against us for alleged violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act (the “FLSA”) and state
wage and hour laws. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate
outcome of any such proceedings. The ultimate resolution of these matters could have a material adverse

impact on our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. In addition, regardless of the outcome,
these proceedings could result in substantial cost and may require us to devote substantial resources to defend
ourselves. For a description of current legal proceedings, see Notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements in this Form 10-K.

We may be subject to risks associated with changes in laws, regulations, and accounting standards that may
adversely affect our business and financial performance.

Changes in governmental regulations and accounting standards, including new interpretations and applications
of accounting standards, may have adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations, and
liquidity. o

The creditworthiness of our formerly owned KB Toys business may adversely affect our business and
Sfinancial performance.

In December 2000, we sold the KB Toys business to KB Acquisilion'Corpo}ation. On January 14, 2004,

KB Acquisition Corporation and certain affiliated entities (collectively, “KB Toys™) filed for bankruptcy
protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code. At the time of the bankruptcy filing,
we had indemnification and guarantee obligations (“KB Lease Obligations™) with respect to approximately
390 KB Toys store leases and other real property leases. The typical KB Lease Obligation provides that the
terms of the underlying lease may be extended, amended, or modified without the consent of the guarantor.
KB Toys emerged from bankruptcy during fiscal year 2005. Since its emergence, we continue to have KB .
Lease Obligations with respect to approximately 84 remaining KB Toys store leases and KB Toys’ main office
building. If KB Toys fails to perform on the remaining leases guaranteed or indemnified by us, it could result
in a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. For additional
information regarding the KB Toys bankruptcy, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
Form 10-K.




Cur inability, if any, to comply with the terms of the 2004 Credit Agreement may have a material adverse
effect on our capital resources, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. '

We may borrow funds under the 2004 Credit Agreement at various times during fiscal year 2007 depending
on operating cash flow requirements and the timing of the execution of the $600.0 million share repurchase
authorized by the Board of Directors in March 2007. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains financial and other
covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments, as well as the
maintenance of two financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. ‘A violation of these
covenants may permit the lenders to restrict our ability to further access loans and letters of credit and require
the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans. If our financial performance is not in compliance with
these covenants, it may have a material adverse effect on our capital resources, financial condition, results of
operanons and liquidity.

If we.are unable to maintain or upgrade our information systems and software programs or if we are unable
{0 convert to alternate systems in an efficient and ttmely manner, our operations may be dlsrupled or become
less effi caem‘.

We depend on a variety of information systems for the efficient functioning of our business. We rely on

certain software vendors to maintain and periodically upgrade many of these systems so that they can continue
to support our business. The software programs supporting many of our systems were licensed to us by
independent software developers. Costs and potential interruptions associated with the implementation of new
or upgraded systems and technology, including the new point-of-sale system, or with maintenance or adequate -
support of existing systems could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of our business.

If we are unable to retain suitable store locattons under Jfavorable lease terms, our financial performance
may be negatively affected. :

We lease almost all of our stores, and a significant number of these leases expire each fiscal year. Our
financial performance is dependent upon growing sales in each store. 1f we are not able to negotiate favorable
lease renewals, including the propet determination of which leases to renew, our f'man(:lal position, results of
operations, and liquidity may be negatlvely affected.

If we are unable to secure customer, employee, and company data onr reputation could be damaged and we
could be subject to penalties or laWSmts

The protection of our customer, employee and company data is critical to us. The regulatory environment
surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly demandmg, with frequent imposition of new and _
constantly changing requirements across our business, In addition, our customers have a high expectation that
we will adequately protect their personal information. A significant breach of customer, employee, or company
data could damage our reputation and result in lost sales, fines, and/or lawsuits.

If we lose key personnel, it }night have a material adverse i'mpact on our future results of operations.

We believe that we benefit substantially from the leadership and experience of our senior executives. The loss
of services of any of these individuals could have a material adverse impact on our business. Competition for
key personnel in the retail industry is intense and our future success will aiso depend on our ablllty to recruit,
train, and retain other quahﬁed personnel.

The price of our common shares as traded on the New York Stock Exchange may be volatile.

Our stock price may fluctuate substantially as a result of quarter to quarier variations in our actual or
anticipated financial results or in actual or anticipated results of other companies in the retail industry or
markets that we serve. In addition, the stock market has experienced price and volume fluctuations that have
affected the market price of many retail and other stocks and that have often been unrelated or disproportionate
to the operating performance of these companies. ‘ :
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We may also be subject to a number of other factors which may individually or in the aggregate, materially
affect our business. These factors include, but are not limited to:

¢ The effect of fuel price fluctuations on our transportation costs and customer purchases;

s  Events or circumstances could occur which could create bad publicity for us which may negatively
impact various business results including sales;

. Infringement of our intellectual property, mcluding the Big Lots trademark, could dilute our value;
e Qur ability to attract and retain suitable employees;
e Our ability to establish effective advertising, marketing, and promotional programs; and

. bthér risks described from time to time in our filings with the SEC.

'ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTI]ES

Retail Operations

Our stores are located in the United States, predominantly in strip shopping centers, and have an average store
size of approximately 29,700 gross square feet, of which an average of 21,400 square feet is selling square feet.
The average cost to open a new store in a leased facility during fiscal year 2006 was approximately $0.9 million,
including cost of inventory. '

With the exception of 52 owned store sites, all stores are leased. Store leases generally provide for fixed monthly
rental payments plus the payment, in most cases, of real estate taxes, common area maintenance (“CAM”),

and property insurance. In some locations, the leases provide formulas requiring the payment of a percentage

of sales as additional rent. Such payments generally are required only when sales exceed a specified level. The
typical lease is for an initial term of five to ten years with multiple five-year renewal options. 67 store leases
have sales termination clauses which can result in our exiting a location at our option if certain sales volume
results are not achieved as indicated in the agreed upon lease conditions.

The following table summarizes the number of store lease expirations in each of the next five fiscal years
and thereafter. The information includes stores with more than one lease and leases for stores not yet open. It
excludes month-to-month leases and owned locations.

Fiscal Year:
2007 ...l PR S IR 193
2008 e e 253
2009 L PR 257
2000, . e e 209
2000 . e e 209

Thereafter . . o o e e e e e 203

Warehouse and Distribution

At February 3, 2007, we operated warehouse and distribution facilities strategically placed across the United
States totaling approximately 10.2 million square feet. Qur primary warehouse and distribution facilities are
owned and located in Ohio, California, Alabama, Oklahoma, and Pennsylvania. The facilities utilize advanced
warehouse management technology, which enables high accuracy and efficient product processing from vendors
to our retail stores. The combined output of our facilities was approximately 2.6 million cartons per week in
fiscal year 2006.
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The number of owned and leased warehouse and distribution facilities and the corresponding square footage of
the facilities by state at February 3, 2007, were as follows; : )

Square Footage
State Owned Leased Total Owned Leased Total

(Square footage in thousands)

ONIO . .t 2 2 4 3,559 731 4,290
California. . .........c o i i 1 - 2 1,423 . 467 1,890
Alabama, . ...... ... ... .. ... .. 1 — 1 1,411 — 1,411
Oklahoma .......... .. ... . . ! — 1. 1,297 — 1,297
Pennsylvania ...........ccooiiiiiiiiienn.. 1 — 1 1,295 = = 1,295

Total ot e e 6 __fi 9 8985 1,198 10,183

Other Properties : T
We own the facility in Columbus, Ohio that serves as our general office for corporate associates,

As a result of funding a mortgage guarantee obligation associated with the KB Toys bankruptcy, we obtained
title to a distribution center in Pittsfield, Massachusetts (the “Pittsfield DC”) in fiscal year 2005. We had no
intention of using this property in our operations, and it was sold in fiscal year 2006. For additional information
regarding the Pittsfield DC, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS '

No response is required under Item 103 of Regulation S-K. Fora discussion of certain litigated matters, please
refer to Notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS '

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders dui’ing the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company’s executive officers at February 3, 2007 were as follows:

) - * Officer
Name : Age - Offices Held ' . s. Since
Steven S. Fishman. . ... .. .. . 56 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President i 2005
John C. Martin ............ 56 Executive Vice President, Merchandising . 2003
Donald A. Mierzwa ........ 57 Executive Vice President, Store Operations ' 1998
Brad A. Waite. . ... e 49 Executive Vice President, Human Resources, Loss Prevémion,
Real Estate and Risk Management - 1998
Lisa M. Bachmann .. ... .... 45  Senior Vice President, Merchandise Planning/Allocation and
. Chief Information Officer ' _ 2002
Robert C. Claxton. ......... 52 Senior Vice President, Marketing 2005
JoeR.Cooper............. 49  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2000
Charles W. Haubiel 11.. . . . . .. 41 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 1999
Norman J. Rankin.......... 50 Senior Vice President, General Merchandise Manager " 1998
Harold A, Wilson .. ........ 58 Senior Vice President, Distribution and Transportation Services 1995
Timothy A. Johnson . ....... 39 Vice President, Strategic Planning and Investor Relations - 2004~

Paul A. Schroeder.......... 41 Vice President, Controller ) - 2005
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Steven S. Fishman became Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President in July 2005. Prior to joining us, Mr.
Fishman was the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Restructuring Officer of Rhodes, Inc., a furniture
retailer. Rhodes, Ing. filed for bankruptcy on November 4, 2004. Mr. Fishman was also Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Frank’s Nursery & Crafts, Inc., a lawn and garden specialty retailer, which filed for bankruptcy
on September 8, 2004, and President and Founder of SSF Resources Inc an investment and consulting firm.

John C Martin is responsible for merchandising. Prior to joining us in 2003 Mr. Martin was the President of Garden
Ridge Corporation, an arts and crafts retailer. Garden Ridge Corporation filed for bankruptcy on February 2, 2004.
Mr. Martin also served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Michaels Stores, Inc., an arts and crafts retailer,
and President, Retail Stores Division of OfficeMax Incorporated, an office supply retailer.

Donald A. Mierzwa is responsible for store operations, including store standards, customer service, personnel
development, program implementation, and execution. Mr. Mierzwa has been with us since 1989 and has
served as Executive Vice President of Store Operations since 1999.

Brad A. Waite is responsible for human resources, loss prevention, real estate, risk management, and administrative
services. Mr, Waite joined us in 1988 as Director of Employee Relations and held various Human Resources
management and senior management positions prior to his promotion to Executive Vice President in July 2000.

Lisa M. Bachmann is responsible for information technology, merchandise planning, and merchandise allocation
functions. Ms. Bachmann joined us as Senior Vice President of Merchandise Planning, Allocation and Presentation
in March 2002, and was promoted to her current role in August 2005.. Prior to joining us, Ms. Bachmann was Senior
Vice President of Planning and Allocatron at Ames Department Stores, Inc., a discount retailer.

Robert C. Claxton is responsible for marketmg, merehandtse presentatton and sales promotlon Prior to

joining us in 2005, Mr. Claxton served-as General Manager and Executive Vice President of Initiative Media, - '
an advertising and communications company, and Chief Marketmg Offlcer and Senior Vice Presrdent of
Montgomery Ward, a retaller '

Joe R. Cooper was promoted to Semor Vtce Presrdent and Chief. Fmaneral Officer in February 2004, andis | ,
responsible for our finance functions. He oversees treasury, tax, and investor relations, as well as the reporting,
planning, and control functions of the business. Mr. Cooper joined us a$ Vice President of Strategic Planning
and Investor Relations in May 2000. In July 2000 he assumed responsrblllty for the treasury department and
was appointed Vice President, Treasurer '

Charles W. Haubiel If is responsrble for our legal affairs. He was promoted to Semor Vtee Presrdent General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2004. Mr. Haubiel joined us in 1997 as Senior Staff Counsel and
was promoted to Director, Corporate Counsel and Assistant Secretary in 1999, and to Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary in 2000. In addition to his responsibility for legal affairs, Mr. Haubiel is in
charge of our lease administration department and our.wholesale and alternative product sourcing operations.

Norman J. Rankin is responsible for merchandising in the consumables and hardware departments. Mr. Rankin
joined us in 1998 as Vice President of Consumables upon our merger with Mac Frugal’s Bargains Close-outs,
Inc., a discount retailer. In 1999, Mr. Rankin was promoted to Senior Vice President. '

Harold A. Wilson is responsible for warehousing, distributing, and transporting merchandise. Mr. Wilson joi_.ne'd-
us in 1995. Prior to joining us, Mr. Wilson was the Vice President of Distribution for retailer Limited Stores and
held a senior position in the distribution department at retailer Neiman-Marcus. ‘

Timothy A. Johnson is responsible for our strategic planning and investor relations functions. He was promoted
to Vice President, Strategic Planning and Investor Relatlons in February 2004, He joined us in 2000 as Director
of Strategic Planning.

Paul A. Schroeder is respon51ble for mternal and external financial reportmg and accounting operattons
including payroll, accounts payable, and inventory control. Mr. Schroeder joined us as Director, Accounting
Operations in April 2005, and was promoted to Vice President, Controller in September 2005. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Schroeder was Director of Finance at American Signature, Inc., a furniture retailer, and held various
finance positions at Limited Brands, Inc., a clothing and fashion retaller

13




PART 11 -

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Effective August 18, 2006, our common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE™) under
the symbol “BIG.” Prior to the August 18, 2006 change, our symbol on the NYSE was “BL1.” The following
table reflects the high and low sales prices per common share as reported on the NYSE composite tape for the
fiscal periods indicated:

Fiscal Year
2006 2005
High Low High Low.
FirstQuarter............c.ovueeoieoioni.s $14.95 $1240 $13.38 $10.06-
SecondQuarter, ..................... e 1720 13.25 14.29 10.13
Third Quarter . .................. e 21.18. 15.70 13.19 . 10.38
Fourth Quarter .. ........ S - $26.36  $20.03 $13.88 §$l11.16

We have followed a policy of reinvesting available cash in the business or executing share repurchase programs
when authorized by the Board of Directors. We historically have not paid dividends. Currently, no change in
this policy is under consideration by our Board of Directors. The payment of cash dividends in the future will
be determined by our Board of Directors taking into account business conditions then existing, including our
earnings, financial requirements and conditiqn, opportunities for reinvesting cash, and other factors.

On March 9, 2007, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up te $600.0 million of
our common shares commencing upon authorization and continuing until exhausted. We expect the purchases to
be made from time to time in the open market and/or in privately negotiated transactions at our discretion, subject
to market conditions and other factors. Common shares acquired through the repurchase program will be available
to meet obligations under equity compensation plans and for general corporate purposes.

On February 22, 2006, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our common
shares. During fiscal year 2006, we purchased 9.4 million common shares having an aggregate cost of $150.0
million with an average price paid per share of $15.90. The following table sets forth information regarding our
repurchase of our common shares during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006:

(In thousands, except price per share data)
- (d) Approximate

(¢) Total . Dollar Valtue
(a) Total . (b) (Cumulative) _ of Shares that
Number Average Number of Shares May Yet Be
" of Shares  Price Pald  Purchased as Partof Purchased Under
Purchased per Share Publicly Announced the Plans or
Period n 2) Plans or Programs Programs
October 29, 2006 - November 25, 2006. . . ... e 703 §22.78 9,435 —
November 26, 2006 - December 23, 2006. .. . .. . . R — 9,435 '
December 24, 2006 - February 3,2007.......... 2 23.14" 0,435 —
Total . ... . . ., 115 $22.78 9,435 3—

(1) Included in the total number of shares purchased during the fourth quarter of fiscai year 2006 are
approximately twelve thousand shares which were withheld for tax payments with respect to share-based
compensation. All other shares purchased in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006 were made pursuant to
the program publicly announced on February 22, 2006.

(2) This amount represents the weighted-average price paid per common share in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2006 and includes a per share commission paid for all repurchases.
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In June 2006, we paid $14.7 million to enter into a structured share repurchase transaction which settled in cash
on its maturity date in September 2006. The initial cash disbursement and subsequent receipt of cash were
recorded in additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet. We entered into the structured share
repurchase transaction as part of our share repurchase program announced in February 2006. Because the
market price of our common shares was above $15.34 on the maturity date, we received $15.3 million on the
maturity date, representing our original investment of $14.7 million and a $0.6 million return on our investment.

In May 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of our commeon shares. In
accordance with this authorization, we purchased 5.4 million common shares having an aggregate cost of $75.0 -
million with an average price paid per share of $13.82.

The repurchased common shares in fiscal years 2004 and 2006 were placed into treasury and are used for
general corporate purposes including the issuance of shares related to employee benefit plans.

As of April 2, 2007, there were approximately 1,175 registered holders of record of our common shares.

The following graph compares, for the five fiscal year period ended February 3, 2007, the cumulative total
shareholder return for our common stock, the S&P 500 Index, and the S&P 500 Retailing Index. Measurement
points are the last trading day of each of our fiscal years ended February 1, 2003, January 31, 2004, January 29,
2005, January 28, 2006, and February 3, 2007. The graph assumes that 5100 was invested on January 31, 2002,
in each of our common stock, the S&P 500 Index, and the S&P 500 Retailing Index and assumes reinvestment
of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future
stock price performance.

$300
$250 _
$200 //
$150 :
. = =h
$100 §
$50 -
$0 Y Y T T v
Jan02 Jan03 Jan04 Jan05 Jan06 Jan07
——Big Lots, Inc. =(3—S&P 500 Index —2—S&P 500 Retailing
Indexed Returns
Years Ending
Base
Period
January January January January January January
Company / Index 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
BigLots,Inc. ..................... $100.00 $11531 313035 $10295 $12675 $239.85
S&P500Index .................... 100.00 77.53 104.33 109.90 121.66 134.67
S&P 500 Retailing ................. $100.00 $ 7173 $107.22 $123.06 $131.84 $141.24
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following statements of operations and balance sheet data have been derived from our consolidated
financial statements and should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and related Notes included
herein. Fiscal year 2006 is comprised of 53 weeks while the other years presented below are comprised of

52 weeks.

(In thousands, except per share amounts and store counts)
Netsales.................... [ :

Grossmargin. .. ..........coieiiiiiiiaiia,
Selling and administrative expenses. ........ e
Depreciation eXpense .. .......coviviiinnenan.
Operatingprofit. ................ ... ...

Interestexpense. . ........ .o iniinno. ...
Interest and investment income .. ...............

Income from continuing operations before income

L 5, 1.

Income from continuing operations . .............

Income (loss) from discontinued operations,

netoftax. ... ...t

Netincome (Joss) ............ ... ... . it

Income (loss) per common share — basic:

Continuing operations . ............c.ouuun.n.
Discontinued operations. . ....................

Income (loss) per common share — diluted:

Continuing operations ... ........ovvvaninn...
Discontinued operations. . .. ..................

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

Balance sheet data:

Totalassets.. .. ...ooniiiiiii i
Working capital ............. ... .. ...
Long-term obligations .. .....................
Shareholders’ equity. . .. ...........o oL,

Store data:

Total gross square footage . ... ................
Total selling square footage . . .................
Stores opened during the fiscal year ............
Stores closed during the fiscal year .. ...........
Stores open at end of the fiscal year. . ...........

] Fiscal Year (a)
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
$4,743,048 $4,429905 54,149,252 $3,942,653 $3,647,771
2,851,616 2,698,239 2,462,114 2,292,123 2,109,601
1,891,432 1,731,666 1,687,138 1,650,530 1,538,170
1,622,339 1,596,136 1,518,589 1,439,444 1,323,543
101,279 108,657 99,362 88,960 81,552
) 167,814 26,873 69,187 122,126 133,075
(581) (6,272) (24,845) (16,443) (20,954)
3,257 313 618 1,061 . 843
170,490 20,914 44,960 106,744 1 12,964
57,872 5,189 13,528 20,833 44,683
112,618 15,725 31,432 85,911 68,281
11,427 (25,813) (7,669) (5,691) 7,452
$ 124045 $ (10088 § 23763 & 83,220 § 75733
3 102 % 014 3 028 % 074 3 0.59
0.10 (0.23) (0.07) (0.05) 0.06
s 112 % (0.09) § 021 § 069 § 0.65
$ 1.01 §% 014 % 027 % 073 % 0.59
0.10 (0.23) (0.06) {0.05) 0.06
3 .11 § 009 % 021 3% 068 3 0.65
110,336 113,240 114,281 116,757 115,865
111,930 113,677 114,801 117,253 116,707
$1,720,526  $1,625497 $1,733,584 51,800,543  §$1,655,571
674,815 557,231 622,269 718,620 654,626
— 5,500 159,200 204,000 204,000
$1,129,703 31,078,724 31,075,490 $1,108,779  $1,020,088
40,770 41,413 42,975 40,040 37,882
29,376 29,856 30,943 29,019 27,593
1i 73 103 86 87
3an (174) (31) (36) (42)
1,375 1,401 1,502 1,430 ) 1,380

(a} References throughout this document to fiscal years 2006, 2003, 2004, 2003, and 2002 refer to the fiscal
years ended February 3, 2007; January 28, 2006; January 29, 2005; January 31, 2004; and February 1,

2003, respectively.




ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The discussion and analysis presented below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related Notes included herein. Please refer to ltem 1A of this Form 10-K for a discussion of -
forward-looking statements and certain risk factors that may have a material effect on oiur business, financial
condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

We follow the concept of a 52-53 week fiscal year, which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal year
2006 was comprised of 53 weeks. - Fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were each comprised of 52 weeks.
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

Operating Initiatives and Results

The following is an overview of significant operating initiatives that have been executed or are in progress that
" we believe led or contrlbuted to 1mproved operating performance in fiscal year 2006 compared to the prior
fiscal.year.

Actions taken in fiscal year 2005:

. Evaluation of individual store performance and the closure of 174 stores including all of our stand
alone furniture stores. The majority of these ctosed stores were underperforming.

»  Exccution of a series of markdowns lowering in-store mvemory levels in certain categories and
improving turnover,

. Realignment of our field operations and elimination of some redundancies between closeout and
furniture store operations.

. Reduction of personnel at our stores, distribution centers, and general office.
. Exit from the frozen food business.
Actions taken in fiscal year 2006:

¢  Opened fewer stores compared to prior years primarily as a result of rising real estate costs for
prospective new sites and our focused efforts on improving operating results of existing stores.

e Tested and executed newly developed merchandising plans‘ focusing on obtaining higher gross
margin dollars and improved inventory turnover.

»  Tested and evaluated marketmg approach including in-store signage, mix and amount of televnsaon
advertising, and advertising circular print and distribution methods.

e  Continued to focus on improving efficiencies in our purchasing and distribution practices intending
to increase store productivity.

. Initiated a pilot project to test a new point-of-sale register system that will replace our existing point-
of-sale hardware and software, with installation in all stores during fiscal years 2007 and 2008.

We believe these initiatives and activities have contributed to our operating performance for fiscal year 2006
when compared to the operating performance of fiscal year 2005:

o  Comparable store sales increased 4.6%.
. Sales per sclling square foot improved by 8.2%.
e  Gross margin dollars improved $159.8 million with fewer stores included in continuing operations.

. Inventory turnover rate improved to 3.4 times versus 3.0 times in fiscal year 2005,
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. Selling and administrative expenses as a percent of sales improved 180 basis points to 34.2% of sales
versus 36.0% of sales in fiscal year 2005.

+  Depreciation expense as a percent of sales decreased 40 basis points to 2.1% of sales versus 2.5% of
sales in fiscal year 2005.

e  Diluted earnings per share from continuing operatlons improved to $1.01 per share compared to -
$0.14 per share in ﬁscal year 2005,

. Cash provided by operating activities was $381.5 million and we ended fiscal year 2006 with $281.7
million of cash and cash equivalents.

e Acquired 9.4 million of our common shares for a total cost of $150.0 million under the repurchase
program announced in February 2006,

See the discussion and analysis below for additional details of our operating results.

Litigation

In the third"qu'artcr of fiscal year 2006, we reached tentative settlements of two employment-related civil class
actions brought against us. The tentative settlements are subject to court approval and acceptance by the class.
We recorded, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2006, a pretax charge of $9.7 million included in sellingand
administrative expenses for the estimated settlement liability for these matters. We believe that the liability-
for these matters was adequately reserved at February 3, 2007. See Note 10 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for additional detail on these matters. ‘

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006, we recorded pretax income of $2.6 million in selling and
administrative expenses upon receipt of our portion of the Visa/MasterCard antitrust litigation settiement funds
that compensate merchants for the excessive fees they paid for certain Visa and MasterCard transactions.

What’s Important Now (WIN) Strategy

In 2005, we initiated a strategic assessment of our operations. Specifically, we focused on opportunities for
improved financial performance as a result of a detailed analysis of our real estate, operating expenses, and

merchandising. This strategic assessment resulted in specific initiatives collectively referred to by us as our
“WIN Strategy.”

Real Estate

As a result of the real estate analysis conducted as part of the WIN Strategy, we closed 174 stores during fiscal
year 2005, a significant portion of which were underperforming. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the
operating results of 130 of these closed stores were reclassified to discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005
and all prior periods reported. The table below identifies the significant components of loss from discontinued
operations related to the 130 closed stores for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004
(In thousand's)
Netsales ...............ccuuus [P, 5§ — $215,154 $225,820
GroSS MATZIN L, 0ttt inaans e — 74,109 90,299
Operating 108S. .. ..o e (2,659) (41,130) {1,662)
Loss from discontinued operations, netoftax. ..................... $(1,606) $(25381) $ (1,02D)

Our results related to discontinued operations in fiscal year 2006 primarily represent exit-related costs and
ongoing costs associated with leased properties yet to be terminated or subleased. Qur results of discontinued
operations in fiscal year 2005 include pretax losses in the amount of $41.1 million, including $43.6 million of
exit-related pretax costs.
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The table below summarizes the type and amount of charges recorded as a result of the store closures and
identifies remaining exit liabilities as of February 3, 2007:

Write-down

of Property, Severance Lease
Inventory, and and Termination
Deferred Rent Benefits Costs Total
(In thousands) ) .
Charges. .o ooeeee e $ 19,600 $ 3,300 $ 20,700 $ 43,600
PaYIIENIS, . . o\t eoreee e e e eeae e —_ (1,53%9) (2,499) , (4,038)
Non-cashreductions. .. ..................... (19,600} — — (19,600)
Remaining Obligations at January 28,2006 ..... .. — 1,761 18,201 19,962
Settlementsavings .................. ... ... — — (1,346) (1,346)
AcCCretion eXpense ..............oueeeenn... — — 411 411
Payments. ........coonioiiiiii i — (1,761) - (11,329) (13,090)
Remaining Obligations at February 3, 2007 ....... $ — I $ 5937 $ 5937

Write-downs of property and inventory include assets used in normal operations of retail stores and remaining
unrecoverable net book values of fixtures, equipment, and signs. The inventory write-downs above were
spec1f1c to the markdowns associated with liquidation sales conducted at the closed stores, which qualified for -
discontinued operations accounting treatment. We record markdowns throughout the year in the normal course
of business. The markdowns associated with the liquidation sales were the only markdowns included in the
table above.

Future cash outlays related to the above lease termination costs are anticipated to be $3.4 million in fiscal year
2007, $1.8 million in fiscal year 2008, $0.6 million in fiscal year 2009, and $0.1 million thereafter.

Operating Expenses

Our review of our operating expenses resulted in personnel reductions in our general office, field operations,
and distribution centers in fiscal year 2005. Certain resources were realigned based on the fiscal year 2005
store closings and lower expected store growth in the near term. Additionally, some redundanc1es between the
closeout store operations and the furniture store operations were eliminated.

Merchandising

In fiscal year 2005, as part of a review of our merchandising strategy, we: 1) closed our stand-alone furniture
stores; 2} executed a series of markdowns lowering in-store inventory levels in certain categories and improving
inventory turnover; and 3) exited the frozen food business. We developed our merchandise strategy with the |
goals of growing sales per square foot and increasing gross margin dollars. We performed customer research
and found that brand names, “treasure hunt,” price, value, and savings were most important to our customers.
Certain elements of the merchandising strategy were tested and executed in fiscal year 2006. In fiscal

year 2006, we refined the detailed merchandising plans in order for each merchant to understand his or her
targeted levels of closeout merchandise, engineered closeout merchandise (items that we often develop along
with our vendors), and consistency type products that our customers expect us to have. Our preference is to
maximize the amount of closeout merchandise which we believe provides great value to the customer. We have
communicated many of these expectations to our vendors so that they understand our expectations and can
collaborate with us to get the desired types and quantities of merchandise to our stores.

One of the key clements to the success of the fiscal year 2006 merchandising strategy was the “raise the ring”
strategy. The “raise the ring”‘étrategy involves offering a merchandise mix to the customer that includes items
with slightly higher average item retail sales price. One method used to accomplish this was to offer larger
package or quantity sizes, For example, instead of offering an item for sale on a per piece basis, we may offer
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the same product in a package of three or six pieces. Another part of the “raise the ring” strategy involved
offering types of merchandise that helped increase average item retail, based on our belief that as long as the
value proposition is compelling, our customers are willing to purchase higher ticket merchandise from us.

Improved merchandising led to efficiencies in the cost side of the business as well. Inventory quantities were
managed to lower levels helping to drive productivity in the distribution centers and stores. Qur merchants
worked with vendors to acquire items that were pre-ticketed for sale and more efficiently and effectively
allocated to and displayed in our stores. Markdowns were taken timely in order to keep merchandise in our
stores fresh and to improve inventory turnover. Fewer cartons were processed by our distribution centers and
stores while higher sales dollars were achieved.

Qur marketing efforts continued to involve a mix of circulars, in-store marketing, and television advertising.
During fiscal year 2006, we shifted circular and television advertising dollars to the November and December
(the “Nine Weeks of Christmas”) timeframe in order to commit more marketing expenditures during the period
they could be expected to have the most impact. Many of the products offered in these circulars were a resuit
of the merchandising strategies discussed above. The planning and coordination that went into these circulars
improved their effectiveness and resulted in higher sales, higher gross margin dollars, and improved inventory
turnover rate.

Because the majority of our customers consider themselves to be “treasure hunters™ and come to our store
without a specific item in mind to purchase, we developed better in-store marketing strategies, such as improved
signage, aimed at driving total sales dollars from each customer in the store. This new signage was tested
favorably during fiscal year 2006 and was rolled out to all stores late in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.

KB Toys and Pittsfield Distribution Center Update

For a discussion of these matters and other matters related to the KB Toyé; business, see Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

Results of Operations

The following table compares components of our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of net
sales: ' '

Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004
Netsales ... i e 100.0% 100.0% '100.0%
Costofsales ....... .o i i e 60.1 60.9 - 59.3
GrOSS IMAIZIIL L L.ttt e it e i a e et ee i iean 39.9 39.1 40.7 .
- Selling and administrativé expenses . ..... e 34.2 36.0 36.6
Depreciation expense .. ........ e e . 2.1 2.5 24
Operating profit . . . .. e P 35 0.6 1.7
INterest EXPense ... ..vveerrenennnnn. .. [ (0.0) (0.1) (0.6)
Interest and investment income . .. ........... ... ..... e 0.1 0.0 0.0
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . .. ....... 3.6 0.5 1.1
Income tax expense ....... 1.2 o041 0.3
Income from continuing operations. .. ........... ... ... ... - 24 0.4 0.8
Income (loss) from discontinueq operations, net of tax. . .......... 02 (0.6) {0.2)
Netincome (1058} .. .o vv ittt 2.6% (0.2)% 0.6%

We have historically experienced, and expect to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations, with a larger
percentage of our net sales and operating profit being realized in-the fourth fiscal quarter. In addition, our
quartetly results can be affected by the timing of new store openings and store closings, the amount of sales
contributed by new and existing stores, the timing of television and circular advertising, and the timing of
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certain holidays. We purchase substantial amounts of inventory and incur higher shipping and payroll costs as a
percent of sales in the third fiscal quarter in anticipation of the increased sales activity during the fourth fiscal
quarter.

The following table sets forth the seasonality of net sales and operating profit by fiscal quarter:

First Second _Third Fourth
Fiscal Year 2006 :
Net sales percentage of full year ............... ... ... 23.0% 223% 22.1% 32.6%
Operating profit as a percentage of full year. ... ... ..., .. 12.7 4.3 1.4 81.6
Fiscal Year 2005 .
Net sales percentage of full year . ..................... 23.5% 22.6% 22.4% 31.5%
Operating profit (loss) as a percentage of full year.. ... ... 46.6 (66.5) (113.7) 233.6

Fiscal Year 2006 Compared To Fiscal Year 2005

Net Sales

Net sales increased 7.1% to $4,743.0 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to $4,429.9 million in fiscal year
2005. This net sales increase of $313.1 million is principally due to a 4.6% increase in comparable store sales
and sates made during the 53rd week in fiscal year 2006. Our comparable store sales are calculated by using
all stores that were open for at least two fiscal years as of the beginning of fiscal year 2006. This calculation
may not be comparable to other retailers who calculaie comparable store sales based on other methods. From

a merchandise perspective, the Consumables, Home, and Other were the best performing categories. Within
the Consumables category, sales of food and health and beauty products drove the increase partially offset by
the decline in sales of frozen food, which we discontinued in fiscal year 2005. Within the Home category, sales
of furniture and domestics drove the increase. Within the Other category, increases in sales of electronics and
apparel were partially offset by lower sales of lingerie.

We internally evaluate and externally communicate overall sales and merchandise performances based on the
following key merchandising categories, and we believe these categories facilitate analysis of our financial
performance. Net sales by product category, net sales by product category as a percentage of total net sales, and
net sales change in dollars and percentage in fiscal year 2006 compared to fiscal year 2005 were as follows:

. Fiscal Year
* 2006 2005 Change

(% in thousands)
Consumables . .................. $1,369,590 28.9%  $1,275,851 28.8% § 93,739 7.3%
Home ............ ... oLt 1,473,052 311 1,333,602 30.1 139,450 10.5
Seasonalandtoys................ 840,416 17.7 830,526 18.7 9,890 1.2
Other ............ ... ... ... 1,059,990 223 989,926 22.4 70,064 7.1

Netsales..................... $4,743,048 100.0%  $4.429.905 100.0%  $313,143 7.1%

Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased 9.2% to $1,891.4 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to $1,731.7 million in
fiscal year 2005. We achieved our stated goal to increase gross margin dollars as gross margin improved by
$159.7 million principally due to a combination of higher net sales and a slightly higher gross margin rate.
Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 39.9% in fiscal year 2006 compared to 39.1% in fiscal year 2005.
This gross margin rate increase of 80 basis points was primarily due to an improvement in the initial mark up
of merchandise purchased in fiscal year 2006 compared to purchases in fiscal year 2005. This improvement is
primarily attributed to our merchandising strategies as previously discussed. Our inventory turnover improved
to 3.4 turns in fiscal year 2006 compared to 3.0 turns in fiscal year 2005.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased 1.6% to $1,622.3 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to §1,596.1
million in fiscal year 2005. While net sales increased $313.1 million, selling and administrative expenses
increased only $26.2 million and as a result, selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales
were 34.2% in fiscal year 2006 compared to 36.0% in fiscal year 2005. The following items contributed to the
180 basis point improvement in selling and administrative expense leverage: 1) the 4.6% increase in comparable
store sales, which was above our expense leverage point; 2) our “raise the ring” merchandising strategy which
delivered higher sales results with fewer cartons processed by the distribution centers and stores; 3) reduction

in general office and field operations headcount primarily due to the elimination of some redundancies between
closeout and furniture store operations; and 4) various initiatives aimed at improving efficiency at our stores
and distribution centers including tightly managed payroll budgets, the initiation of a vendor compliance
program, and merchandising strategies aimed at getting merchandise delivered that is more efficiently able to
be displayed on the selling floor, for example, pre-ticketed items and improved packaging (PDQ packaging,
palletized end cap displays, etc.).

Some of the increases in selling and administrative expense components from fiscal year 2005 to fiscal year
2006 were bonus expense of $22.0 million, wage litigation charges of $9.7 million, utilities of $6.5 miltion,
stock-based compensation expense of $5.7 million, and asset impairment charges of $5.0 million. These
increases were partially offset by decreases in store hourly wages of $10.7 million, general office wages of

$3.2 million, field operations cost of $4.2 million, and proceeds received as a result of the Visa/MasterCard
antitrust settlement of $2.6 million. The bonus expense increase is due primarily to our improved financial
performance in fiscal year 2006 and compares to fiscal year 2005 where no general office bonus was paid. The
wage litigation charges are discussed in more detail in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. Higher
utilities are primarily a result of higher utility rates. Stock-based compensation expense increased primarily as
a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) (See Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements) and
the achievement of a performance-based target with respect to restricted shares granted in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2006. The asset impairment charges relate primarily to charges taken on certain underperforming
stores that were opened in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. Lower store hourly wages, even with the $313.1

million increase in sales, are a result of improved productivity in the stores primarily due to lower inventory
levels at the stores and our “raise the ring” merchandising strategy. The decline in general office and field
operations expenses are primarily a result of the reduction in headcount which included the elimination of some
redundancies in the furniture and closeout operations.

Outbound distribution and transportation costs, which were included in selling and administrative expenses (see
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) decreased 0.8% to $222.1 million in fiscal year 2006 compared
to $223.8 million in fiscal year 2005. Qutbound distribution and transportation expenses as a percentage of

net sales were 4.7% in fiscal year 2006 compared to 5.1% in fiscal year 2005. The 40 basis point decrease was
primarily due to our “raise the ring” merchandising strategy which resulted in fewer cartons being processed
through the distribution centers with higher carton values. In addition, our emphasis en improved inventory
turnover led to lower inventory levels maintained in the distribution centers.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2006 was $101.3 million compared to $108.7 million for fiscal year 2005,
The $7.4 million decrease was principally related to a declining amount of capital expenditures in fiscal years
2005 and 2006. The lower capital expenditures are principally related to opening 11 stores in fiscal year 2006
and a conservative approach to capital investments aimed primarily at the development of a new point-of-sale
register system and other items generally considered “maintenance capital” items for our distribution centers
and stores in fiscal year 2006. Fiscal year 2005 capital expenditures included capital related to the completion
of reengineering of our Columbus, Ohio distribution center.

Upon the successful completion of a pilot program in 32 of our stores and the decision to move forward with the
implementation of a new point-of-sale system in all of our stores, we reduced the remaining estimated service
life on approximately $6.9 million of certain point-of-sale equipment. The impact of this service life reduction
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was to recognize approximately $2.3 million of depreciation expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.
The estimated remaining service life was based on our projected roll out schedule to all remaining stores,
approximately one-half in fiscal year 2007 and one-half in fiscal year 2008.

»

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased 90.5% to $0.6 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to $6.3 million in fiscal year
2005. The $5.7 million decrease in interest expense was principally due to lower average borrowings of $4.8
million in fiscal year 2006 compared to average borrowings of $139.9 million in fiscal year 2005.

Interest and Investment Income

Interest and investment income increased $3.0 million in fiscal year 2006 to $3.3 million compared to $0.3
million in fiscal year 2005, Because we generated significant cash flow from our operations, we were in an
invested position throughout the majority of fiscal year 2006. We invested primarily in money market type
investments that are considered cash equivalents and other short term high grade bond mutual funds.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate on income from continuing operations was 33.9% for fiscal year 2006 compared
to 24 8% for fiscal year 2005. In fiscal year 2006, we benefited from a reduction in the valuation allowance as
a result of our expectation of utilizing more net operating loss benefits and the resolution of certain income tax
matters. The rate was lower in fiscal year 2005 principally due to 1) proportionately larger jurisdictional losses
in entities with higher marginal income tax rates, 2) lower overall income before income taxes, and 3) loss
contingency activity partially offset by higher write-down of deferred income tax assets as a result of state tax
law changes.

The Company anticipates the fiscal year 2007 effective income tax rate to be within a range of 36.0% to 39.0%.

Discontinued Operations

We recorded income from discontinued operations of $11.4 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to loss from
discontinued operations of $25.8 million in fiscal year 2005. The income from discontinued operations in fiscal

year 2006 was principally comprised of 1) the partial release of our KB bankruptcy lease obligation (as defined in
Note 11 to the consclidated financial statements) of $8.7 million, net of tax, and 2) the release of KB-related income
tax and sales tax indemnification liabilitics of $4.7 million, net of tax, partially offset by 1) a loss on the sale of the
Pittsfield, Massachusetts distribution center (formetly owned by the KB Toys business) of approximately $1.4 million,
net of tax; and 2) exit-related costs on the 130 closed stores of $1.6 million, net of tax, including a $0.7 million, pretax

_ pension settlement charge and expenses on the portion of the 130 stores where the leases have not been terminated.

We based the revision of the KB bankruplcy lease obligation on the number of demand notices that we have received
from landlords and used information received from KB Toys, the bankruptcy trust, and our own lease records which
date back to when 'we owned the KB Toys business. Additionally, we released the tax indemnification liabilities in
light of information that we received as a result of our settlement discussions with the bankruptcy trust and KB in an
attempt to resolve the tax indemnification claims. Our loss from discontinued operations in fiscal year 2005 included
$25.4 million, net of tax, primarily related 10 exit costs and fiscal year 2005 results of operations of the 130 stores,
$0.6 million of income, net of tax, for the reversal of liabilities associated with the KB Toys business, and $1.0 million,
net of tax, associated with the write down of the Pittsfield, Massachusetts distribution center to fair value less selling
cost, upon classification as held for sale.

Fiscal Year 2005 Compared To Fiscal Year 2004

Net Sales

Net sales increased 6.8% to $4,429.9 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $4,149.3 million in fiscal year
2004. This increase is due to new stores opened in fiscal years 2004 and 2005 and the comparable store sales
increase of 1.8% for fiscal year 2005. From a merchandise perspective, Home, which includes furniture, was
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the best performing category. As part of our merchandising initiatives, clearance markdowns, primarily in the
fourth quarter, benefited net sales and comparable store sales and were mmated to reduce inventory levels on
slower moving items or classifications.

Net sales by product category, net sales by product category as a percentage of total net sales, and the net sales
change in dollars and percentage in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004 were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2005 . 2004 Change
(% in thousands) -
Consumables . ........................ $1,275,851 28.8% $1,247207 30.1% § 28,644 23%
Home ....... ..o, 1,333,602  30.1 1,153,297 27.8 180,305 15.6
Seasonalandtoys...................... 830,526 18.7 814,661 19.6 15865 1.9
Other ... ... i, ... 989926 224 934,087 225 55,839 6.0
Netsales . .......................... $4.429905 100.0% $4,149.252 100.0% $280,653 6.8%

The Consumables category includes sales increases in plastics, paper, and food, partially offset by a decrease in

health and beauty. The Home category includes strong performance in furniture and home decor. Seasonal and

toys includes sales increases for lawn & garden and toys, partially offset by decreases in trim-a-tree and harvest.
The Other category includes strong performances in electronics, home appliances, and tools.

Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased 2.6% to $1,731.7 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $1,687.1 million in
fiscal year 2004. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 39.1% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 40.7%
in fiscal year 2004. This gross margin rate decline of 160 basis points was primarily due to clearance-related
markdowns, higher inbound freight costs, and certain initial markup-related cost pressures such as higher
resin-based material costs. Inbound freight costs were higher as a result of higher fuel costs and transportation
capacity constraints. ‘

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expensés increased 5.1% to $1,596.1 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $1,518.6
million in fiscal year 2004, Selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales were 36.0% in fiscal
year 2005 compared to 36.6% in fiscal year 20(}4

Selling and administrative expenses increased over fiscal year 2004 primarily due to costs associated with
higher levels of sales and increased carton volume. The $77.5 million increase was primarily attributable to
increased store payroll costs of $20.9 million, increased store occupancy-related costs, including rent and
utilities, of $23.0 million, increased general office costs of $11.7 miilion, the partial charge-off of the HCC Note
of $6.4 million (as defined in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements), increased advertising costs of
$6.0 million, and increased distribution and transportation costs of $5.1 million. The increase in general office
cost primarily resulted from an increase in wage and benefit-related costs.

Outbound distribution and transportation costs, which were included in selling and administrative expenses
{(see Note | to the accompanying consolidated financial statements) increased 2.3% to $223.8 million in fiscal
year 2005 compared to $218.7 million in fiscal year 2004. Outbound distribution and transportation expenses
as a percentage of net sales were 5.1% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 5.3% in fiscal year 2004. The 20 basis
point decrease was primarily due to improved éfficiency at the distribution centers, particularly the Durant,
Oklahoma distribution center. In addition, productivity has improved at the Columbus distribution center after
two years of re-engineering efforts. Partially offsetting these cost savings were higher diesel fuel costs incurred
on outbound freight and higher utility costs at the distribution centers.
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Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2005 was $108.7 million compared to $99.4 million for fiscal year 2004.
The $9.3 million increase was principally related to new store growth.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased 74.6% to $6.3 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to $24.8 million in fiscal year
2004, The $18.5 million decrease in interest expense was due to the $8.9 million debt prepayment charge
incurred in fiscal year-2004 in connection with the repayment of the $204.0 million in senior notes privately
placed in 2001 (the “Senior Notes™) and the retirement of the $300.0 million secured revolving credit agreement
entered into in-2001 (the “2001 Credit Agreement™), lower average borrowings in fiscal year 2005, and a lower
effective interest rate in fiscal year 2005. The prepayment charge was incurred in order to replace the Senior
Notes, which carried a weighted-average yield of 8.2%, and the 2001 Credit Agreement with the variable rate
2004 Credit Agreement. The weighted-average interest rate of the outstanding loans under the 2004 Credit
Agreement at January 28, 2006, was 5.1%.

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate of the continuing operations of the Company was 24.8% for fiscal year 2005
compared to 30.1% for fiscal year 2004, The rate was lower in fiscal year 2005 because of 1) proportionately
larger jurisdictional losses in entities with higher marginal income tax rates; and 2) the adjustment of loss
contingencies to recognize the expiration of the statute of limitations; offset by the write-down of deferred
income tax assets as a result of state tax law changes (including Ohio tax reform enacted in the second quarter
of fiscal year 2005).

Discontinued Operations

We recorded a pretax loss of $41.7 million from discontimied operations in fiscal year 2005 compared to a
pretax loss of $13.0 million in fiscal year 2004. Our results of discontinued operations in fiscal year 2405
include pretax losses in the amount of $41.1 million as the result of 130 stores reported in discontinued
operations in fiscal year 2005 which include $43.6 million of exit-related pretax costs incurred primarily in the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the reversal of pretax charges of $0.4 million associated with the KB Toys
business and pretax charges of $1.0 million associated with the reclassification of the Pittsfield distribution
center (“Pittsfield DC”) as held-for-sale and the related write-down of its carrying value to fair value less selling
cost, Qur discontinued operations in fiscal year 2004 relate to pretax losses in the amount of $1.7 million as the
result of the 130 stores reported in discontinued operations and pretax charges of $11.3 million associated with
the KB Toys business. ‘

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Capital Resources

On October 29, 2004, we entered into the $500.0 million 2004 Credit Agreement which is scheduled to-
terminate on October 28, 2009. The proceeds of the 2004 Credit Agreement are available for general corporate
purposes, working capital, and to repay certain of our indebtedness. The pricing and fees related to the 2004
Credit Agreement fluctuate based on our debt rating. Loans made under the 2004 Credit Agreement may be
prepaid by us without penalty. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains financial and other covenants, including,
but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments, as well as the maintenance of two
financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. A violation of these covenants could result
in a default under the 2004 Credit Agreement, which would permit the lenders to restrict our ability to further
access the 2004 Credit Agreement for loans and letters of credit, and require the immediate repayment of

any outstanding loans under the 2004 Credit Agreement. On December 22, 2006, we entered into a second
amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to permit us to acquire investments rated by a third rating
agency. On October 25, 2005, we entered into an amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to
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eliminate the impact on the covenant calculations of the charges related to the store closings discussed in Note
11 to the consolidated financial statements. We were in compliance with our amended financial covenants
under the 2004 Credit Agreement at February 3, 2007.

The 2004 Credit Agreement permits, at our option, borrowings at various interest rate options based on the
prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin. The 2004 Credit Agreement also
permits, as applicable, borrowings at various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by us and the lenders.
We typically repay and/or borrow on a daily basis in accordance with the terms of the 2004 Credit Agreement.
The daily activity is a net result of our liquidity position, which is generally affected by: 1) cash inflows such
as store cash and other miscellaneous deposits; and 2) cash outflows such as check clearings, wire and other
electronic transactions, and other miscellaneous disbursements.

In addition to revolving credit loans, the 2004 Credit Agreement includes a $30.0 million swing loan sub-limit,
a $50.0 million bid loan sub-limit, and a $150.0 million letter of credit sub-limit. At February 3, 2007, we did
not have borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement. The borrowings available under the 2004
Credit Agreement, after taking into account the reduction of availability resulting from outstanding letters of
credit totaling $57.9 million, were $442.1 million at February 3, 2007.

We utilize our credit facility primarily to manage ongoing and seasonal working capital. Given the seasonality
of our business, the amount of borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement may fluctuate materially
depending on various factors, including our performance, the time of year, and our need to acquire merchandise
inventory. We anticipate total indebtedness under the facility will be less than $65.0 million through the end of
May 2007, all of which will be comprised of letters of credit, excluding any impact from the execution of the
$600.0 million share repurchase authorized by our Board of Directors in March 2007.

Liquidity
The primary source of our liquidity is cash flows from operations and, as necessary, borrowings under the 2004

Credit Agreement. At February 3, 2007, working capital was $674.8 million, including $269.4 million of money
market investments included in cash and cash equivalents.

Cash provided by operating activities was $381.5 million during fiscal year 2006 and resulted primarily from
net income of $124.0 million, depreciation and amortization of $95.6 million, a reduction in inventories of $77.9
million, timing associated with current income taxes of $44.1 million, and improved accounts payable leverage
of $24.0 million. Lower inventories are principally due to our continued efforts to improve the inventory
turnover rate and to keep store merchandise fresh. Qur income tax position was favorable because we received
income tax refunds in fiscal year 2006 related primarily to the overpayment of taxes in fiscal year 2003 and had
income taxes payable of approximately $28.0 miliion at the end of fiscal year 2006. We improved our accounts
payable leverage principally by extending payment terms to foreign vendors.

Cash provided by operating activities was $213.0 million during fiscal year 2005 and resulted primarily from net

loss of $(10.1) million, depreciation and amortization expense of $114.6 million, and-a decrease in net assets of $102.7
million over fiscal year 2004. The $102.7 million decrease in net assets was primarily a result of lower inventory of
£58.9 million, higher accounts payable of $11.9 million, higher other current liabilities of $21.2 million, and cash from
other assets and liabilities of $21.9 million. The reduction in inventory is primarily a result of fewer stores open at

the end of fiscal year 2005 compared to prior year and the impact of the markdown clearance sales, The increase in
other current liabilities is primarily due to the increased current portion of lease obligation resulting from the closure
of certain stores before their full lease term expired. The cash from other assets and liabilities is primarily due to the
non-current portion of the lease obligation associated with the closed stores and an mcrease in the non-current portion
of insurance reserves for workers compensation and general llaballty

Cash used in investing actlvmes of $30.4 million in fiscal year 2006 and $66 7 million in fiscal year 2005 was
primarily related to capital expenditures of $35.9 million and $68.5 million in each of the respective fiscal years.
Capital expenditures in fiscal year 2006 were primarily related to opening 11 new stores, software development
cost for our new point-of-sale system, and various distribution center, store, or lease related requirements.
Capital expenditures in fiscal year 2005 were primarily due to opening 73 new stores. Capital expenditure
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requirements in fiscal year 2007 are anticipated to range between $70 million and $75 million, focused on the
new register system being implemented in approximately one-half of our stores, maintaining existing property
and equipment, a limited number of new store openings, and information technology enhancements.

Cash used in financing activities was $71.1 million in fiscal year 2006 and related prmmpally to the $150.0
million share repurchase program partially offset by $57.5 miilion of stock option exercise proceeds, $13.3
million of proceeds from selling one of our owned store properties, and $11.9 million for the excess tax benefit
derived from the exercise of stock options by employees. Cash used in financing activities was $147.1 million
in fiscal year 2005 and related primarily to the net repayment of borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit
Agreement. We announced a share repurchase program of up to $600.0 million on March 9, 2007. See Item 5
of this Form 10- K for more information regarding this program. ‘ -

We continue to believe that we have, or, if necessary, have thie ability to obtain adequate resources to fund
ongoing operating requirements and future capital expenditures. Additionally, management is not aware of
any current trends, events, demands, commitments, or uncertainties which reasonably can be expected to have a
material impact on our capital resources or liquidity.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes payments due under our contractual obligations at February 3, 2007:

Payments Due by Period

¥

Less than More than
1year 1to3 years 3to$5 years § years Total

(in t.'housands) .
Long-term debt obligations @ ... .......... ... % — § — $ — 8 — 3 —
Operating lease obligations @® _ .. ... ..... 249,789 388,115 206,853 115030 939,787
Purchase obligations ¥®. ..., SETETTTISPR 549,895 102,570 62,392 72,210 787,067
Other long-term liabilities ® . ................. 5,482 6,661 4,407 10,401 26,951

Total contractual obligations ™. .............. $805,166 $497346 $273.652 $197.641 $1,773,805

(1) The disclosure of contractual obligations in this table is based on assumptions and estimates that we
believe to be reasonable as of the date of this report. Those assumptions and estimates may prove to be
inaccurate; consequently, the amounts prov1ded in the table may differ materially from those amounts
that we ultimately incur. Variables that may cause the stated amounts to vary from those actually incurred
include, but are not limited to: the termination of a contractual obligation prior to its stated or anticipated
expiration; fees or damages incurred as a result of the premature termination or breach of a contractual
obligation; the acquisition of more or less services or goods under a contractual obligation than are
anticipated by us as of the date of this report; fluctuations in third party fees, governmental charges, or
market rates that we are obligated to pay under contracts we have with certain vendors; and the exercise of
renewal options under, or.the automatic renewal of, contracts that provide for the same.

(2) Long-term debt obligations consist of the borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement.
Borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement are permitted under various interest rate options based
on the prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin, as well as borrowings at
various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by us-and the lenders, We had outstanding letters of
credit totaling $57.9 million at February 3; 2007. Approximately $57.5 million of the outstanding letters -
of credit represent stand-by letters of credit and we do not expect to meet conditions requiring significant
cash payments on these letters of credit; accordingly, they have been excluded from the preceding table.
The remaining outstanding letters of credit represent commercial letters of credit whereby the related -
obligation is included in Purchase Obligations. For a further discussion, see Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements:

27




(3) Operating lease obligations include, among other items, leases for our retail stores, warechouse space,
offices, and certain computer and other business equipment. The future minimum commitments for .
store and warehouse space operating leases are $719.4 niillion. For a discussion of leases, see Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements. Many of the store lease obligations require us to pay for CAM,

N real estate taxes, and property insurance. We estimate that future obligations for CAM, real estate taxes,
and property insurance are $220.0 million at February 3, 2007, We have made certain assumptions and
estimates in order to account for our contractual obligations relative to CAM, real estate taxes, and
property insurance. Those assumptions and estimates include, but are not limited to: extrapolation of
historical data to estimate our future obligations; calculation of our obligations based on per square foot
averages where no historical data is available for a partlcular leasehold; and assumptions related to certain
increases over historical data where our obligation is a prorated share of all lessees’ obligations within a
particular property. The remaining $20.4 million relates primarily to the operatmg leases for computer and
other business equipment.

(4) For purposes of the operating lease and purchase obligation disclosures, we have assumed that we will
make all payments scheduled or reasonably estimated to be made under those ebligations that have a
determinable expiration date, and we disregarded the possibility that such obligations may be prematurely
terminated or extended, whether automatically by the terms of the obligation or by agreement between us
and our vendar, due to the speculative nature of premature termination or extension. Where an operating
lease or purchase obligation is subject to a month-to-month term or another automatically renewing term,
we disclosed our minimum commitment under such obligation, such as one month in the case of a month-
to-month obligation and the then-current term in the case of another automatically renewing term, due to
the uncertainty of the length of the eventual term.

(5) Purchase obligations include outstanding purchase orders for merchandise issued in the ordinary course of
our business that are valued at $420.7 million, the entirety of which represents obligations due within one
year of February 3, 2007. Purchase obligations also include a commitment for future inventory purchases
totaling $227.2 million at February 3, 2007. While we are not required to meet any periodic minimum
purchase requirements under this commitment, for purposes of this tabular disclosure, we have included
the value of the purchases that we anticipate making during each of the reported periods, as purchases will
count toward our fulfillment of the aggregate obligation. The remaining $139.2 million is primarily related
to distribution and transportation commitments.

(6) Other long-term liabilities include our obligation related to our nonqua11f1ed deferred compensation plan,
the $5.9 million closed store lease termination costs, and the expected pension plan contributions. We
have estimated the payments due by period for the nonqualified deferred compensation plan based on
an average of historical distributions. Our closed store lease termination cost payments are based on
contractual terms, Pension contributions are equal to expected benefit payments for the nonquahfled
plan plus expected contributions to the qualified plan using actuarial estimates and assuming that we
only make the minimum required contributions (see Note § to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information about our employee benefit plans.)

{7} The obligations disclosed in this table are exclusive of the contingent liabilities, guarantees, and
indemnities related to KB Toys. For further discussion, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements. N

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

kY

As of February 3, 2007, we have approximately 84 KB Lease Obligations related to KB Toys’ stores and main
office building. The relevant guarantees were issued prior to January 1, 2003, and are not subject to the fair
value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 45. The
typical KB Lease Obligation provides that the terms of the underlying lease may be extended, amended, or
meodified without the consent of the guarantor. As a result, we are unable to estimate any potential range of loss
in the event of non-performance by KB Toys. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this Form
10-K for further discussion of KB Toys matters.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates .

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, as well as the related disclosure of contingent
, assets and liabilities.at the date of the financial statements. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its
estimates and judgments, including those related to inventories, long-lived asscts, insurance reserves, income
taxes, contingencies, leases, pension, revenue recognition, and stock-based compensation. Management bases
its estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends, and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Management
has discussed the development and selection of its critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors and believes the following assumptions and estimates are the most critical
to reporting our results of operations and financial position. See Note | to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for additional information about our accounting policies.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory
method. Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which generally is the merchandise
selling price. Under the average cost retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of
merchandise having similar characteristics, at its current retail selling value. Inventory retail selling values

are converted to a cost basis by applying specific average cost factors for each merchandise department. Cost
factors represent the average cost-to-retail ratio for each merchandise department based on beginning inventory
and the fiscal year purchase activity. The average cost retail inventory method requires management to make
judgments and contains estimates, such as the amount and timing of markdowns to clear unproductive or slow- -
moving inventory, which may impact the ending inventory valuation and gross margin. These assumptions are
based on historical experience and current information.

Permanent markdowns are recorded as a gross margin reduction in the period of management’s decision
to initiate price reductions with the intent not to return the price to regular retail. Promotional markdowns
are recorded as a gress margin reduction in the period the merchandise is sold. Factors considered in the
determination of markdowns include current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, age of the
merchandise, and seasonal trends. ‘

Shrinkage is recorded as a reduction to inventories and gross margin and is estimated as a percentage of sales
for the period from the last physical inventory date to the end of the reporting period. Such estimates are based
on our actual experience and our most recent physical inventory results. While it is not possible to quantify the
impact from each cause of shrinkage, we have loss prevention programs and policies that we believe minimize
shrinkage.

Long-Lived Assets

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment are recorded on a straight-line basis using
estimated service lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis using the shorter of
their estimated service lives or the lease term. When a decision has been made to dispose of property and
equipment prior to the end of the previously estimated service life, depreciation estimates are revised to reflect
the use of the asset over the shortened estimated service life. The cost of assets sold or retired and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in net income.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major repairs that extend service lives are
capitalized.
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The estimated service lives of property and equipment by major asset category are as follows:

Land improvements . ....................... ... ..., 15 years

» Buildings and leasehold improvements . ..................... 5-40 years - ,
Fixturesand equipment . ......... . ... ... .. ... . . 5-15 years
Computer softwarecosts ..................... PRI " 3-7 years
Transportation equipment. . .. ............. P R 3-20 years

We have long-lived assets that consist primarily of property and equipment. We review historical operating
results at the store level in order to determine if impairment indicators are present. Impairment is recorded

if impairment indicators are present and if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its anticipated
undiscounted future net cash flows. Our assumptions related to estimates of future cash flows are based on
historical results of cash flows adjusted for management projections for future periods, We estimate service
lives on buildings and equipment using assumptions based on historical data and industry trends. We estimate
the fair value of our long-lived assets using readily available market information for similar assets.

When material, we classify the results of operations of closed stores as discontinued operations when the
operations and cash flows of the stores have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing operations and we no
longer have any significant continuing involvement in the operations associated with the stores after closure.
We generally meet the second criteria on all closed stores as, upon closure, operations cease and we have no
continuing involvement. To determine if cash flows have been (or will be} eliminated from ongoing operations,
we evaluate a number of qualitative and quantitative factors, including, but not limited to, proximity to )
remaining open stores and estimates of sales migration from the closed store to any stores remaining open. The
estimated sales migration is based on our historical estimates of sales migration upon opening or closing a store
in a similar market. For purposes of reporting the operations of stores meeting the criteria for discontinued
operations, we report net sales, gross margin, and related operating costs that are directly related to and
specifically identifiable with respect to those stores’ operations as discontinued operations. Certain corporate-
level charges, such as general office cost, field operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs, and
interest cost are not allocated to discontinued operations because we believe that these costs are not specific to
the stores’ operations.

Insurance Reserves

We are self-insured for certain iosses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation, and ,
employee medical and dental benefit claims, a portion of which is paid by employees. We have purchased stop-
loss coverage to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued insurance liabilities and related expenses

are based on actual claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported. The estimated accruals-are -
determined by applying actuarially-based calculations taking into account known trends and projections of
future results. General liability and workers’ compensation liabilities are recorded at our estimate of their net
present value while other liabilities for insurance reserves are not discounted. To the extent that subsequent
claim costs vary from estimates, future earnings could be impacted materially.

Income Taxes L .

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income takes and related accruals and deferred
tax assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations where the
ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. Additionally, our tax returns are subject to audit by various tax authorities.
Although wé believe that our estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates resulting
in a final tax outcome that may be materially different from that which is reflected in our consolidated financial
statements.
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Contingencies

We are subject to various claims and contingencies including legal actions, lease termination obligations on
closed stores, lease indemnification obligations on KB Toys stores and main office building, and other claims
arising out of the normal course of our business. In connection with such claims and contingencies, we estimate
the likelihood and amounts of any potentlal obligation using management’s judgment. Management uses
various internal and external experts to assist in the estimating process; however, the ultimate outcome of the
various claims and contingencies could be materially different from management’s estimates, and adjustments
to income could be required. With respect to the lease termination obligations and lease indemnification
obligations, we consider the remaining minimum lease payments, estimated sublease rentals that could be
reasonably obtained, and other potentially mitigating factors. In addition, as market conditions or other
factors change, the estimate of the obligations could be materially different. We continually evaluate the
adequacy of our recorded obligations for claims and contingences based on current information, including
settlement amounts of individual lease obligations compared to recorded contractual obligations. We accrue a
liability if the likelihood of an adverse outcome is probable and the amount is estimable. [f the likelihood of an
adverse outcome is only reasonably possible (as opposed to probabie}, or if it is probable but an estimate is not
determinable, disclosure of a material claim or contingency is made in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, because it is not permissible to establish a litigation reserve until the loss is both
probable and estimable, in some cases there may be insufficient time to establish a reserve prior to the actual
incurrence of the loss (upon verdict and judgment at trial, for example, or in the case of a quickly negotiated
settlement). '

Lease Accountmg

Rent expense is recogmzed over the term of the lease. We recognize minimum rent starting when possession of
the property is taken from the landlord, which normally includes a construction period prior to store opening.
When a lease contains a predetermined fixed escalation of the minimum rent, we recognize the related rent
expense on a straight-line basis and record the difference between the recognized rental expense and the
amounts payable under the lease as deferred incentive rent. We also receive tenant allowances, which are
recorded in deferred rent and are amortized as a reduction to rent expense over the term of the lease.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at inception. Contingent rent includes rent
based on a percentage of sales that are in excess of a predetermined level. Contingent rent is excluded from
minimum rent and is included in the determination of total rent expense when it is probable that the expense has
been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable.

Pension

Pension assumptions are evaluated each year. Actuarial valuations are used to provide assistance in calculating
the estimated obligations for pension. We review external data and historical trends to help determine the
discount rate and expected long-term rate of return. Our objective in selecting a discount rate is to identify

the best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled on the measurement date. In
making this estimaté, we review rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments currently available
and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the benefits. This process includes a review of
the bonds available on the measurement date with a quality rating of Aa or better. The expected long-term

rate of return on assets was derived from detailed periodic studies, which include a review of asset allocation
strategies, anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes, risks (standard deviations);

and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise the plan’s asset mix. While the studies give
appropriate consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns, the assumption is primarily a long-
term, prospective rate of return. The discount rates used to determine the net periodic pension cost for fiscal
year 2006 were 5.7% to 6.0%. A 0.5% decrease in the discount rates would increase net periodic pension cost
by $0.1 million. The long-term rate of return on assets used to determine net periodic pension cost in fiscat year
2006 was 8.5%. A 1.0% decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets would increase the net
pertodic pension cost by $0.5 million.

+
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize sales at the time the customer takes possession of merchandise. All sales are net of discounts and
returns and exclude sales tax. The reserve for merchandise returns is estimated based on our prior experience.

We recognize sales revenue related to gift cards at the time of redemption. The liability for the gift cards is
established for the cash value at the time of purchase. The liability for outstanding gift cards is recorded in
accrued operating expenses.

We offer price hold contracts on selected furniture merchandise. Revenue for price hold contracts is recognized
when the customer makes the final payment and takes possession of the merchandise. Amounts paid by
customers under price hold contracts are recorded in accrued operating expenses until a sale is consummated. -

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments

to employees and directors, including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements
based on their fair values. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on January 29, 2006, under the modified prospective
method, in which the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) are to be applied to new awards and to previously
granted awards that are not fully vested on the effective date. The modified prospective method does not
require restatement of previous years’ financial statements. We used the short-cut method to determine our
beginning excess tax benefit pool. The benefit of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost
are reported as a financing cash flow rather than as an operating cash flow, We value and expense stock
options with graded vesting as a single award with an average estimated life over the entire term of the award.
The expense is recorded straight-line over the vesting period. The fair value of restricted common shares is
measured at the grant date and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Compensation
expense for performance-based restricted common shares is recorded based on the estimated achievement date
of the performance criteria. Compensation expense for all share-based awards is recognized in selling and
administrative expense.

We use a binomial model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted on or after February 1, 2004. The
fair value of stock options granted prior to February 1, 2004, was determined using the Black-Scholes model.
The binomial model takes into account variables such as volatility, dividend yield rate, risk-free rate, contractual
term of the option, the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of its contractual life, and
the probability of retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option. Expected volatility was
based in part on historical and current implied volatilities from traded options on our common shares. The risk-
free rate was based on U.S. Treasury security yields at the time of the grant. The dividend yield on our common
shares was assumed to be zero since we have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future.
The expected life was determined from the binomial model. The model incorporated exercise and post—vestlng
forfeiture assumptions based on analysis of historical data.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension

and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASE Statement No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS No.

158 required us to recognize in the February 3, 2007, statement of financial position an asset for the over
funded status or a liability for the under funded status of a defined benefit plan and beginning in fiscal

year 2007, to recognize annual changes in gains or losses, prior service costs, or other credits that have not

vet been recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost, net of tax through other comprehensive
income. Effective in fiscal year 2008, SFAS No. 158 also requires us to measure defined benefit plan assets
and obligations as of the date of our year-end consolidated balance sheet. Currently, our pension plans have a
measurement date of December 31. Switching to the new measurement date will require a one-time adjustment
in fiscal year 2008 to retained earnings per the transition guidance in SFAS No. 158.
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We adopted the funding recognition provisions-of SFAS No. 158 in fiscal year 2006. To properly report the ‘
funded status of our qualified defined benefit pension plan (“Pension Plan”) and nonqualified supplemental
defined benefit pension plan (“Supplemental Pension Plan”) we recognized a $5.9 million charge, net of tax
benefit of $3.9 million, i accumiilated other comprehensive income principally comprised of $0.3 million of
prior service costs and $5.6 million of actuarial loss. We expect to reclassify $0.1 million of the prior service
cost and $0.3 million of the actuarial loss into earnings during fiscal year 2007. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 158, we combined the Pension Plan and Siipplemental Pension Plan for purposes of reporting any net
pension asset or obligation. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 158, based on the December 31, 2006 plan valuations,
we recognized a $2.8 million asset included in other assets for the Pension Plan and a $4.4 million liability,
$0.3 million of which was included in accrued salaries and wages and $4.1 million of which was included in
other liabilities, for the Supplemental Pension Plan. In fiscal year 2006, we began reporting separately the
pension impact to cash provided by operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior periods were
reclassified to be consistent with the current year presentation. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 did not have any
impact on net income in fiscal year 2006.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretati(;n No. 48 (“FIN 48"), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, which is effective as of the beginning of fiscal year 2007. FIN 48 is an interpretation of SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, and clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN 48
requires us to recognize in our financial statements the impact of an income tax position, if that position is

more likely than not of being sustained, based on the technical merits of the position. The recognition and
measurement guidelines of FIN 48 will be applied to all of our income tax positions as of the beginning of fiscal
year 2007, with any resulting adjustment posted as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle to -
beginning retained earnings of fiscal year 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 48 on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB No. 1087), Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.
SAB No. 108 provides guidance to registrants for assessing materiality. SAB No. 108 states that registrants
should use both a balance sheet approach and income statement approach when quantifying and evaluating
the materiality of a misstatement. SAB No. 108 also provides guidance on correcting errors under the dual
approach as well as transition guidance for correcting previously immaterial errors that are now considered
material. We adopted SAB No. 108 as of February 3, 2007, without any impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 addresses how
companies should approach measuring fair value when required by GAAP. SFAS No. 157 does not create or
modify any GAAP requirements to apply fair value accounting. The standard provides a single definition

of fair value that is to be applied consistently for all accounting applications and also generally describes

and prioritizes according to reliability the methods and inputs used in valuations. SFAS No. 157 prescribes
additional disclosures regarding the extent of fair value measurements included in a company’s financial
statements and the methods and inputs used to arrive at these values. SFAS No. 157 is effective on a prospective
basis for us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. We expect no significant impact on our financial condition,
results of operations, or liquidity from adopting this statement.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2008. We are presently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 159 on our results of operations and financial position.

Commitments

For a discussion of commitments, refer to Note 3, Note 5, Note 10, and Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements herein.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to market risk from exposure to changes in interest rates associated with investments that we
make from time to time and the 2004 Credit Agreement, We had no fixed rate long-term debt at February 3,
2007, We do not expect changes in interest rates in fiscal year 2007 to have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity; however, there can be no assurances that interest rates
will not materially change. We do not believe that a hypothetical adverse change of 10% in interest rates would
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

34




ITEMS. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .

To the Board of Directors of Big Lots, Inc.
Columbus, Ohio i

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting included in Item 9A, that Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company™)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of intérnal control over financial
reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,

the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions,
and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that {1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures

of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the
internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of February 3, 2007, is faitly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established

in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission, Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, cffective
internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2007, based on the criteria established in /nrernal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year
ended February 3, 2007, of the Company and our report dated April 3, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion
on those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding
the Company’s adoption of new accounting standards relating to share-based payments and accounting for
pension and other post-retirement plans.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 3, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of Big Lots, Inc.
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February

3, 2007. Qur audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
ﬁnancial staternent presentation, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
pésition of Big Lots, Inc. and subsidiaries at February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 3, 2007, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as
a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. ’

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 123(R) (Revised 2004) Share Based Payment, effective January 29, 2006. As discussed in Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of SFAS Nos. 87, 88,
106, and 132 (R), effective February 3, 2007.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 3,
2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated April 3, 2007, expressed an
ungualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 3, 2007
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
~ Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year .
. 2006 2005 <. 2004
Netsales ....... e e P $4,743,048 $4,429 905 $4,149,252
Costofsales ............ L P [ " 2,851,616 2,698,239 ' 2,462,114
Gross margin ................ FR 1,891,432 1,731,666 " 1,687,138
Selling and administrative expenses ...................... 1,622,339 1,596,136 -~ 1,518,589
Depreciation eXpense . . . .....0. . ...t ianen. .. e : 101,279 108,657  © 99,362
Operating profit ........ .. ... .. . i 167,814 . 26,873 = 69,187
Interest expense ........ e e e ' (581) (6,272) (24,845)
Interest and investment income , ., .. ........ O 3,257 313 C o 618
Income from continuing operations before . - ' :
INCOME LAXES. . . ..ttt e et 170,490 - .20,914 t - 44,960
Income tax €XPense ........ovuiiiiinninnieai.n L ... 57,872 5,189 13,528 .
Income from continuing operations. .. .................... - 112,618 15,725 31,432
Income (loss} from discontinued operations, .
net of tax expense (benefit) of $4,445, $(15,886), and $(5,313) "
in fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectwely ......... 11,427 - - (25813) . (7,669)
Net income (oSS} ..o e $ 124045 & (10,088) § 23,763
Income (loss) per common share — basic: ) :
Continuing Operations . . ......vurrrvr e, $ 1.02 3. 0._i4 $ .0.28

Discontinued operations ............c.....o i, (.10 {0.23) (0.07)
. : : ' 5 .12 .. § 009 § 0.21

Income (loss) per common share — diluted: o
Continuing operations .. ...... .. A T 1) B 014 " $ 0.27
Discontinued operations .......... e L 0.10 {0.23) {0.06)

$ 111§ , (009 S 021

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. -
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ... ... .. oot
INVENIOTIES © .. vt e s AP
Deferred INCOME LAXES . .\ vt ittt ettt ettt ta e e it a e
Other CUITENT @SSEES . . . . o o ot i it ettt ne i emea e anaeans
Total CUITEIE A558E8 . + v vt vt v et e ee e ettt micaaane e e
Property and equipment — net . . ... ... i
Deferred income taxes. ... .. R AP
Otherassets . .................. R T
TOtal AS58TS . o ot vttt e e e e

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ........... e
Property, payroll, and othertaxes. .. .............. ol
Accrued operating expenses. ... ... ... .. I
Insurance reserves ............ e e e
KB bankruptcy lease obligation . .. ... ...
Accrued salaries and WAZES . . . oo . ou it
Incometaxespayable ... ... ... ...
Total current liabilities
Long-term obligations . ... ... .o
Deferted rent ... ..ot e
ISUTANCE TESEIVES . 2 2 v e v v ve e e e eme et e e a e enanenen
Other Habilities . ... ..ot i e
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares — authorized 2,000 shares; $0.01 par value; none issued. . . .
Common shares — authorized 298,000 shares; $0.01 par value;
issued 117,495 shares; outstanding 109,633 shares and
113,932 shares, respectively . . ... ... .. oo i
Treasury shares — 7,862 shares and 3,563 shares, respectively, at cost . . . . ..
Unearned COMPENSAHON . . oo vuu it e i i e
Additional paid-incapital. . ........... . ..o
© Retained CAIMINES . .« o' vveven e e e e
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) .. .....................
Total sharcholders’equity. .. ... ... i
Total liabilities and shareholders’equity ........ ... ... iiaat.

February 3, January 28,
2007 2006
$ 281,657 % 1,710
758,183 836,092
60,292 78,539
48,913 77,413
1,149,047 993,754
505,647 584,083
45,057 18,609
20,775 29,051
$1,720,526 $1,625,497
$ 193,596 $ 169952
93,706 107,126
58,815 60,270
43518 46,474
12,660 27,205
43,515 25,171
28,022 325
474,232 436,523
— 5,500
37,801 42,288
44,238 42,037
34,552 20,425
1,175 1,175
(124,182) (48,294)
— (2,114)
477,318 470,677
781,325 657,280
(5,933) —
1,129,703 1,078,724
$1,720,526 $1,625,497

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance — Jamuary 31,2004 . . ..
Netincome ..................
Exercise of stock options . . . .. ..
Tax benefit from share- ‘
basedawards_.............
Common shares used for
matching contributions
tosavingsplan ............
Sale of treasury shares used
for deferred compensation
plan............ ...
Purchases of common shares. . . .
Treasury share issuances for
stockoptions. .............
Restricted shares awarded . . . ...
Stock-based employee
compensation expense . ... ..
Balance — January 29, 2005 . ...
Netloss.........coooceviony.
Exercise of stock options . .. ....
Tax benefit from share-
based awards..............
Treasury shares used for
matching contributions to
savingsplan. . .............
Sale of treasury shares used for
deferred compensation plan . ,
Resiricted shares awarded, net of
forfeitures . ...............
Stock-based employee
compensation expense ......
Balance — January 28, 2006. . ..
Netincome ..................
Adjustment due to SFAS
No.123(R).....ooevvinn,
Adjustment due to SFAS
No. 158 ..................
Purchases of common shares. . . .
Structured share repurchase .. ..
Exercise of stock options . . ... ..
Tax benefit from share-
basedawards. .............
Treasury shares used for
matching contributions
tosavingsplan ............
Saie of treasury shares used for
deferred compensation plan. .
Stock-based employee
compensation expense . ... ..

Balance — February 3, 2007, ...

BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDMARIES

" Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

{In thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Treasury Unearned Paid-In  Retained Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Compensation Capital Earnings Income {Loss) Total
116,594 § 1,169 333 § (2,735) 5§ — $ 466,740 $643605 0§ — $1,108,779
— — — — — — 23,763 L= 23,763
252 3 — — — §92 — — 895
— — — — — 905 — — 905
316 3 — — — 4,764 — - 4,767
74 — (14 216 — — — — 216
(5427 — 5427 (75,000} — — — — (75,000)
799 — (9% 11,113 — — — — 1,113
172 - (17 2,377 {1,866) (511) — — —
— — — — 52 — — — 52
112,780 1,175 475 (64,029} (1,814) 472,790 667,368 — 1,075,490
— —_ —_— — — —_ {10,088) — (10,088)
600 — (600 8,292 — (1,277} — C 7015
— — -— — — 271 — — 271
447 — (447 6,173 — (1,001) — — 5172
15 —-— (15) 26 — 41) - — (15
90 —  (99) 1,244 (1,017 (227} — — —
— — — — 717 162 — — 879
113,932 1,175 3,563 (48,294} . 2,114) 470,677 657,280 - 1,078,724
— — — — — — 124,045 — 124,045
— — — —_ 2,114 (2,114) — — —
_ _ —_ — —_ — (5,933) (5,933)
(9,461) — 9461 (150,450) — — — — (150,450)
— — — — - 627 — — 627
4,672 — (4,672} 68,128 — (10,609 — — 57,519
— - — — 11,89% — — 11,898
404 —  (404) 5,589 — {415) - — 5174
86 —  (86) 845 — 669 — — 1,514
— — — — — 6,585 — — 6,585
109,633 § 1,175 7862 $(124,182) § — $ 477318 5781,325 $(5.933) $1,129,703

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year
2006 2008 2004

Operating activities:
Netincome (J085) . ...t v ettt $ 124045 $ (10,088) § 23,763
Adjustrents to reconcile net income (loss) to net -
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization eXpense . . ............ooooeaanns 95,613 114,617 101,917
Deferred inCOME taXes ... .o ir it e . {13,641) {10,483) (826)
Employee benefits paid with common shares ................... 5,174 5,172 4,767
Partial charge-off of HCCNote .. ....... ... ... ..t — 6,389 —
KBTOyS Matters ............iiiruunnnereneenrierenannnins (14,218) — 6,648
Non-cash share-based compensationexpense .. ................. 6,585 879 52
Non-cash impairment charges ........ ..., 7,720 2,674 —
Loss on disposition of property and equipment . ................. 4,503 1,414 4,063
CPEMSION .« o vt e 3,599 (585) (6,831)
Tax benefit from share-basedawards. ................ .. ... ... — 27 905
Change in assets and liabilities:
Inventories ... ... e 77,907 58,924 (65,447)
Accountspayable .. ... ... L i 24,044 11,923 (11,183)
Current INCOMELAXES .. ..ot ittt ier e neinineanaos 44,115 (8,821} (7,191)
Other CUrTeNt ASSEL8 . . ot vv vttt c e it a e 4,898 (2,360) (6,325)
Other current liabilities. .. ... .. ... i e e 9,713 21,180 8,564
Otherassets. . .......ooveenenn.. e e e 600 (3,144) (1,433)
Other iabilities . . ... ...t et 820 25,003 19,818
Net cash provided by operating activities. .. ............. 381,477 212,965 71,261 .
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures. .. ... iii i (35,878) (68,503) {135,291)
Proceeds from HCC Note. .. ... .o 677 — —
Purchases of shortterm investments . .....................o... (488,075) — (115,125)
Redemptions of short-term INVEStMENtS. . .. ..ottt inarne e 488,075 — 122,625
Cash proceeds from sale of property and equipment. ............. 4,883 1,844 245
(10 171 GGG S (103) (43) (210)
Net cash used in investing activities. .. ................. (30421 (66,702) (127,756)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term obligations. . ................. ... 269,900 2,325,300 1,448 200
Payment of long-term obligations ... ........... ... e (275,400)  (2,479,000)  (1,493,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options ................. L. 57,519 7,015 12,008
Excess tax benefit from share-basedawards .................... 11,898 — —
Payment for KB Toys subrogation receivable . .................. —_ — (6,100)
Payment for treasury shares acquired. .. ............. ... 0 (150,450) — (75,000)
Structured share repurchase .. ... ... ... o i 627 — —
Treasury shares sold (acquired) for deferred compensation plan. . . .. 1,514 (15) 216
Proceeds from finance obligation. .. ...... .. .. ... i 13,283 —_ —
Deferred bank andbond feespaid .. ....... . ... oo — {(374) (1,311)
Net cash used in financing activities. . . ................. (71,109) (147,074) (114,987)
Increase {(decreasc) in cash and cash equivalents .. ................ 279,547 (811) (171,482)
Cash ‘and cash equivalents:
Beginningofyear. ....... .. ... i ) 1,710 2,521 174,003
End of YEaT . .\ vttt i $ 281657 8 1,710 § 2,521
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid forinterest. . ... veeeiiiii i b 322 8 6,065 § 26,140
Cash paid for income taxes (excluding impact of refunds). . ......... $ 35727 % 22227 § 23314

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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. BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDMARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note I — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

27 &

All references in the consolidated financial statements and these related notes to “we,” “us,” “our,” or
“Company” are to Big Lots, Inc. and its subsidiaries. We are the nation’s largest broadline closeout retailer.

At February 3, 2007, we operated a total of 1,375 stores in 47 states. Our goal is to build upon our leadership
position in broadline closeout retailing by providing our customers with great savings on brand-name closeouts
and other value-priced merchandise. The Company’s website is located at www.biglots.com. The contents of our
website are not part of this report.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, and include all of our
accoums. All significant intercompany accounis and transactions have been eliminated. .

Fiscal Year

We follow the concept of a 52-53 week fiscal year, which ends on the Saturday nearest'to January 31. Fiscal
year 2006, which ended February 3, 2007, was comprised of 53 weeks. Fiscal years 2005 and 2004, which
ended January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005, respectively, were comprised of 52 weeks.

Segment Reporting

We manage our business based on one segment, broadline closeout retailing. At February 3, 2007 and January
28, 2006, all of our operations were located within the United States of America.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates,
judgments, and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods. Actual results may differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of amounts on deposit with financial institutions, outstanding
checks, credit and debit card receivables, and highly liquid investments which are unrestricted to withdrawal or
use and which have an original maturity of three months or less. Amounts due from banks for credit and debit
card transactions are typically settled in less than seven days. Amounts due from banks for these transactions
totaled $19.7 million and $15.5 million at February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, respectively. Cash equivalents
are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Investments

Investment securities are classified as available-for-sale or trading at the date of purchase with the applicable
accounting treatment followed for each category. We do not have any held-to-maturity investments.
Investments are recorded at fair value as either current assets or non-current assets based on the stated maturity
or our plans to either hold or sell the investment. Unrealized holding gains and losses on trading securities are
recognized in earnings. Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are recognized in
other comprehensive income, until realized. We do not own any available-for-sale securities as of February 3,
2007 or January 28, 2006.
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Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory
method. Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which generally is the merchandise
selling price. Under the average cost retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of
merchandise having similar characteristics and is stated at its current retail selling value. Inventory retail values
are converted to a cost basis by applying specific average cost factors for each merchandise department. Cost
factors represent the average cost-to-retail ratio for each merchandise department based on beginning inventory
and the fiscal year purchase activity.

Payments Received from Vendors

Payments received from vendors relate primarily to rebates and reimbursement for markdowns and are
recognized in our consolidated statements of operations as a reduction to cost of sales when the related
inventory is sold.

Store Supplies

When opening a new store, a portion of the initial shipment of supplies (including primarily display materials,
signage, security-related items, and miscellaneous store supplies) is capitalized at the store opening date. '
Subsequent replenishments of these store supplies are expensed. Capitalized store supplies are adjusted

as appropriate for changes in estimated quantities or costs and are included in other current assets in our
consolidated balance sheet. '

Intangible Assets

Trademarks, service marks, and other intangible assets are stated at cost and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over a period of 15 years. Where there is an indication of impairment, the Company evaluates the fair
value and future benefits of the related intangible asset and the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows
from the related intangible asset is calculated and compared to the carrying value. Our assumptions related to
estimates of future cash flows are based on historical results of cash flows adjusted for management projections
for future periods.

Property and Equipmenf — Net

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment are recorded on a straight-line basis using
estimated service lives. Leaschold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis using the shorter

of their estimated service lives or the lease term. When a decision has been made to dispose of property or
equipment prior to the end of its previously estimated service life, depreciation estimates are revised to reflect
the use of the asset over the shortened estimated service life. The cost of assets sold or retired and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in net income.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major repairs that extend service lives are
capitalized.

The estimated service lives of our property and equipment by major asset category are as follows:

Land improvements ............. .0 i A 15 years
Buildings and leasehold improvements .. ................ [P 5-40) years
Fixtures andequipment . ....... .. .ot iiianiianarnn. 5-15 years
Computer software costs . ........... e . 3-7 years
Transportation equUipment. . . ... ..o oruvr e 3-20 years
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Capitalized interest was $0.1 million in fiscal year 2006, an insignificant amount in fiscal year 2003, and $0.6
million in fiscal year 2004,

Impairment

We have long-lived assets that consist primarily of property and equipment. We review historical operating
results at the store level in order to determine if impairment indicators are present. Impairment is recorded

if impairment indicators are present and if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its anticipated
undiscounted future net cash flows. Our assumptions related to estimates of future cash flows are based on
historical results of cash flows adjusted for management projections for future periods. We estimate service
lives on buildings and equipment using assumptions based on historical data and industry trends. We estimate
the fair value of our tong-lived assets using readily available market information for similar assets.

Closed Store Accounting

We recognize an obligation for the fair value of lease termination costs when we cease using the leased property
in our operations. In measuring fair value, we consider the remaining minimum lease payments, estimated
subleasc rentals that could be reasonably obtained, and other potentially mitigating factors. We discount the
estimated obligation using the applicable credit adjusted interest rate, resulting in accretion expense in periods
subsequent to the period of initial measurement. We continue to monitor the obligation for lease liability in
subsequent periods and revise any estimated liability, if necessary. Severance and benefits associated with
terminating employees from employment are recognized ratably from the communication date through the
estimated future service period, unless the estimated future service period is less than 60 days, in which case
we recognize the impact at the communication date. Generally all other store closing costs are recognized when
incurred.

When material, we classify the results of operations of closed stores as discontinued operations when the
operations and cash flows of the stores have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing operations and we no
longer have any significant continuing involvement in the operations associated with the stores after closure.
We generally meet the second criteria on all closed stores as, upen closure, operations cease and we have no
continuing involvement. To determine if cash flows have been (or will be) eliminated from ongoing operations,
we evaluate a number of qualitative and quantitative factors, including, but not limited to, proximity to
remaining open stores and estimated sales migration from the closed store to any stores remaining open. The
estimated sales migration is based on our historical estimates of sales migration upon opening or closing a store
in a similar market. For purposes of reporting the operations of stores meeting the criteria for discontinued
operations, we report net sales, gross margin, and related operating costs that are directly attributable to and
specifically identifiable with those stores’ operations as discontinued operations. Certain corporate-level
charges, such as gencral office cost, field operations, national advertising, fixed distribution costs, and interest
cost are not allocated to discontinued operations because these costs are not specific to the stores’ operations,

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which is a revision of SFAS

No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to
employees and directors, including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based
on their fair values. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on January 29, 2006, under the modified prospective method,
in which the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) are to be applied to new awards and to previously granted
awards that are not fully vested on the effective date. The modified prospective method does not require
restatement of previous years’ financial statements. As of the effective date, we eliminated our balance of
Unearned Compensation, which represented unrecognized compensation cost for restricted stock awards, and
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“reclassified it to Additional Paid-In Capita! in accordance with the modified prospective method. We made a
one-time election to adopt the transition method related to accounting for the tax effects of share-based awards
as described in FASB Staff Position No. SFAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards, and, as a result, used the short-cut method to determine our beginning
excess tax benefit pool. Additionally, SFAS No. 123(R) requires that the benefit of tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow rather than as an operating cash flow. The
impact of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) for fiscal year 2006 resulted in the recognition of expense on stock options
which increased selling and administrative expenses by $2.1 million ($0.01 impact on earnings per share).
Because we accelerated the vesting of stock options in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, the expense for
fiscal year 2006 is lcss than what would have been recognized without such acceleration (See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements).

We value and expense stock options with graded vesting as a single award with an average estimated life over
the entire term of the award. The expense is recorded straight-line over the vesting period. The fair value of
restricted common shares is measured at the grant date and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period. Compensation expense for performance-based restricted common shares is recorded based on the
estimated achievement date of the performance criteria. Compensation expense for all share-based awards is
recognized in selling and administrative expense.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we accounted for share-based compensation using the intrinsic value-
based method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees. The following table presents net income (loss) and earnings per share if the fair
value method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested stock options for fiscal year 2005 and 2004,
respectively:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004

fIn thousands, except per shure amounts)
Net income (loss).

Asreported . . ...... ... ... .. B $(10,088) $23,763

Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effect ..................... (10,277) (3,604)

L300 (1) v41: WD $(20,365) $20,159
Income {loss) per common share — basic: _

Asreported. .. .. .. e e $ (009 § 021

Pro fOFITIA & o oo et e e et et it et e e e e e e e $ (018) § 018
Income (loss) per common share — diluted:

ASTEPOMEA . . .\ttt it e e $§ (009 $§ 0.21

PrO FOITIIA . . . ottt e e e $ (0.18) $ 0.8

The increase in pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense in fiscal year 2005 is due to the
acceleration of vesting of certain stock options in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 (See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements).
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Income Taxes

We have generated deferred tax assets and liabilities due to temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
We assess the adequacy and need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. We also consider SFAS No.
109 tax planning strategies in determining the amount of valuation allowance required. We have established a
valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the balance that is more likely than not to be realized.

The effective income tax rate in any period may be materially impacted by the overall level of income (loss)
before income taxes, the jurisdictional mix and magnitude of income (loss), changes in the income tax laws
(which may be retroactive to the beginning of the fiscal year), changes in the expected outcome or settlement of
an income tax contingency, changes in the deferred tax valuation allowance, and adjustments of a deferred tax
asset or liability for enacted changes in tax laws or rates,

Our income tax accounts reflect estimates of the outcome or settlement of various asserted and unasserted
income tax contingencies (and interest thereon) including tax audits and administrative appeals. At any point in
time, several tax years may be in various stages of audit or appeal or could be subject to audit by various taxing
jurisdictions. This requires a periodic identification and evaluation of significant doubtful or controversial
issues. The results of the audits, appeals, and expiration of the statute of limitations are reflected in the income
tax accounts accordingly.

Pension

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employvers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension

and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS No.

158 required us to recognize it the February 3, 2007, statement of financial position an asset for the over
funded status or a lability for the under funded status of a defined benefit plan and beginning in fiscal

year 2007, to recognize annual changes in gains or losses, prior service costs, or other credits that have not

yet been recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost, net of tax through other comprehensive
income. Effective in fiscal year 2008, SFAS No. 158 also requires us to measure defined benefit plan assets -
and obligations as of the date of our year-end consolidated balance sheet. Currently, our pension plans have a
measurement date of December 31. Switching to the new measurement date will require a one-time adjustment
in fiscal year 2008 to retained earnings per the transition guidance in SFAS No. 158.

We adopted the funding recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 in fiscal year 2006. To properly report the
funded status of our quaiified defined benefit pension plan (“Pension Plan™) and nonqualified supplemental
defined benefit pension plan (“Supplemental Pension Plan”) we recognized a $5.9 million charge, net of tax
benefit of $3.9 million, in accumulated other comprehensive income principally comprised of $0.3 million of
prior service costs and $5.6 million of actuarial loss. We expect to reclassify $0.1 million of the prior service
cost and $0.3 million of the actuarial loss into earnings during fiscal year 2007. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 158, we combined the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan for purposes of reporting any net
pension asset or obligation. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 158, based on the December 31, 2006 plan valuations,
we recognized a $2.8 million asset included in other assets for the Pension Plan and a $4.4 million liability,
$0.3 million of which was included in accrued salaries and wages and $4.1 million of which was included in
other liabilities, for the Supplemental Pension Plan. In fiscal year 2006, we began reporting separately the
pension impact to cash provided by operations on the consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior periods were
reclassified to be consistent with the current year presentation. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 did not have any
impact on net income in fiscal year 2006.
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Pension assumptions are evaluated each year. Actuarial valuations are used to provide assistance in calculating
the estimated obligations related to our pension plans. We review external data and historical trends to help
determine the discount raté and expected long-term rate'of return. Qur objective in selecting a discount rate is to
identify the best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled on the measurement date.
In making this estimate, we review rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments currently available
and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the benefits. This procéss includes a review of

the bonds available on the rpeasurehent date with a quality rating of Aa or better. The expected long-term

rate of return.on assets was derived from detailed periodic studies, which include a review of asset allocation
strategies, anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes, risks (standard deviations),

and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise the plan’s asset mix. While the studies give
appropriate consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns, the assumption is primarily a long-
term, prospective rate of return,

Insurance Reserves - : . ‘ ] ,

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation, and
employee medical and dental benefit claims, a portion of which is paid by employees. We have purchased stop-
loss coverage to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued insurance liabilities and related expenses
are based on actual claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported. The estimated accruals are |
determined by applying actuarially-based calculations. General liability and workers’ compensation liabilities
are recorded at our estimate of their net present value while other liabilities for insurance reserves are not
discounted.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments -

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses
approximates fair value because of the relative short maturity of these items. The carrying value of our
long-term obligations at January 28, 2006, approximates fair value because the interest rates are variable and
approximate current market rates.

Commitments and Contmgencles

We are subject to various clalms and contingencies including legal actions and other claims arising out of

the normal course of business. In connection with such claims and contingencies, we estimate the likelihood
and amount of any potential obligation using management’s judgment. Management uses various internal

and external experts to assist in the estimating process. We accrue, if material, a liability if the likelihood of
an adverse outcome is probable and the amount is estimable. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome is only
reasonably possible (as opposed to probable), or if it is probable but an estimate is not determinable, disclosure
of a material claim or contingency is made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. )

Revenue Recognition

v

We recognize sales at the time the customer takes possession of merchandise. All sales are net of discounts and
returns and exclude sales tax. The reserve for merchandise returnsis estimated based on our prior experience.

We recognize sales revenue related to gift cards at the time of redemption. The liability for the gift cards is
established for the cash value at the time of purchase. The liability for outstanding gift cards is recorded in
accrued operating expenses.
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We offer price hold contracts on selected furniture merchandise. Revenue for price hold contracts is recognized
when the customer makes the final payment and takes possession of the merchandise. Amounts paid by
customers under price hold contracts are recorded in accrued operating expenses until a sale is consummated.

: .o

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of merchandise (including related inbound freight to our distribution centers,
duties, and commissions), markdowns, and inventory shrinkage, net of cash discounts and rebates. We classify
warehousing and cutbound distribution and transportation costs as selling and administrative expenses. Due
to this classification, our gross margin rates may not be comparable to those of other retallers that mclude
warehousing and outbound distribution and transportation costs in cost of sales.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

We include store expenses (such as payroll and occupancy costs), warehousing and outbound distribution and
transportation costs to our stores, advertising, purchasing, insurance, non-income taxes, and overhead costs in
selling and administrative expenses. Selling and administrative expense rates may not be comparable to those of
other retailers that include outbound distribution and transportation costs in cost of sales. Qutbound distribution
and transportation costs included in selling and administrative expenses were $222.1 ml“l()l'l $223.8 million,
and $218.7 ml]]]OH for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respéctively.

Rent Expense

Rent expense is recognized over the term of the lease and is included in selling and administrative expenses. We
recognize minimum rent starting when possession of the property is taken from the landlord, which normally
includes a construction period prior to store opening. When a lease contains a predetermined fixed escalation
of the minimum rent, we recognize the related rent expense on a straight-line basis and record the difference
between the recognized rental expense and the amounts payable under the lease as deferred incentive rent. We
also receive tenant allowances, which are recorded in deferred incentive rent and are amortized as a reductlon 1o
rent expense over the term of the lease.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at inception. Contingent rent includes rent
based on a percentage of sales that are in excess of a predetermined level. Contingent rent is excluded from
minimum rent and is included in the determination of total rent expense when it is probable that the expense has
been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred, consist primarily of priﬁt and television advertisements, and are
included in selling and administrative expenses. Advertising expenses were $105.4 million, $103.2 million, and
$97.2 million for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share includes the additional dilutive effect of stock options and unvested restrlcted
stock, calculated using the treasury stock method.
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Store Pre-opening Costs

Pre-opening costs related to new store openings and the construction periods are expensed as incurred.

Guarantees

In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Jfor
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, the Company recognizes a liability for
the fair value of guarantees when issued. Guarantees issued prior to January 1, 2003, are not subject to the fair
value recognition rules but are required to be disclosed. With respect to guarantee obligations issued prior to
January 1, 2003, the Company records a liability if the obligation is estimable in the period incurred.

Other Comprehensive Income

Our comprehensive income is equal to net income.

Reclassification

Prior period amounts payable and accrued for inbound merchandise-related freight have been reclassified to
accounts payable from accrued operating expenses on the consolidated balance sheet for all periods presented.
The reclassification did not impact our previously reported net income, total assets, current liabilities and
shareholders’ equity, or net cash provided by operating activities, investing activities, or financing activities in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. ‘

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, which is effective as of the beginning of fiscal year 2007. FIN 48 is an interpretation of SFAS No.

109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN

48 requires us to recognize in our financial statements the impact of an income tax position, if that position

is more likely than not of being sustained, based on the technical merits of the position. The recognition and
measurement guidelines of FIN 48 will be applied 1o all of our income tax positions as of the beginning of fiscal
year 2007, with any resulting adjustment posted as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle to
beginning retained earnings of fiscal year 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 48 on 1ts financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB No. 108"), Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.
SAB No. 108 provides guidance to registrants for assessing materiality. SAB No. 108 states that registrants
should use both a balance sheet approach and income statement approach when quantifying and evaluating
the materiality of a misstatement. SAB No. 108 also provides guidance on correcting errors under the dual
approach as well as transition gnidance for correcting previously immaterial errors that are now considered
material. We adopted SAB No. 108 as of February 3, 2007, without any impact on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 108”). SFAS No.
157 addresses how companies should approach measuring fair value when required by GAAP. SFAS No. 157
does not create or modify any GAAP requirements to apply fair value accounting. The standard provides a
single definition of fair value that is to be applied consistently for all accounting applications and also generally
describes and prioritizes according to reliability the methods and inputs used in valuations. SFAS No. 157
prescribes additional disclosures regarding the extent of fair value measurements included in a company’s
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financial statements and the methods and inputs used to arrive at these values. SFAS No, 157 is effective on a
prospective basis for us in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. We expect no significant impact on our financial
condition, results of operations, or liquidity from adopting this statement.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 139, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2008. We are presently
cvaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 159 on our results of operations and financial position.
Note 2 — Property and Equipment — Net

Property and equipment — net consists of:

February 3, January 28,

2007 . 2006
{In thousands}
Land and land improvements . ......... ... . .. .. $§ 38714 § 39,882
Buildings and leasehold improvements ........... ... ot 656,161 651,998
Fixtures and equipment . . ... ... .. i i e 592,829 597,216
Computer software costs ...... e e 63,866 59,922
Transportation eqUIPIMENT . . . ... L. ottt ittt 21,397 21,483
Construction-IN-PTOBIESS . ..\ttt t ittt e ettt i e e ie et iae e 1,093 1,706
Property and equipment — COSt .. .. ... 1,374,060 1,372,207
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ................... .- 868,413 788,124
Property and equipment — et .. .. ... ... i $ 505,647 $ 584,083

In fiscal year 2006, we incurred $7.7.million in asset impairment charges principally for the write-down of long-
lived assets of 26 stores, 22 of which we opened in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. In fiscal year 2005, we incurred
$2.0 million in asset impairment charges for the write-down of long-lived assets of 14 stores. Asset impairment
charges are included in selling and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Assets are reviewed for impairment at the store level. Stores with a history of operating losses are reviewed for
impairment. We compare the net book value of long-lived assets at stores identified by this review, to estimated
future cash flows of each specific store in order to determine whether impairment exists. If the assets are not
recoverable by the estimated future cash flows, an impairment is recognized to write-down the long-fived assets
to fair value, We estimate the fair value of our long-lived assets using readily available market information for
similar assets.

Upon the successful completion of a pilot program in 32 of our stores and the decision to move forward with
the implementation of a new register system in ail of our stores, we reduced the remaining estimated service
life on approximately $6.9 million of certain point of sale equipment. The impact of this service life reduction
was 1o recognize approximately $2.3 million of depreciation expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006.
The estimated remaining service life was based on our projected roll out schedule to all remaining stores,
approximately one-half in fiscal year 2007 and one-half in fiscal year 2008.

Depreciation expense included in ioss from discontinued operations of the 130 closed stores was $12.2 million
and $4.9 million for fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively..
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On October 29, 2004, we entered into the $500.0 million 2004 Credit Agreement. The 2004 Credit Agreement
is scheduled to terminate on October 28,-2009. The proceeds of the 2004 Credit Agreement are available

for general corporate purposes, working capital, and to repay certain of our indebtedness. Due to the early
repayment of the prior indebtedness, interest expense in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 included debt
prepayment charges of $8 9 million.

The pricing and fees related to the 2004 Credit Agreement fluctuate based on our debt rating. Loans made
under the 2004 Credit Agreement may be prepaid by us without penalty. The 2004 Credit Agreement contains
financial and other covenants, including, but not limited to, limitations on indebtedness, liens, and investments,
as well as the maintenance of two financial ratios — a leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. A
violation of these covenants could result in a default under the 2004 Credit Agreement, which would permit

the lenders to restrict our ability to further access the 2004 Credit Agreement for loans and letters of credit,
and require the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans under the 2004 Credit Agreement. We were in
comphance with these amended financial covenants at February 3, 2007.

On December 22, 2006, we entered into a second amendment to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to permit
us to acquire investments rated by a third rating agency. On October 25, 2005, we entered into an amendment
to the 2004 Credit Agreement in order to eliminate the 1mpact on the covenant calculations of the estimated
charges related to the store closings discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements,

The 2004 Credit Agreement permits, at our option, borrowings at various interest rate options based on the
prime rate or London InterBank Offering Rate plus applicable margin. The 2004 Credit Agreement also
permits, as applicable, borrowings at various interest rate options mutually agreed upon by us and the lenders:
The weighted average interest rate of the outstanding loans was 5.1% at January 28, 2006. We typically repay
and/or borrow on a daily basis in accordance with the terms of the 2004 Credit Agreement. The daily activity is
a net résult of our liquidity position, which is generally affected by: 1) cash inflows such as store cash and other
miscellaneous deposits; and 2) cash outflows such as check clearings, wire and other electronic transactions,
and other miscellaneous disbursements.

In addition to revolving credit loans, the 2004 Credit Agreement includes a $30.0 million swing loan sub-

limit, a $50.0 million bid loan sub-limit, and a $150.0 million letter of credit sub-limit: At February 3, 2007,

we did not have any borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement. At January 28, 2006, the total
borrowings outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement were $5.5 million, all in swing loans. The borrowings
available under the 2004 Credit Agreement, after taking into account the reduction of availability resulting from
outstanding letters of credit totaling $57.9 million, were $442.1 million at February 3, 2007.

Note 4 — Sale of Real Estate

In September 2006, under the threat of eminent domain, we sold a company-owned and operated store in
California for an approximate $12.8 million gain. As part of the sale, we entered into a lease which permits us
to occupy and operate the store through January 2009 in exchange for $1 per year rent plus the cost of taxes,
insurance, and common area maintenance. We may vacate the property at any time without liability, Due to
our continuing involvement with the property at below market rent, the sale is being recogmzed as a finance
obligation under the provisions of SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate. As a'result, the gain on
the sale will be deferred until the end of the lease, which is currently expected to be in the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2008, The net sales proceeds of approximately $13.3 million were recorded as a lang-term real estate
liability included in other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of February 3, 2007.

See Note 11 for discussion of the sale of the Pittsfield distribution center (formerly owned by the KB Toys
business).
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Note § — Leases

Leased property consists primarily of our retail stores and certain warchouse space. Many of the store leases
provide that we pay for real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance. Certain leases provide for contingent
rents or may have rent escalations. In addition, many leases provide options to extend the original terms for an
additional one to fifteen years. ‘

‘ Total retail store and warchouse lease expense, including real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance,
charged to continuing operations for operating leases of stores, warehouses, and offices consisted of the

following:
Fis;:al Year
. 2006 2005 2004
' (In thousands)
Minimum leases ... ... ..o e 3238,414 $240,656 $224,124
Contingentleases .......... ... ..ot 933 1,159 894
Total retail store and warehouse lease expense ...................... $239.349 $241.815 $225018

Lease expense for operating leases associated with the 130 closed stores included in income (loss) from
discontinued operations was $15.2 million and $16.8 million for fiscal year 2005 and fiscal year 2004,
respectively,

Lease related income (expense) for the KB Toys business included in income (loss) from discontinued )
operations was $14.5 million, $0.4 million and $(8.6) million for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
This lease income (expense) was related to KB Toys leases guaranteed by the Company which were rejected
during the KB Toys bankruptcy.

Future minimum commitments for equipment, store and warehouse leases, excluding closed store leases and
real estate taxes, CAM, and property insurance, at February 3, 2007, were as follows:

Fiscal Year

{In thousands)

2007 ....... e e e e e $195,225

2008 . e e 168,619

2009 e 132,353 -

2000 .. 93,340

2000 L 64,338

Thereafter ........ ... ... . . i, 85,969
Total leases ..........ccoviiiiiiiiinnnnnn. $739,844

Note 6 — Shareholders’ Equity

Earnings per Share

There are no adjustments required to be made to weighted-average common shares outstanding for purposes of

computing basic and diluted earnings per share and there were no securities outstanding at February 3, 2007,

which were excluded from the computation of earnings per share other than antidilutive employee and director !
stock options discussed below. o !
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A reconciliation of the number of weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted
earnings per share computations is as follows: '

Fiscal Year
' 2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Weighted-average common shares cutstanding:
Bastc ... 110,336 113,240 114,281
Dilutive effect of stock options and restrictedshares .................. 1,594 437 520
Diluted .. ... e 111,930 113,677 114,801

At the end of fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, stock options outstanding of 1.1 million, 5.0 million, and 5.1
million, respectively, were excluded from the diluted share calculation because their impact was antidilutive.
Antidilutive options are excluded from the calculation because they decrease the number of diluted shares
outstanding under the treasury stock method. Antidilutive options are generally outstanding options where the
exercise price is greater than the weighted-average market price of our common stock for each period.

On February 22, 2006, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0
million of our common shares. In accordance with this repurchase program, we purchased 9.4 million common
shares having an aggregate cost of $150.0 million with an average price of $15.90 in fiscal year 2006. In

May 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of our commen shares. In
accordance with this repurchase program, we purchased 5.4 million common shares having an aggregate cost
of $75.0 million with an average price paid per share of $13.82 in fiscal year 2004. The repurchased common
shares were placed into treasury and are used for general corporate purposes including the issuance of shares
related to equity compensation and employee benefit plans.

In June 2006, we paid $14.7 million to enter into a structured share repurchase transaction which settled in cash
on its maturity date in September 2006. The initial cash disbursement and subsequent receipt of cash were
recorded in additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet. We entered into the structured share
repurchase transaction as part of our share repurchase program announced in February 2006. Because the
market price of our common shares was above $15.34 on the maturity date, we received $15.3 million on the
maturity date, representing our original investment of $14.7 million and a $0.6 million return on our investment.

Note 7— Stock Plans

In May 2003, our shareholders approved the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan {the “2005 Incentive
Plan™). The 2005 Incentive Plan replaced the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan, as amended (the
“1996 Incentive Plan™). Beginning January 1, 2006, equity awards were issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan.

The 1996 Incentive Plan and 2003 Incentive Plan authorize the issuance of incentive and nonqualified stock
options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units, and stock appreciation rights. We have not
issued restricted stock units, performance units, or stock appreciation rights. As a result of its expiration, there
were no common shares available for issuance under the 1996 Incentive Plan at February 3, 2007. The number
of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists of® 1) an initial allocation of
1,250,000 common shares; 2) 2,001,142 commen shares, the number of common shares that were available
under the 1996 Incentive Plan upon its expiration; and 3) an annual increase equal to 0.75% of the total number
of issued common shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of each of our fiscal years during which

the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (“Committee™), .
which is charged with administering the 2005 Incentive Plan, determines the term of each award. Stock options
granted to employees generally expire on the lesser of: 1) the term set by the Committee, which has historically
been 7 to 10 years from the grant date; 2) one year following death or disability; or 3) three months following

53




B1G LOTS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 7 — Stock Plans (Continued)

termination. Stock options granted under the 1996 Incentive Plan and 2005 Incentive Plan may be either
nonqualified or incentive stock options, and the exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the
underlying common shares (i.e. 100 percent of the volume-weighted average trading price) on the grant date.
The stock options generally vest ratably over a four-year or five-year period; however, upon a change in control
of the Company, all awards outstanding automatically vest.

We maintain the Big Lots Director Stock Option Plan (*Director Stock Option Plan”) for non-employee
directors. The number of common shares initially available for issuance under the Director Stock Option

Plan was 781,250 shares. The Director Stock Option Plan is administered by the Committee pursuant

10 an established formula. Neither the Board of Directors nor the Committee exercises any discretion in
administration of the Director Stock Option Plan. Grants are made annually, approximately 90 days following
the Annual Meeting of Sharcholders, at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying
common shares (i.e. 100 percent of the final trading price) on the date of grant. The present formula provides
to each non-employee director an annual grant of an option to acquire 10,000 of our common shares which
become fully exercisable over a three-year period: 20% of the shares on the first anniversary, 60% on the second
anniversary, and 100% on the third anniversary. Stock options granted to non-employee directors expire on the
lesser of: 1) 10 years plus one month; or 2) one year following death or disability; or 3) at the end of our trading
window immediately following termination.

On November 21, 2005, we announced that the Committee, after discussion with our Board of Directors,
approved accelerating the vesting of stock options representing approximately 3.8 miilion of our common
shares awarded on or before February 21, 2005, under the 1996 Incentive Plan and the Director Stock Option
Plan. The Committee did not, however, accelerate the vesting of stock options granted after February 21, 2005,
including those granted to our current Chief Executive Officer, Steven S. Fishman, or the vesting of stock
options granted to our former Chief Executive Officer. The decision to accelerate vesting of stock options was
made primarily to reduce non-cash compensation expense that would have been recorded by us beginning

in fiscal year 2006 following the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. This
action resulted in an insignificant amount of expense recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 for

the impact of the shares estimated to be modified and is expected to enable us to eliminate pretax expense

of approximately $11.7 million over the five year period during which the stock options would have vested,
subject to the impact of additional adjustments related to cancelled stock options. The acceleration resulted in
additional proforma stock-based employee compensation expense in fiscal year 2005 as disclosed in Note 1.
Additionally, the Committee imposed a holding period that requires all directors, executive vice presidents, and
senior vice presidents (including our named executive officers other than Mr. Fishman whose stock options were
not accelerated) to refrain from selling shares acquired upon the exercise of the accelerated stock options until
the date on which the exercise would have been permitted under the stock option’s original vesting terms or, if
earlier, the director or officer’s death, permanent and total disability, or termination of employment.

We use a binomial model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted on or after February 1, 2004, The
fair value of stock options granted prior to February 1, 2004, was determined using the Black-Scholes model.
The binomial model takes into account variables such as volatility, dividend yield rate, risk-free rate, contractual
term of the option, the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of its contractual life, and
the probability of retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option. Expected volatility was
based in part on historical and current implied- volatilities from traded options on our common shares. The risk-
free rate was based on U.8S. Treasury security yields at the time of the grant, The dividend yield on our common
shares was assumed to be zero since we have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future.
The expected life was determined from the binomial model. The model incorporated exercise and post-vesting
forfeiture assumptions based on analysis of historical data.
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The assumptions used in the option pricing model for each of the respective periods were as follows:

Fiscal Year

. ‘ 2006 2005 2004
Weighted-average fair value of options granted ......................... $£556 %474 $5.48
Risk-freeinterestrates . ... ... . i i 4.6% 3.9% 3.1%

Expected life (Years) .. ...t e 4.6 5.5 5.2
Expected volatility . ... ... ... .. i e 424%  42.4% 39.0% '
Expected annual forfeiture . ... ... ... ... .. 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

The following table summarizes information about our stock options outstanding and exercisable at February 3,
2007

Range of Prices Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
} Average Weighted- Weighted-

Less Remaining Average Average
Greater Than or Options Life Exercise Options Exercise

Than Equalte  Outstanding {Years) Price Exercisable Price
$ 779 $11.25 1,181,080 5.6 $10.93 654,880 $10.79
11.26 11.74 . 829335 6.9 11.63 802,835 11.63
11.75+ 12.66 1,589,160 6.1 12.40 472,760 12.00
12.67 15.05 1,498,610 6.9 14.79 1,248,810 14.80
$15.06 $43.38 1,546,805 20 26.16 1,427,805 26.70

6,644,990 53 $15.78 4,607,190 $17.08
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A summary of the annual stock option activity for fiscal years 2004, 2005, and 2006 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Contractual Intrinsic
7 Term | Value
Options Price @ {years) (000’s)

QOutstanding at January 31,2004 .................... 10,724,916 $14.73
Granted . ... ... . e 2,718,800 14.77
Exercised. .. ...t e (1,050,787) 11.42
Forfeited . ... ... ... .. .. . . . (1,783,429 15.31
Outstanding at January 29,2005 .................... 10,609,500 14.97
Granted. . .......... . e 2,081,800 11.52
Exercised. . ... ... .. .. e (600,021) i1.69
Forfeited . ... ... .. ... .. .. . . . . e (1,400,534) 14.76
Outstanding at January 28,2006 .. .................. 10,690,745 14.52
Granted . ... ... .. e 1,137,900 13.40
Exercised. . ... ... ... e {4,671,936) 12.31
Forfeited ......... .. ... i {511,719) 15.78
Outstanding at February 3,2007 .. .................. 6,644,990 . $15.78 53 $73,439
Vested and expected to vest at February 3, 2007, ....... 6,494,867 $15.84 53 $70,571
Exercisable at February 3,2007 . .................... 4,607,190 $17.08 4.9 $46,642

(a) Weighted-average per share exercise price.
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A summary of the restricted stock activity for fiscal years 2004, 2005, and 2006 is as follows:

Weighted

Average Grant

Number of Shares Date Fair Value
Nonvested restricted stock at January 31,2004 . .. .. ............... — } —
Granted . . ... e e 172,000 10.85
Vested . .. o e e — —
Forfeited . ... O — —
Nonvested restricted stock at January 29,2005, ................... 172,000 10.85
Granted . . ..o e 100,000 11.25
Vested . ... (53,998) 10.85
Forfeited . . ... . i e e (10,000) 10.85
Nonvested restricted stock at January 28,2006, .. ................. 208,002 11.04
Granmed . . o oottt i e e e 290,700 12.91
Vested................. e e e e e (87,331) 11.00
Forfeited ... .o e e e (2,700) 12.80
Nonvested restricted stock at February 3,2007.................... 408,671 $12.37

For the restricted common shares granted in fiscal year 2006, if we meet a threshold financial performance
target and the employee remains employed by us, the restricted common shares will vest at the opening of our
first trading window that is five years after the grant date. If we meet a higher financial performance target
and the employee remains employed by us, the restricted common shares will vest at the opening of our first
trading window that is after we file our Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC for the year in which the
higher target is met. In fiscal year 2006, we achieved the higher financial performance target, resulting in
approximately $3.7 million of expense recognized for the 288,000 restricted common shares expected to vest.

The restricted common shares awarded to Steven S. Fishman upon the commencement of his employment as
our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President in fiscal year 2005 vest in one-third increments upon the
attainment of mutually agreed common share price targets or fully after five years of service or upon a change
in control of the Company. The 2005 restricted common share grant will be forfeited, in whole or in part, as
applicable, if Mr. Fishman voluntarily terminates his employment or if he is terminated for cause prior to full
vesting of the grant. In fiscal year 2006, the first agreed common share price target was achieved and one-third
of these restricted common shares vested. Subsequent to the end of fiscal year 2006, the second agreed common
share price target was achieved and an additional one-third of these restricted common shares vested.

The restricted common shares awarded to certain of our officers as a retention package upon the transition of
the former Chief Executive Officer and President to a different position in fiscal year 2004 vest equally over
three years and fully if the employee is involuntarily terminated without cause or upon change in contro} of the
Company. The 2004 restricted share grants will be forfeited, in whole or in part, as applicable, if the employee
voluntarily terminates his or her employment or if the employee is terminated for cause.
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During fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, the following activity occurred under our share-based compensation plans:

2006 2005 2004
{In thousands)
Total intrinsic value of stock optionsexercised. .. ................ e $30,416  $695  $2,292
Total fair value of restricted stock vested. ... ...... . ... o . 1,970 658 _—

The total unearned compensation cost related to share-based awards outstanding at February 3, 2007, was
approximately $7.9 million. This compensation cost is expected to be recognized through January 2011 based
on existing vesting terms with the weighted average remaining expense recognition period being approximately
2.8 years from February 3, 2007.

Note 8 — Employee Benefit Plans
Pension Benefits

We maintain the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan covering certain employees whose hire date
precedes April 1, 1994. Benefits under each plan are based on credited years of service and the employee’s
compensation during the last five years of employment. We maintain the Supplemental Pension Plan for certain
highly compensated executives whose benefits were frozen in the Pension Plan in 1996. The Supplemental
Pension Plan is designed to pay benefits in the same amount as if the participants continued to accrue benefits
under the Pension Plan. We have no obligation to fund the Supplemental Pension Plan, and all assets and
amounts payable under the Supplemental Pension Plan are subject to the claims of our general creditors.

The investments owned by the Pension Plan are managed with the primary objective of utilizing a balanced
approach with equal emphasis on income and capital appreciation. Investment results are compared to the
performance metrics on a quarterly basis. Changing market cycles require flexibility in asset allocation to allow
movement of capital within the asset classes for purposes of i mcrf.asmg investment return and/or reducing risk.
The targeted ranges of asset allocations are; :

Equity securities. . . .............0 e, 45-70%
Debt securities . . ... .. .. e e 30-55%

Cashequivalents. .............. . ... ......... up to 25%

As permitted by our pension investment policy, equity securities may include our common shares. At the end of
the two most recent plan years on December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Pension Plan owned 2,651 and 2,594 of our
common shares, respectively. .

Financial futures contracts and financial options contracts can be utilized for purposes of implementing hedging
strategies. All assets must have readily ascertainable market value and be easily marketable. There were no
futures contracts owned by the Pension Plan at February 3, 2007.

The equity portfolio will be generally fully invested with minimal emphasis on short-term market fluctuations
and broadly diversified. Global equities (foreign) and American Depository Receipts of similar high quahty
may also be included to further diversify the portfolio.

Fixed income investments of a single issuer (with the exception of U.S. Government or fully guaranteed
agencies) must not exceed 10% of the total fixed income portfolio. Corporate obligation issues must meet or
exceed a credit rating of Aa at the time of purchase and during the holding period. There are o limitations on
the maximum amount allocated to each credit rating within the fixed income portfolio.
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Our pension plan asset allocations at December 31 by asset category were as follows:

) 2006 2008
Equity securities ............. ... ... o 70.4% 69.6%
Debtsecurities. . .. ...oovvieenn i 27.6 26.2
Cashequivalents . ........................ . 2.0 42

Total ................... i eeieaiaaiaens 100.0%  100.0%

Qur funding policy for the Pension Plan is to make annual contributions based on advice from actuaries and
evaluation of our cash position, but not less than the minimum required by applicable regulations. We expect
no required contributions in fiscal year 2007. Additional discretionary contributions could be made upon " -
further analysis of the Pension Plan during fiscal year 2007. The assets allocated to debt securities of 27.6%-
at December 31, 2006 were below the low end of the targeted range of 30.0%, primarily due to the impact of
changing the custodian and manager of the plan assets and related transition allocations. The asset managers
perform an annual reallocation of assets in order to address situations outside of the targeted guidelines. ‘

The Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pensmn Plan benefits expected to be'paid in each of the followmg ten
fiscal years are as follows: '

Fiscal Year

- (In théusahds) - . :
C2007 L T el SO - $ 4374
2008 .. 4,350

2000 ..t 4,566

2010, .. o e e 4,670

N p)1) ) B 5,033
2012 - 2016 ............................... $27,859

The estimated future benefit payments are based on the same assumptions as those used to measure the
Company’s benefit obhganons at February 3, 2007
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The components of net periodic pension cost were comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004

(In thousands) ’
Service cost — benefits earned in the period ................ ... $ 2,944 $ 3,310 $ 3,494
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . ....................... 3,158 3,149 3,274
Expected investment return on planassets . ........................ (4,285) (4,267) (3,420)
Amortization of prior Service Cost. . .......vu it . 135 135 135
Amortization of transition obligation. . ............, . ... ..., eee 13 13 13
AMOrtization of 2ctuarial 10SS - - -« -« v v v et e e 1,264 1,325 1,508
Settlementloss . .......... ... .. i, . 1,510 — -

Net périodic pension cds_t ................ P $ 4,739 $3665 § 5004

In fiscal year 2006, we incurred a pretax non-cash settlement charge of $1.5 million. The settlement charge
was caused by lump sum benefit payments made to plan participants by the Pension Plan in excess of combined
annual service cost and interest cost for fiscal year 2006. A portion of the settlement charge was due to benefit
payments to former employees of the 130 closed stores previously reclassified as discontinued operations, and,
accordingly, $0.7 million, pretax, of the expense was reported in loss from discontinued operations on our

consolidated statement of operations.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were:

Fiscal Year

2006 - 2005 2004
Discountrate. .. ... ... it 5.7% 10 6.0% 5.7% 6.1%
Rate of increase in compensation levels. . . ... .. PR 3.5% 4.0% 4.6%
Expected long-term rate of return .. ........... .. ..., "8.5% 8.5% 8.5%
12/31/03

Measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations. . 12/31/05 12/31/04

The following table sets forth certain information for the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan at

December 31:

Supplementat
Pension Plan Pension Plan
2006 2005 2006° 2005
(In thousands) ] )
Projected benefitobligation .. ............. ... ... ... ... $50,258  $51,757 84,442  §$5,001
Accumulated benefit obligation ... ........ ... ... . ... ... ... 44,148 43 468 3,977 4,041
Fair market value of planassets . .. .......................... $53,065 $53217 $§ — § —
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The following schedule provides a reconciliation of projected benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status, and
amounts recognized for the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan at December 31:

) 2006 2005
(In thousands} . . 3
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year. .. .................... $ 56,758 $57,711
S EIVICE COSE. « v v v v v et e vttt e e e e e e et e 2,944 3,310
TSt COSE. « . o i e e e 3,158 3,149
Benefits and settlements paid . .. ........ ... i ot : (7,845) (5,791)
Actuarial gain. . ... ... e . (315) (1,621)
Projected benefit obligation atendof year. . .......... ... et $ 54,700 $56,758
Change in plan assets:
Fair market value at beginning of year. .. .......... ... ... .. o oo $53.217 $52,707
Actual return on plan assets . .. ... .. e e e e 6,906 2,001
Employer contributions ............. ... ... .... e 787 4,300
Benefits and settlements paid. ...................... e L (7,845) (5,791)
Fair market valueatendof year. . .. ... .. .. ... i i i $ 53,065 $53,217
Underfunded. ... ... e i ‘$.(1,635y  $(3,541)
Uinrecogmzed actuarialloss .................. S — 14,949
Unrecognized transition obligation. . ............. ... .. . o — 106
Unrecognized prior Service Cost. . . ... oovvinr it - 596
Net amount recogmized. . ... ....vveenroraeeeanen. P, $ (1,635 §$12,110
Pension asset forthe Pension Plan. . . ... ... .. i i § 2,807 $16,828
Pension liability for the Supplemental Pension Plan. . .................... (4,442) (4,718)
AMOUNts recognized. . ... ..ot e $ (1,633 $12,110

See Note | to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our pension accounting policy and the
impact of adopting SFAS No. 158 on our consolidated balance sheet.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine behefjt obligations for fiscal years 20606 and 2005 were:

Fiscal Year -

2006 2005

Discountrate, . .. ...t S L 5.9% ©5.7%
Rate of increase in compensation levels. .. ................ ... ... ... 3.5% 3.5%
Measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations. .. ............ 12/31/06 12/31/05

Savings Plans

We have a savings plan with a 401(k) deferral feature and a nonqualified deferred compensation plan with a
similar deferral feature for eligible employees. We contribute a matching percentage of employee contributions
which has been invested directly in our common shares; however, beginning with calendar year 2006
compensation deferrals under these plans, our matching contribution will be in cash. Our matching contributions
are subject to Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) regulations, For fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, we
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expensed $5.1 million, $5.5 million, and $5.2 million, respectively, related to our matching contributions.

In connection with our nonqualified deferred compensation plan, we had mutual fund investments of $10.8
million and $8.6 million at February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, respectively, which were recorded in other
assets. These investments were classified as trading securities and were recorded at their fair value. We held
treasury shares with historical cost of $1.1 million at February 3, 2007 and $2.5 miilion at January 28, 2006,
in connection with the nonqualified deferred compensation plan. We had a liability of $14.2 million and $11.0
million at February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, respectively, in connection with the nonqualified deferred
compensation plan.

Note 9 — Income Taxes

The provision {(benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations was comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands) .
Federal —— CUITENL. . . .. ot ettt e e e e et $ 66,243 $12,512 $ 9,582
Stateand local —current. . .. ... ... .. ... ... . 5,044 (577) '(3 36)
Deferred — federal, state and local . ... ... S (13,415) {6,746) 4,282
Income tax Provision . . ...\ v vttt it e $ 57,872 $ 5,189 $13,528

The deferred income tax expense (benefit) from discontinued operations was $9.1 million for fiscal year 2006,
$(3.7) million for fiscal year 2005 and $(5.1) million for fiscal year 2004. Deferred tax assets increased by
$3.9 million in fiscal year 2006 due to pension-related charges recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income. ' ‘

Reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate was as follows:

Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004
Statutory federal income taxrate .............c.. i ea.. 35.0% '35.0% 35.0%
Effect of:
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit. ... ... .. ... 2.8 0.6 (L1
Work opportunity tax and other employment tax credits. .......... (0.9 3.1 2.7
Expiration of capital loss carryover . . . .. PR e — 47.6 —
Valuation allowance . . .. ... ... ... ... .. .. ... (0.8) (48.7) 0.9
Reversal of previously accrued federal taxes.................... (0.8) (2.8) —
Charitable donation of appreciated inventory . .................. (0.2) 2.5 (1.0)
Other, Net ... e e (1.2 - 0.5 ., (1.0)
Effective InCOME tAX TAtE . . .. ... .o .vuuinveiennneeannn. ns 33.9% 24.8% 30.1%
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The expiration of the capital loss carryover and related reduction in the valuation allowance in 2005 relates
primarily to a $9.1 million capital loss that was generated in fiscal year 2000 in connection with the sale of the
KB Toys business.

Income tax payments and refunds were as follows:

Fiscal Year

2006 2005 2004
{In thousands) -
Incometaxespaid....... ... i $ 35727 $ 22,227 $ 23,314
Income taxes refunded . . . ... ...oeeiit . (22,178) {12,166) (10,183)
Netincometaxespaid . ...........cooviiiiinon... $ 13,549 $ 10,061 $ 13,131

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

February 3, 2007 January 28, 2006

(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and fixed asset basis differences. ..................... $ 30,460 § 17,066
Workers” compensation and other insurance reserves ................ 27,230 " 33,616
Uniform inventory capitalization. . ............... ... ... 21,224 25,120
Accruedrent. . .............. e e e 15,198 13,863
State tax net operating losses, net of federal tax benefit . ............. 10,747 14,747
ACCTUC SlaTE BAXES . o . v vt sttt e e e e . 1,639 9,831
Deferred compensation. .. ... i 5,269 4,264
KB store lease and other discontinued operations‘ contingencies. .. ..... ' 5,015 10,773
Closed storeaccrual . . ... ... ... ... iiiiinnnnnnns . 2,464 7,198
PR ON . . oo e ' 564 =
Valuation allowanCes . ... ... ...t nr it (2,021) (5,961)
O BT o e 40,982 35,488
Total deferred taX aSSES .« v vt v e ottt e et ) 164,771 166,005
Deferred tax liabilities: .
Accelerated depreciation and fixed asset basis differences . ........... 25,863 31,576
Lease construction reimbursements . . . . ... ..t iin i 12,308 10,210
Prepaid eXpenses . ... ... i - 5,140 5,028
o (0o AP A A — 4,747
111 V= oAU O 16,111 17,296
Total deferred tax Habilities ... ... .ot 59,422 68,857
Net deferred taX @SSE1S . . . o oo v v e e e $105,349 $ 97,148

The valuation allowances shown in the table above include state income tax valuation allowances that are net

of the federal tax benefit. The reduction in the valuation allowances from fiscal year 2005 to fiscal year 2006
relates primarily to a decrease of $3.0 million (net of federal tax) in the valuation allowances attributable to state
net operating loss carryforwards due the projected usage of the carryforwards.
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Note 9 — Income Taxes (Continued)

Net deferred tax assets were shown separately on the consolidated balance sheets as current and noncurrent
deferred income taxes. The following table summarizes net deferred income tax assets from the balance sheet:

February 3, 2007 January 28, 2006

(In thousands)

Current deferred income taxes. .. ... .o, $ 60,292 $78,539

Noncurrent deferred income taxes. . ..................... 45,057 18,609
Netdeferred tax assets. .. ..ot nieemnnnnn, $105,349 $97,148

We have established valuation allowances to reflect that it is more likely than not that a portion of the federal
and state deferred tax assets may not be realized.

We have the following income tax loss and credit carryforwards at February 3, 2007 (amounts are shown net of
tax excluding the federal income tax effect of the state and local items):

{In thousands)
Federal:
Net capital loss carryforwards ..................., $ 722  Expires fiscal years 2008 through 2011
Foreigntaxcredits . ............................ 233 Expires fiscal year 2010
State and local:
State net operating loss carryforwards . ............. 16,534  Expires fiscal years 2007 through 2025
California enterprise zone credits. .. ............... 1,942  No expiration date
California alternative minimum tax credits . ......... 205  No expiration date
New Jersey alternative minimum tax credits . ... .. ... 297  No expiration date
Total income tax loss and credit carryforwards ... $19,933

Our income taxes payable have been reduced by the tax benefits primarily associated with exercises of
employee stock options. We receive an income tax deduction caleunlated as the difference between the fair
market value of the stock issued at the time of exercise and the option price. These benefits of $11.9 million in
fiscal year 2006, $0.3 million in fiscal year 2005, and $0.9 miliion in fiscal year 2004 were credited directly to
shareholders’ equity.

In November 2003, the 1RS issued Revenue Ruling 2003-112 which clarified the definition of eligible employees
for purposes of the welfare to work and work opportunity tax credits. We have filed protective refund claims
for fiscal years 1994 through 2002. Because of the contingent nature of these claims, no tax benefit has been
recorded for this item.

During fiscal years 2006 and 2005, we had tax settlements, audit closures, and expirations of statutes of
limitations resulting in the reversal of previously incurred income tax expense of approximately $4.1 million
and $4.8 million, respectively.

Years after fiscal year 2001 are open to examination by the IRS. Various state tax authorities routinely audit us.
We believe that we have adequately provided for tax, interest, and penalties, if any, that may result from future
audit adjustments relating to these years.
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Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies .

In November 2004, a civil putative collective action complaint was filed against us in United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Texarkana Division, wherein it was alleged that we had violated the Fair
Labor Standards Act regulations by misclassifying as exempt employees our furniture department managers,
sales managers, and assistant managers (*“Texas matter”). Subsequent to its filing, the plaintiffs in the Texas
matter amended the complaint to limit its scope to furniture department managers. The plaintiffs in the Texas
matter seek to recover, on behalf of themselves and all other individuals who are similarly situated, alleged
unpaid overtime compensation, as well as liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. On August 8, 2005,
the District Court in Texas issued an order conditionally certifying a class of all current and former employees
who worked for us as a furniture department manager at any time between November 2, 2001, and October 1,
2003. As a result of that order, notice was sent to approximately 1,300 individuals who had the right to opt-in
to the Texas matter. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2006, we reached a tentative scttlement with the plaintiffs
concerning the Texas matter. The tentative settlement is subject to court approval and acceptance by the class.
We recorded, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2006, a pretax charge of $3.2 million included in selling and
administrative expenses for the estimated settlement liability of the Texas matter. We believe that we had
adequate liability reserves for the Texas matter at February 3, 2007.

In October 2005, a class action complaint was served upon us for adjudication in the Superior Court of the
State of California, County of Ventura, wherein it was alleged that we had violated certain California wage

and hour laws (“California matter”). The plaintiff seeks to recover, on her own behalf and on behalf of all other
individuals who are similarly situated, alleged unpaid wages and rest and meal period compensation, as well as
penalties, injunctive and other equitable relief, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. [n the third quarter of fiscal
year 2006, we reached a tentative settlement with the plaintiff concerning the California matter. On November
6, 2006, the District Court in California issued an order granting preliminary approval of the tentative
settlement. The tentative settlement remains subject to acceptance by the class and final court approval.

We recorded, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2006, a pretax charge of $6.5 million included in selling and
administrative expenses for the estimated settlement liability in the California matter. We believe that we had
adequate liability reserves for the California matter at February 3, 2007. )

In November 2004, a civil putative collective action complaint was filed against us in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana, wherein it was alleged that we violated the Fair Labor Standards Act
by misclassifying assistant managers as exempt (“Louisiana matter”). The plaintiffs seek to recover, on behalf
of themselves and all other individuals who are similarly situated, alleged unpaid overtime compensation, as
well as liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. On July 5, 2005, the District Court in Louisiana issued
an order conditionally certifying a class of all current and former assistant store managers who have worked
for us since November 23, 2001. As a result of that order, notice of the lawsuit was sent to approximately

5,500 individuals who had the right to opt-in to the Louisiana matter. As of February 3, 2007, approximately
1,100 individuals had joined the Louisiana matter. We have the right to file a motion seeking to decertify

the class after discovery has been conducted. Pending discovery on the plaintiffs’ claims, we cannot make a
determination as to the probability of a loss contingency resulting from the Louisiana matter or the estimated
range of possible loss, if any. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the allegations levied in the
Louisiana matter; however, the ultimate resolution of this matter could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.
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In September 2006, a class action complaint was filed against us in the Superior Court of the State of California,
County of Los Angeles, wherein it was alleged that we had violated certain California wage and hour laws

by misclassifying California store managers as exempt. The plaintiff seeks to recover, on his own behalf

and on behalf of all other individuals who are similarly situated, alleged unpaid overtime, unpaid minimum
wages, wages not paid upon termination, improper wage statements, missed rest breaks, missed meal periods,
reimbursement of expenses, and loss of unused vacation time. Pending discovery on the plaintiffs’ claims,

we cannot make a determination as to the probability of a loss contingency resulting from this lawsuit or the
estimated range of possible loss, if any, We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the allegations levied
in this lawsuit; however, the ultimate resolution of this matter could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006, we recorded pretax income of $2.6 million in selling and
administrative expenses upon receipt of our portion of the Visa/MasterCard antitrust litigation settlement funds
that compensate merchants for the excessive fees they paid for certain Visa and MasterCard transactions.

We are involved in other legal actions and ¢laims, including various additional employment-related matters,
arising in the ordinary course of business. We currently believe that such actions and claims, both individually
and in the aggregate, will be resolved without material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, or liquidity. However, litigation involves an element of uncertainty. Future developments could cause
these actions or claims to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and
liquidity.

For a discussion of discontinued operations, mcludmg KB Toys matters, see Note 11 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to property, general liability, workers’ compensation, and
employee medical and dental benefit claims, a portion of which is paid by employees, and we have purchased -
stop-loss coverage in order to limit significant exposure in these areas. Accrued ingurance liabilities are
actuarially determined based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported. With the
exception of self-insured claims, taxes, employment-related matters, the lawsuits described above, and the
liabilities that relate to the KB Toys bankruptcy, we have not recorded any additional significant liabilities for
other commitments and contingencies.

We have purchase obligations for merchandise issued in the ordinary course of our business that are valued at
$420.7 million, the entirety of which represents obligations due within one year of February 3, 2007. Purchase
obligations also include a commitment for future inventory purchases totaling $227.2 million at February 3,
2007. We paid $36.1 million, $44.0 million, and $52.5 million related to this commitment during fiscal years.
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. We are not required to meet any periodic minimum purchase requircments
under this commitment. The term of the commitment extends until the purchase requirement is satisfied.

Note 11 — Discontinned Operations

We report discontinued operations upon disposition of a component of the Company’s business when the cash
flows have been or will be eliminated from the Company’s ongoing operations. As a result, the Company’s
discontinued operations for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, are comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Closed SIOTES . .. oo vt e e $(2,659)  $(41,130) § (1,662)
KB TOYS TAMETS . - -+ oo e e e e et e e e e et 18,531 (569) (11,320
Total pretax income (l08S) .. ...t i i e $15,872 $(41,699)  $(12,982)
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Note 11 — Discontinued Operations (Continued)
Closed Stores

In fiscal year 2005, we détermined that the results of 130 stores closed in fiscal year 2005 should be reported
as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The table below identifies the significant components
of income (loss) from discontinued operations for these closed stores for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively. '

: Fiscal Year
! 2006 2005 2004
(In thousands) . ' .
Netsales ....... e J N 58 — $215,154 $225,820
GIOSS TATEII © + v v eeae e e s saen s e e e aaanae e e — 74,109 90,299
Operating lo8S. . ..o .vuit it e (2,659) © (41,130) (1,662)
Loss from discontinued operations, netoftax. . ............... . ... $(1,606)  $(25,381) § (1,021)

In fiscal year 2006, closed stores operating loss is primarily comprised of exit-related costs, utilities, and
security expenses on leased properties with remaining terms, a $0.7 million pension settlement charge, and
accretion on the lease termination costs of $0.4 million. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006,
we reviewed the fair value of our lease termination cost liability and as a result of achieving a higher level of
savings than was previously estimated, we recognized a §1.3 million, pretax, reduction in the liability resulting
in a partial reversal of priot year charges. Our results of discontinued operations for closed stores include the
net sales and associated costs which were directly related to and specifically identifiable with these stores in
fiscal years 2005 and 2004 and exit-related pretax losses in the amount of $43.6 million for the write-down of
property and inventory, severance and benefits, and lease termination costs in fiscal year 2005.

The table below summarizes the exit liabilities recorded as a result of the 130 store closures in fiscal year 2005
and identifies the remaining obligations as of February 3, 2007:

Write-down
of Property, Severance’ Lease
Inventory, and and Termination
Deferred Rent Benefits Costs ‘Total
{In thousands) ]
Charges. ..... ..ot $ 19,600 $ 3,300 $ 20,700~ $ 43,600
Payments. /......... e ' — (1,539 ' (2,499 (4,038)
Non-cashreductions. . ... .. .ooiiiiiniannnn, (19,600) — — (19,600)
Remaining Obligations at January 28,2006 ... ..... — 1,761 18,201 19,962
Settlement savings ......... P U - — — (1,346) . (1,346)
ACCTELION EXPENSE . ..o oot iiiirrnniaaeaens — — 411 411
Payments. ........... ... . i — (1,761) (11,329) {13,090)
Remaining Obligations at February 3,2007 ....... -5 - — § — $ 5937 $ 5,937

Asset write-downs included assets used in normal operations of retail stores and included remaining
unrecoverable net book values of fixtures, équipment, and signs. The inventory write-downs above were
specific to the markdowns associated with the liquidation sales conducted at the closed stores which qualified
for discontinued operations accounting treatment. The Company recorded markdowns throughout the year in
the.normal course of business. The markdowns associated with the liquidation sales were the only markdowns
included in the exit liability table above. o
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As of February 3, 2007, we have 30 closed stores with leases that have not yet been terminated or subleased.
Future cash outlays under these store closure obligations are anticipated to be $3.4 million in fiscal year 2007,
$1.8 million in fiscal year 2008, $0.6 million in fiscal year 2009, and $0.1 million thereafter.

KB Toys Matters

KB Toys acquired the KB toy business from us pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of
December 7, 2000 (the “KB Stock Purchase Agreement”). On January 14, 2004, KB Toys filed for bankruptcy
protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code. In connection with the KB Toys

. business, we incurred charges and subsequently partially reversed charges which have been recognized in our
consolidated statements of operations for fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004. The following table summarizes
these charges and reversals:

, Fiscal Year
2006 2005 2004

(In thousands)
Continuing Operations g ) :
HCC Note — Partial charge-off ... ... ... .. .o it $§ — 56389 §% —
Discontinued Operations’ ' '
Lease indemnifications ............. .. . . i i, 14,546 430 (8,623)
Tax indemnifications andother ...... .. ... ... ... ... 0 - 5425 — —
Pittsfield distribution center . . ... e (1,440) (999) {2,697)

KB matters pretax income (loss) from discontinued operations . ...... $18,531 $ (569) $(11,320)

HCC Note — Partial Charge-Off

As partial consideration for the sale of the KB Toys business, we received a 10 year note from Havens Corners
Corporation, a subsidiary of KB Acquisition Corporation and a party to the bankruptcy proceedings, in
aggregate principal amount of $45.0 million {principal and interest together known as the “HCC Note™). The
HCC Note became immediately due and payable to us at the time of KB Toys’ bankruptcy filing. Under the KB
Toys bankruptcy plan (the “KB Plan”), confirmed by the bankruptcy court on August 18, 2005, we expected

to receive $0.9 million on our claim for payment of the HCC Note from the bankruptcy trust. As a result, we
recorded a pretax charge to continuing operations in fiscal year 2005 in the amount of $6.4 million to reduce
the carrying value of the HCC Note to $0.9 million. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006, we received $0.7
million as a result of our legal settlement with the former principals of the KB Toys business and applied these
proceeds against the carrying value of the HCC Note. As of February 3, 2007, the $0.2 million carrying amount
of the HCC Note was included in the Company’s other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. :

Lease Indemnifications

When we acquired the KB Toys business from Melville Corporation (now known as CVS New York, Inc., and
together with its subsidiaries “CVS”) in May 1996, we provided, among other things, an indemnity to CVS
with respect to any losses resulting from KB Toys’ failure to pay all monies due and owing under any KB Toys
lease or mortgage obligation. While we controlled the KB Toys business, we provided guarantees with respect
to a limited number of additional KB Toys store leases. As part of the sale of the KB Toys business by us, and
in accordance with the terms of the KB Stock Purchase Agreement, KB Toys similarly agreed to indemnify

us with respect to all lease and mortgage obligations. These guarantee and lease obligations are collectively
referred to as the “KB Lease Obligations.” In connection with the bankruptcy, KB Toys rejected 226 store
leases and two distribution center leases for which we believe we may have guarantee or indemnification
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obligations; however 31 of the rejected store leases expired on or before January 31, 2004 according to our .
records (collectively referred to as the “KB bankruptcy lease obligations™). We estimated and recorded pretax
charges in discontinued operations of $24.4 million with respect 10 90 leases rejected by KB Toys in fiscal year
2003 and $8.6 million with respect to 72 leases rejected by KB Toys in fiscal year 2004. In fiscal year 2005, an
additional 33 store leases and two distribution center leases were rejected. During fiscal year 2005, we reversed
approximately $0.4 million of the KB bankruptcy lease obligation originally providing for professional fees that
are no longer expected to be incurred. During fiscal year 2006, we reversed approximately $14.5 million of the
KB bankruptcy lease obligation to reflect the revised estimated amount expected to be paid by us. We based the
revision of the KB bankruptcy lease obligations on the number of demand notices that we have received from
landlords and used information received from KB Toys, the bankruptcy trust, and our own lease records which
date back to when we owned the KB Toys business. Based on this information, we believe that our liability of
$12.7 million for the KB bankruptcy lease obligations is adequate as of February 3, 2007.

The claims process associated with the KB Toys bankruptcy remains open. As a result of uncertainties
associated with the continuance of the bankruptcy claims process, we belicve it is possible that we will continue
to receive demand notices from landlords in fiscal year 2007. We are an unsecured creditor of the bankruptcy
trust with respect to losses we have incurred in connection with the KB bankruptcy lease obligations and are
unable to estimate the timing or amount of any recovery we can expect to receive upon resolution of these
claims. Accordingly, no recoveries related to the KB Toys bankruptcy have been recorded by us. In addition, .
the typical KB bankruptcy lease obligation provides that the terms of the underlying lease may be extended,
amended, or modified without the consent of the guarantor. Based on the uncertainties related to the KB
bankruptcy lease obligations, we intend to continue to evaluate the adequacy of these reserves as dictated by the
facts and circumstances available to us at each future reporting period. In the event additional liability arises
from future defaults on these leases, any related charge would be to discontinued operations.

We continue to have KB Lease Obligations with respect to approximately 84 open KB Toys stores and KB
Toys’ main office building. Because these remaining guarantees were issued prior to January 1, 2003, they are
not subject to the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 45. However, we will recognize
a liability if a loss in connection with any of the KB Lease Obligations becomes probable and reasonably
estimable.

Pittsﬁeld Distribution Center .

As a result of the KB Toys bankruptcy, we received notice of a default relating to a first mortgage {guaranteed
by CVS) on the Pittsfield DC. On November 5, 2004, we satisfied our indemnity obligation with respect to the
Pittsfield DC at a cost of $8.4 million. We recorded a pretax charge to discontinued operations in fiscal year
2004 in the amount of $2.7 million to reflect our best estimate of the difference between the subrogation rights
flowing from the indemnification payment and the net realizable value of the Pittsfield DC.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, we initiated plans to dispose of the Pittsfield DC. The property was
classified as held-for-sale, and accordingly, its carrying value at January 28, 2006, was adjusted to its estimated
fair value less applicable selling costs resulting in a pretax non-cash impairment charge of $0.7 million and
other related charges of $0.3 million included in loss from discontinued operations. In the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2006, we sold the Pittsfield DC for approximately $3.9 million, net of selling costs and recognized a
$1.4 million loss, net of tax included in income from discontinued operations.

Other KB Toys Matters

In addition to including KB Toys’ indemnity of us with respect to lease and mortgage obligations, the KB
Stock Purchase Agreement contains mutual indemnifications of KB Toys by us and of us by KB Toys. These
indemnifications relate primarily to losses arising out of general liability claims, breached or inaccurate
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representations or warranties, shared litigation expenses, other payment obligations, and taxes. Under a tax
indemnification provision in the KB Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company is to indemnify KB Toys

for tax losses generally related to the periods prior to the Company’s sale of KB Toys. During the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2006, we reversed prior pretax charges of approximately $4.7 million and net income

tax contingencies of approximately $1.7 million,.in income from discontinued operations primarily related to
income and sales tax indemnification contingency reserves. We estimated this reversal of charges based on
information that we received as a result of our settlement discussions with the bankruptey trust and KB in an
attempt to resolve the tax indemnification claims. As of February 3, 2007, uncertainty remains with respect to
the final resolution of these matters; however, management believes that the final resolution of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, resuits of continuing operations, or liquidity.

During fiscal year 2006, we recorded $0.7 million in discontinued operations to reflect the reduction of
insurance reserves specifically identifiable with respect to the KB Toys business.

Note 12 — Business Segment Data

We manage our business based on one segment, broadline closeout retailing. We internally evaluate and
externally communicate overall sales and merchandise performance based on the following key merchandising
catepories: Consumables, Home, Seasonal and toys, and Other. The following data is presented in accordance
with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

. [ Fiscal Year
‘ . 2006 ~ 2008 ‘ . 2004
{In thousands) ‘ . l . ’
Consumables . ... ... e 51,369,590 $1,275,851  §1,247,207
Home................ Tl P 1,473,052 1,333,602 1,153,297
Seasonalandtoys. .......... ... ... o 840,416 830,526 . 814,661
Other ..o o e 1,059,990 989,926 934,087
Netsales . ... e e $4,743,048  $4,420905 §4,149,252

The Consumables category includes the food, health and beauty, plastics, paper, and pet departments. The
Home category includes the furniture, domestics, and home decorative departments. The Seasonal and toys
category includes the toys, lawn & garden, trim-a-tree, and various holiday-oriented departments. The Other
category includes the electronics, basic apparel, home maintenance, small appliances, and tools departments.

Note 13 — Subsequent Event - A ot

On March 9, 2007, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $600.0
million of our common shares commencing upon authorization and continuing until exhausted. We expect the
purchases to be made from time to time in the open market and/or in privately negotiated transactions at our-
discretion, subject to market conditions and other factors. Commen shares acquired through the repurchase
program will be available to meet obligations under equity compensation plans and for general corporate
purposes.
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The fourth quarter of fiscal year 2006 was 14 weeks. All other quartérs were 13 weeks. Summarized quarterly

financial data for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

Fiscal Year 2006 First Second Third Fourth Year
(In thousands, excepi per share amounis) ) X
Netsales.........co v $1,091,622 $1,056,535 $1,049,537 § 1,545,354 $4,743,048
Gross margin. ................ - 438,322 412,293 415,345 625,472 1,891,432
Income from continuing . -
operations . ... ... . . 14,504 4,704 1,819 91,591 112,618
Income (loss) from discontinued ' .
operations . ................. (791) (405) (85) 12,708 11,427
Netincome...........covuvnn. . 13,713 4,299 1,734 104,299 124,045
Income (loss) per common share — :
basic: .- ‘
Continuing operations ......... 0.13 0.04 0.02 .0.84 1.02
Discontinued operations. .. ..... (0.01) — — 0.12 0.10
0.12 0.04 0.02 0.96 1.12
Income (loss) per common share —
diluted: ) .
Continuing operations .. ..... . 0.13 ° 0.04 0.02 0.83 1.01
Discontinued operations. . ... ... ' {0.01) — — 0.11 0.10
' $ 012 $ 004 $ 002 S 094 § LT
Fiscal Year 2005 ' First Second Third Fourth Year
{In thousands,.except per share amounts) ™ : :
Netsales. . ;... $1,043,084 $1,000511 § 991,408 $1,394902 $4,429,905
Grossmargin............ e 425,658 401,362 - 387,623 517,023 . 1,731,666
Income (loss) from continuing .
operations ............. e 7,266 {12,945) (16,249) 37,653 15,725
Income {loss) from discontinued . ‘ ’ .
operations ................. B 534 (807) (2,539) (23,001) (25,813)
Net income (loss). .............. ' 7,800 (13,752) (18,788) 14,652 (10,088)
Income (loss) per common share —
basic: .
Continuing operations .. . ... o 0.06 (0.11) (0.14) 0.33 0.14
Discontinued operations. . . . . ... 0.01 (0.01) - (0.03y _ (0.20) (0.23)
’ 0.07° 0.12y ° 0.17) 0.13 (0.09)
Income (loss) per common share —
diluted: .
Continuing operations ......... 0.06 (0.11) (0.14) 0.33 0.14
Discontinued operations. . ... ... 0.0} (0.01) (0.03) (0.20) {0.23)
3 007 § (0.12) § 017y 3 013 § (0.09)

(@ Income (loss) per share calculations for each quarter are based on the applicable weighted-average shares
outstanding for each period and may not necessarily be equal to the full year income (loss) per share

amount,
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ITEM9 CHANGESIN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as that term is defined

in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), as of
the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have each concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the

end of the period covered by this report in order to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
Company’s periodic reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reporied within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules, forms, and regulations.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
for the Company as defined in Rules 13a-15(f} and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Internal control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, have inherent limitations, including the
possibility of the circumvention or overriding of controls. Due to these inherent limitations, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting may naot prevent or detect misstatements. As a result, projections of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system as of February 3, 2007. In
making its assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission in Internal Contro] — Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment,
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Company
maintained effective internal contro! over financial reperting as of February 3, 2007,

The Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an
attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, The
report appears in the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data section of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
and Rule 15d-15(f} under the Exchange Act, occurred during the Company's most recent fiscal quarter that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART II1

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information contained under the captions “Proposal One: Election of Directors,” “Governance of Big
Lots.” and“Stock Ownership” in the 2007 Proxy Statement, with respect to directors, the code of ethics, the
Audit Committee, our audit-committee financial experts, and Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting
compliance, is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item. The information contained in Part |
under the caption *Executive Officers of the Registrant,” with respect to executive officers, is incorporated
herein by reference.with response to this item,

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSAT[ON

The information contained under the captions “Governance of Big Lots,” “Director Compensation,” “Executive
Compensation,” and “Audit Committec Disclosure” in the 2007 Proxy Statement, with respect to director
compensation, executive compensation, and corporate governance, is incorporated herein by reference in
response to this item.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
B AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS ' '
Equity Corﬁp’ensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information as of February 3, 2007, relating to our equity compensation plans
pursuant to which our common shares may be issued.

{(c) Number of common
shares remaining

(a) Number of (b) Weighted- available for future
common shares to be average exercise issuance under equity
issued upon exercise of  price of cutstanding compensation plans
outstanding options, options, warrants, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants, and rights and rights © reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders. .. ..................... 6,644,990 $15.78 2,921,566%
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders. ... ......... ... ... ..., — — —
Total ... .o 6,644,990 $15.78 2,921,566

(1)  Includes stock options granted under Director Stock Option Plan, the 1996 Incentive Plan, and the 2005
Incentive Plan. In addition, we had 408,671 shares of nonvested restricted stock outstanding under the
1996 Incentive Plan and 2005 Incentive Plan.

(2) The common shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options granted under each shareholder-
approved plan are as follows:

Director Stock Option Plan ......... ... .. ... .o it 395,000
1996 Incentive Plam. . . .. .. vt i i e e e 5,222,090
2005 Incentive Plan ... ... . ... . e 1,027,900

(3) The common shares available for issuance under each shareholder-approved plan are as follows:

Director Stock Option Plan . ... 107,609
1996 Incentive Plam. . .. ..ot it e —
2005 Incentive Plan .. ... . i e e 2,813,957
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The 1996 Incentive Plan expired on December 31, 2005. The number of common shares available for issuance
under the 2005 Incentive Plan is adjusted annually by adding 0.75% of the total number of issued cornmon
shares (including treasury shares) as of the start of cach of our fiscal years that the 2005 Incentive Plan is in
effect.

The information contained under the caption “Stock Ownership - Ownership of Our Common Shares by
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the 2007 Proxy Statement, with respect to security ownership
of certain beneficial owners and management, is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information contained under the caption “Governance of Big Lots - Determination of Director
Independence” and “Governance of Big Lots — Related Person Transactions” in the 2007 Proxy Statement, with
respect to the review of director independence and transactions with related parties, is incorporated herein by
reference in response to this item,

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information contained under the captions “Audit. Committee Disclosure ~ Audit and Non-Audit Services
Pre-Approval Policy” and “Audit Committee Disclosure — Fees Paid to Independent Auditor” in the 2007 Proxy
Statement, with respect to the fees paid to Deloitte & Touche LLP and the Audit Committee’s pre-approval
policies and procedures, is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.- EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

@

4y

@

Documents filed as part of this report:

Page
* Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ...................... 35
Consolidated Statements of Operations. . ....... . .o i it EH]
Consolidated Balance Sheets .. ... v oot i e e 39
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equny ................................ 40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows . ... ... ... . ... i 4]
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . ........... .. ..ot 42
Financial Statement Schedule
- Schedule " - Description . .
11 ' Valuation and Qualifying Accoums .............. 75

All other financial statements and schedules not listed in the preceding index are omitted because they are not
required or are not applicable or because the information required to be set forth therein either was not material
or is included in the consolidated financial statements or Notes thereto.

" BIG LOTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Charged to Charged

Beginning Cost and to Other
Description . . of Year Expense Accounts Deductions End of Year
(In thousands)
Inventory Valuation Allowance
Fiscal year ended February 3, 2007. . ... $ 1,173 580 -— 201 $ 1,552@
Fiscal year ended January 28, 2006. . ... $ 776 672 - — 275 $ 1,173@
Fiscal year ended January 29, 2003. . ... $ 2,651 243 . 1,500® 618 § 776®
Closed Store Liabilities ' . _
Fiscal year ended February 3, 2007, .... $£19,962 (935)@ — 13,090 $ 5937@
Fiscal year ended January 28, 2006. .. .. $ — 43,600 — 23,6380 $19,962®
(a) Consists of markdowns of aged goods.

b
©

@
©

)

(2)

Certain amounts were reclassified to other balance sheet accounts during the fiscal year ended January 29,
2005. .

Consists of reversal of charges related to contract termination costs and accretion on contract termination
cost liability. ‘

Consnsts of remaining liability for contract termination costs.

Includes charges for the write-down of property, inventory, and deferred rent severance and benefits; and
contract termination costs.

Includes non-cash reductions for the write-down of property, inventory, and deferred rent, and cash
payments for severance and benefits and contract termination costs.

Consists of the remaining liability for severance and benefits and contract termination costs related to
closed stores.
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(3) Exhibits. Exhibits marked with an asterisk (*} are filed herewith. Copies of exhibits will be furnished upon

Exhibit

No.
2

3.1

32

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10
10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

written request and payment of our reasonable expenses in furnishing the exhibits. Exhlbxts 10.1 through
10.33 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements. -

Document

Agreement of Merger (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended May 3, 2001).

Amended Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3(a) to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 5, 2001).

Code of Regulations of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(b) to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 5, 2001).

Specimen Common Share Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to EXhlbIt 4(a) to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended February 2, 2002).

Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 to
the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8).

Amendment to the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated August 17, 2005).

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated
September 9, 2004).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated January
6, 2005).

Forin of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated July 11,
2005).

Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated May 17, 2005).

Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 21,
2006).

Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 21,
2006).

Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement
(incorporated herein by reference to-Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated March 9,
2007). _

Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to Form S-8).

Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8).

First Amendment to Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan _
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended August 3, 2002},

Form of Option Award Agreement under the Big Lots, Inc. Amended and Restated Director Stock
Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated
September 9, 2004).

Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’é
Form 8-K dated May 235, 2006).
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Exhibit
No.
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

1032

10.33

10.34

10.35

Document

Big Lots Savings Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form
10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005). -

Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhlblt 10(c} to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004). »

Big Lots Defined Benefit Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 29, 2005).

Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Defined Benefit Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10(u) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Big Lots Executive Benefit Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(m) to the

_ Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Big Lots, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Package, effective August 15, 2006
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form §-K dated August 15,
2006).

Employment Agreement with Steven S. Fishman (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated June 6, 2003).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement with Steven S. Fishman (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 21, 2006).

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement with Steven S. Fishman (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated March 9, 2007).

Employment Agreement with John C. Martin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 1, 2003).

Employment Agreement with Brad A. Waite (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(s) to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Employment Agreement with Donald A. Mierzwa (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10(r) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2004).

Employment Agreement with Charles W. Haubiel II {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Joe R. Cooper (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005).

Employment Agreement with Lisa M. Bachmann {(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated August 29, 2(05).

Employment Agreement with Norman J. Rankin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 10-Q for quarter ended April 29, 2006).

Form of Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(r) to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 30, 19%9).

Form of Senior Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(s)
to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended January 30, 1999).

Form of Retention Package Memorandum (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated January 6, 2005).

Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors named therein, and
the Banks named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K dated October 29, 2004).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors
named therein, and the Banks named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 25, 2005).
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Exhibit
No.
10.36*
10.37
10.38
21*

23*
24%

JL.1*
31.2*
32.1*

32.2*

Document

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores, Inc., as borrower, the
Guarantors named therein, and the Banks named therein. .

Security Agreement between Big Lots Stores, Inc. and Big Lots Capital, Inc. (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 29, 2004).

Stock Purchase Agreement between KB Acquisition Corporation and Censolidated Stores
Corporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2(a) to the Company’s Form 10- Q for the
quarter ended October 28, 2000).

Subsidiaries.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, -

Power of Attorney for Sheldon M. Berman, David T. Kollat, Brenda J. Lauderback, Philip E.
Mallott, Jeffrey P. Berger, Russell Solt, James R. Tener, and Dennis B. Tishkoff. .

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pufsuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Offlcer pitrsuant to Sectlon 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actof
2002. ‘

Certification of Ch1ef Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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: SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this 3rd day

of April 2007.

BIG LOTS, INC.

By: /s/ Steven S. Fishman

Steven S. Fishman

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Off icer
and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 3rd day of April 2007.

/s/ Steven 8. Fishman

Steven S. Fishman

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Sheldon M. Berman*
Sheldon M. Berman
Director

/s/ David T. Kollat*
David T. Kollat
Director ‘

/s/ Brenda J. Lauderback*
Brenda J. Lauderback
Director

/s/ Philip E. Mallott*
Philip E. Mallott
Director

/s/ Joe R. Cooper

Joe R. Cooper

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial O_[ﬁcer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ Jeffrey P. Berger*

Jeffrey P. Berger
Director |

/s/ Russell Solt*

Russell Solt
Director

/s/ James R. Tener*

James R. Tener
Director

/s/ Dennis B. Tishkoff*

Dennis B. Tishkoff
Director

*  The above named Directors of the Registrant execute this report by Charles W. Haubiel 11, their attorney-
in-fact, pursuant to the power of attorney executed by the above-named Directors and fited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, all in the capacities indicated and on the 3rd day of April 2007.

By: /s/ Charles W. Haubiel 11
Charles W. Haubiel I1
Attorney-in-Fact
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SUBSIDIARIES

Name

Big Lots Stores, Inc.

C.S. Ross Company

BLSI Property, LLC

Big Lots Capital, Inc.

Durant DC, LLC

CSC Distribution, Inc.

Closeout Distribution, Inc.
Consolidated Property Holdings, Inc.
Midwestern Home Products, Inc.
Midwestern Home Products Company, Ltd.
Tool and Supply Company of New England, Inc.
Sonoran LLC

Sahara LLC

Great Basin LLC

Industrial Products of New England, Inc.
S8 Investments Corporation

Mac Frugal’s Bargains * Close-outs Inc.
PNS Stores, Inc.

West Coast Liquidators, Inc.

Capital Retail Systems, Inc.

Barn Acquisition Corporation
Fashion Barn, Inc.

Fashion Barn of New Jersey, Inc.
Fashion Barn of Florida, Inc.

Fashion Barn of Indiana, [nc.
Fashion Barn of Pennsylvania, Inc.
Fashion Barn of Oklahoma, Inc,
Fashion Barn of Texas, Inc.

Fashion Barn of Ohio, Inc.

Fashion Outlets Corp.

Fashion Barn of Vermont, Inc.
Fashion Barn of Virginia, Inc.
Fashion Barn of South Carolina, Inc.
Fashion Barn of North Carolina, Inc,
Fashion Barn of West Virginia, Inc.
Fashion Bonanza, Inc.

Rogers Fashion Industries, Inc.
Rogers Fashion Industries, Inc.
Saddle Brook Distributors, Inc.
Saddle Brook Distributors, Inc.

DTS, Inc.

DTS, Inc.

Fashion Barn of Missouri, Inc.
Fashion Barn, Inc.

Fashion Barn of Georgia, Inc.

EXHIBIT 21

Jurisdiction
OH
OH
DE
OH
DE
AL
PA
NV
DE
‘OH
DE
DE
DE
DE
ME
DE
DE
CA
CA
OH
DE
NY
NJ
FL
IN
PA
OK
X
OH
NY
VT
VA
SC
NC -
wv
NY
NY
NI
NY
NJ
NY
TN
MO
MA
GA




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following documents of our reports dated April 3, 2007,
relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of Big Lots, Inc. and

. subsidiaries (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding
the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) (Revised 2004), “Share-Based
Payment” on January 29, 2006 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans — an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” on Febtuary 3, 2007), and management’s report on the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting (which report expresses an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Big Lots, Inc. for the year ended February 3, 2007.

1) Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Reglstranon Statement No, 33-42502 on Form S-8 pertammg to
+*  Big Lots, Inc. Director Stock Option Plan;

2)  Post-Effective Amendment No. | to Registration Statement No. 33-42692 on Form S 8 pertammg to
Big Lots, Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan;

3) Post-Effective Amendment No, 3 to Registration Statement No. 33-6086 on Form S-8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan;

4)  Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Reglstratlon Statement No. 33-19309 on Form S-§ pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. Savings Plan

5 Post- Effectlve Amendment No. 1 1o Registration Statement No. 333-32063 on Form S 8 pertaining to
Big Lots, Inc. 1996 Performance Incentive Plan; and

6) Registration Statement No. 333-140181 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan. l

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
April 3, 2007 '



EXHIBIT 31.1

. CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven S. Flshman certify that: - . .

]
! iy

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots, Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a mater:al fact or - omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;,

3. ° Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
. registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; . T

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the registrant and
have:

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b). designed such.internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accountmg principles;

¢)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter {the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

3. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 3, 2007 By: /s/ Steven S, Fishman
Steven 8. Fishman
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
President




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Joe R. Cooper, certify that:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; ’

4, _The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have: '

-+ a) - designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b}  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, baged on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

ay  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employces who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 3, 2007 By: /s/ Joe R. Cooper
Joe R, Cooper

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the annual report on
Form 10-K (the “Report™) for the year ended February 3, 2007, of Big Lots, Inc. {the “Company™). I, Steven S.
Fishman, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify that:

(i} the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(ii} the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 3, 2007 By: /s/ Steven S. Fishman
Steven S. Fishman :
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer
and President




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and accompanies the annual report on
Form 10-K (the “Report™) for the year ended February 3, 2007, of Big Lots, Inc. (the “Company™). I, Joe R.
Cooper, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that:

(iy the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13{a} or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.5.C. 78m or 780(d}); and

(i) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 3, 2007 By: /s/ Joe R. Cooper

Joe R. Cooper
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at

9:00 a.m. EDT an Thursday, May 31, 2007, at the

Big Lots, Inc. corporate office, 300 Phillipi Road,
Columbus, Ohio. Whether or not you plan to attend,

you are encouraged to vote online or complete and

return the proxy card to ensure that your shares will be
represented. In accordance with the accompanying proxy
statement, shareholders who attend the meeting may
withdraw their proxies and vote in person if they so desire.

CEO/CFO Certifications

The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Sections
302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are
filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K. We have also filed
with the New York Stock Exchange the most recent
Annual CEQ Certification as required by Section
303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange

Listed Company Manual.

NYSE Trading Symbol

BIG

NYSE

Telephone

Transfer Agent & Registrar

National City Bank
1900 East Ninth Street
Cleveland, Ohio 44114 (614} 278-6800

Investment Inquiries Web Site

Investor Relations Department www.biglots.com
300 Phillipi Road
Columbus, Ohio 43228-5311
(614) 278-6622
Investor_Relations@biglots.com talk2us@biglots.com

Email

Company

Information Independent Auditors
. Deloitte & Touche LLP BIG

1700 Courthouse Plaza NE

Moctnn Chin ACANY 1789 - [l
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